MOLECULAR AND SEASONAL BASIS FOR FREEZE RESISTANCE IN WOLFFISH SPECIES (Anarhichas lupus, A. minor, AND THEIR HYBRIDS)

MARIÈVE DESJARDINS





MOLECULAR AND SEASONAL BASIS FOR FREEZE RESISTANCE IN WOLFFISH SPECIES (Anarhichas lupus, A. minor, and their hybrids)

By

© Mariève Desjardins

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of:

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Biology/School of Graduate Studies/Faculty of Science Memorial University of Newfoundland

June 2012

St. John's

Newfoundland & Labrador

- ABSTRACT -

During winter, the coastal waters of Newfoundland can be considered a "freeze risk ecozone" for teleost fishes. The benthic Atlantic (*Amarhichas lupus* – AW) and spotted wolffish (*A. minor* – SW) reside at opposite ends of this ecozone, with the AW facing the greatest risk because of its shallower niche. To resist freezing, AW secretes five times the level of plasma antifreeze protein (AFP) activity than does SW.

The main basis for this difference in plasma AFP levels is gene dosage, as AW has approximately three times more AFP genes than SW. Perhaps as a result, AFP transcript levels in liver (the primary source of circulating AFPs) are several times higher in AW. One explanation for these gene and transcript dosage differences is the presence of tandemly arrayed AFP gene repeats in AW that make up two-thirds of its AFP gene pool. Such repeats are not present in SW. AW and SW diverged from a common ancestor at a time when the ebb and flow of northern glacitations would have resulted in the emergence of "freeze risk ecozones". The duplication/amplification of AFP genes in a subpopulation of ancestral wolffish would have facilitated the exploitation of this high risk habitat, resulting in the divergence and evolution of modern day AW and SW species.

Investigations on artificially produced AW/SW hybrids showed that all the AFP genes of SW are likely shared with AW, which supports recent gene amplification as an impetus for speciation. The high dynamism of the AW AFP locus (through high variability in dosage and organisation) was best visualized in the single haplotype

ii

inherited by the hybrids. Their intermediate levels of plasma AFPs make these fish unfit for survival within the shallowest part of the "freeze risk ecozone".

While the total levels of AFP gene transcripts varied little from winter to summer in both species (especially in the liver), differential expression of members of the two subfamilies of type III AFPs, the SP- and QAE-type genes (appellation based on the ionexchange Sephadex resins to which each type of isoform binds), was observed. While the expression of the QAE-type transcripts was ubiquitous (both temporally and spatially), that of the SP-type genes seemed to show some level of tissue specificity, which highlights the complex evolutionary history of these genes.

Co-authorship Statement

The author of the present thesis has made a major intellectual and practical contribution to all work reported therein, and is the principal author of the three research papers submitted therein in manuscript-format (Chapter 2 has been published in FEBS Journal; PubMed ID 22520964). The present author has been the main contributor in 1) the design and identification of the research proposal, 2) the practical aspects of the research, 3) the data analysis, and 4) the manuscript preparation.

- AKNOWLEDGMENTS -

First, I would never have progressed this far without my family and husband's unconditional love and support. To you, I dedicate this thesis. **Merci d'avoir toujours été** là **pour moi, je vous aime!**

My friends also played a great role in my progress, by their warming presence, help, and encouragements in the most difficult moments. Lots of hiking, dinners and game nights in good company made me quite the happy camper (not to forget all the "Skyping with those far away"). To you all, love and thanks!

I offer my profound gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Garth L. Fletcher, for his openness towards my creativity and curiosity. He gave me all the space and freedom I needed and showed me the bigger picture of science. His genuine and compassionate personality, his wisdom, honesty, and philosophical take on everything are deeply inspiring. He will always shine as an example that I will strive to follow.

I also thank Dr. Margaret Shears and my lab-mate, Mr. Rodney Hobbs (as well as Mrs. Madonna King, posthumously), for their help and friendship. They made me feel less of a "come from away", and helped me to grasp new laboratory techniques. From the other side of the Strait, Drs. Peter L. Davies and Laurie A. Graham were also a great part in the success of this work. Through their guidance and constructive criticism, I initiated a deeper understanding of the principles of molecular biology. Their perfectionism and pursuit of detail-oriented scientific truth added another dimension to my understanding.

I express my gratitude to all the other people thanks to whom this study could take place and progress: Dr. Jean-Denis Dutil of l'Institut Maurice-Lamontagne for the donation of live wolffish, and Mr. Tony Grenier of the Centre Aquacole Marin de Grande-Rivière for the maintenance and sampling on other wolffishes used in this study. I am also grateful to Mrs. Jennifer Hall, Dr. Elizabeth Perry, Dr. Matt Rise, and Mrs. Sherry Gauthier for their invaluable help, and for gracefully granting me access to their lab/equipment/expertise. Finally, I thank Dr. Brian Staveley for his feedback and guidance on this work.

One can only be grateful if the time and research is funded. I thus thank NSERC, by which I was awarded an Alexander Graham Bell Canada Graduate Scholarship. This study was supported by research grants from NSERC (6836-06) and CIHR (1066142) to Drs. Fletcher and Davies, respectively.

Finally, a last thanks goes to the St. John's born and raised band "Hey Rosettal", whose profound lyrics and great music accompanied my stay on the Rock (and a lot of my lab work).

- TABLE OF CONTENTS -

<u>Abstract</u>
Acknowledgmentsiv
Table of Contents
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations
<u>Chapter 1</u>
1. Background of Study
The challenge of subzero temperatures
Adaptations developed by homeothermic endotherms
Adaptations developed by ectotherms
The discovery of AFPs in freeze-resistant teleost fishes
AF(G)Ps grant freeze resistance through thermal hysteresis 10
Other properties of AF(G)Ps
The threat of freezing in the marine environment: the case of the teleost fishes23
Teleost fishes as a model for the study of AFP evolution
Origin and emergence of the fish AF(G)Ps
The first steps into the evolution of fish AF(G)P multigene families 42

Mechanisms shaping the diversity of AF(G)P gene multifamilies and role of gene dosage in fish speciation
Factors controlling the expression of multigene-based freeze resistance 55
2. Objectives of Study
<u>Chapter 2</u> : Antifreeze protein gene amplification facilitated niche exploitation and speciation in wolffish
Introduction
Materials & Methods
<u>Results</u>
Discussion/Conclusion
<u>Chapter 3</u> : Effect of interspecific hybridization on freeze resistance capacity in wolffish and evolutionary significance
Introduction
Materials & Methods
<u>Results</u>
Discussion/Conclusion
Chapter 4: Temporal and spatial expression of type III AFP genes in wolffish species
Introduction
Materials & Methods
<u>Results</u>
Discussion/Conclusion
Bibliography and References

- LIST OF TABLES -

Chapter 1

Table 1.1. Specific heat capacity (SHC), density, volumetric heat capacity (VHC), tota	
mass, and estimated total heat capacity (total HC) of seawater and air.	24

Chapter 2

Table 2.1. PCR primers used to amplify AFP sequences from AW and SW and their
annealing position on reference sequences
Table 2.2. Mensurations, plasma freezing points (FP) and thermal hysteresis (TH) values

Chapter 3

Table 3.1. Information about the different wolffish families used in this study, and their
genitors
Table 3.2. Apparent amplicon sizes (bp) for the two microsatellite loci (Alu27 and
Alu28) analyzed in purebred AW and SW and their reciprocal hybrids 107
Table 3.3. April individual plasma TH and FP values from the two highest AFP
producers from each families
Table 3.4. Individual plasma thermal hysteresis (TH) and freezing point (FP) values (°C)
for both wolffish hybrid families (AH2 and SH3), and the AW family113

Chapter 4

Table 4.1. PCR primers used to amplify AFP sequences from AW and SW and their	
annealing position on reference sequences	4

- LIST OF FIGURES -

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1. Thermal hysteresis and behaviour of ice crystals in presence (2) and absence
(1) of AF(G)Ps 12
Figure 1.2. Mechanism by which AF(G)Ps cause FP depression (and TH), according to the theory of adsorption/inhibition
Figure 1.3. Standard curve of TH/[AFP] from Desjardins et al. (2006), using type III
AFPs from ocean pout (Macrozoarces americanus) resuspended in ammonium
bicarbonate buffer (0.01 M)
Figure 1.4. A fish AFP is part of the ingredients listed in a frozen dessert produced by Breyers (Unilever)
Figure 1.5. AF(G)Ps distribution within AF(G)P-producing teleosts
Figure 1.6. Winter and summer salinities (%) of the surface waters of the Arctic Ocean,
and Northern Pacific and Atlantic oceans

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1. Map of the tail-to-tail inverted AFP gene duplicates from the BamHI clone
isolated by (Scott et al., 1988b) from which two Hind/II subclones were sequenced, each
bearing one AFP gene
Figure 2.2. Genomic Southern blots for Atlantic wolffish (AW) and spotted wolffish (SW) individuals 1 and 2 probed for AFP genes
Figure 2.3. Northern blots of Atlantic wolffish (AW) and spotted wolffish (SW) probed
for AFP transcripts

Figure 2.4. Comparison of the deduced type III AFPs from Atlantic wolffish (AW) and
spotted wolffish (SW) with those from ocean pout (OP) and Antarctic eelpout (AEP)
(suborder Zoarcoidei)

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1. February mean plasma FPs of purebred AW, SW, and reciprocal AW/SW
hybrids
Figure 3.2. Asel Southern blots for two individuals of AW, AW/SW hybrids, and SW
Figure 3.3. Northern blots for one individual of AW, AW/SW hybrids, and SW 111
Figure 3.4. Annual plasma thermal hysteresis (TH) profiles from eight adult AW
individuals studied by (Desjardins et al., 2006) 117

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1. Alignments of SP- and QAE-type mature amino acid sequences from
different species of the suborder Zoarcoidei
Figure 4.2. Northern blots on total RNA extracted from A) two AW and B) two SW individuals during summer.
Figure 4.3. Comparison of winter and summer total AFP gene transcript levels and RT-
PCR signals for SP, QAE, actin (ACT) and AWG1-like (QAE-X) sequences in A) AW
and B) SW

- LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS -

aa, amino acid AEP, Antarctic eelpout AEBP, antifreeze enhancer-binding protein AFGP, antifreeze glycoprotein AF(G)P, antifreeze proteins & glycoproteins AFP, antifreeze protein AW, Atlantic wolffish cDNA, complementary DNA C/EBPa, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein DIG, digoxigenin DOW, deep ocean water EAC, escape from adaptive conflict ESU, evolutionary significant unit F1, first generation FH, freezing hysteresis FP, freezing point GDA, gene duplication/amplification GH, growth hormone GLM, general linear model HC, heat capacity IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor INP, ice-nucleating proteins IBS, ice-binding site ka, kiloannum LGT, lateral gene transfer Ma, megaannum MH, melting hysteresis mRNA, messenger RNA NaCl, sodium chloride OP, ocean pout QAE, quaternary aminoethyl

RE, restriction endonuclease RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism SAS, sialia acid synthase SD, standard deviation SHC, specific heat capacity SP, sulforpoyl SW, spotted wolffish TH, thermal hysteresis UTP, unrani triphosphate UTP, unrani triphosphate UTP, unranistated region VCH, volumetric heat capacity wflAFP, winter flounder skin AFP WGD, whole genome duplication

- CHAPTER 1 -

1.1 - Background of study

The challenge of subzero temperatures

Water exists in its aqueous form between 0°C and 100°C (at sea level). Since the appearance of life in the primal ocean, Earth has offered a climate where this temperature window could be satisfied, and evolution has worked around water as the universal solvent for the chemistry of life. However, important cooling events have punctuated Earth's climatic history. The onset of the most recent of these events, during the Cenozoic Era, brought forth the Antarctic glaciation at the Eocene-Oligocene boundary, ~ 34 Ma ago (Zachos et al., 2001, 2008; DeConto et al., 2008). The Earth then passed from a "Hot House" to an "Ice House" state that became firmly established by the mid-Miocene and still persists today (Katz et al., 2008). The transition occurred quickly in geological time (Coxall et al., 2005), and life at sea level found itself exposed to the threat of freezing for the first time after 200 Ma of relatively warm climate (Fletcher et al., 2007; Retallack, 2009). Clades in all kingdoms encountered some level of extinction not only at the threshold of the Ice House, but also during the cooling preceding the glaciation (reviewed by Prothero, 1994; Thatje et al., 2005). Indeed, lower temperatures lower the rate of biochemical processes, and total and uncontrolled freezing of an organism renders all water inaccessible to the cell's biochemistry. Moreover, because water expands while freezing, its solidification disrupts the tissues and mechanically damages the cell membranes, which results in cell leakage - and death - upon thawing. The establishment

of an Ice House on Earth thus could easily have been a death sentence for Life itself. Life, however, persisted and adapted.

Adaptations developed by homeothermic endotherms

First of all, freezing could be inherently avoided by those animals – birds and mammals – that had evolved the ability to metabolically generate and maintain high body temperatures independent of their thermal environment. Endothermy – which emerged independently in these two lineages during the Cretaceous, and possibly earlier in mammals (Ruben, 1995; Ruben & Jones, 2000; Hillenius & Ruben, 2004; Pörtner, 2004; Lovegrove, 2012) – was a convenient pre-requisite to a cooling climate: freezing could be avoided by metabolically keeping the body temperatures above the freezing point (FP) of the body fluids. As the global temperature progressively dropped during the Eocene, birds and mammals took over the niches left vacant by the retreating ectotherms, and eventually became the dominant terrestrial vertebrate clades in high latitude environments.

While endothermy allows animals to stay active in the cold, it is a highly costly adaptation, and the energy invested in keeping the body at a constant warm temperature in the face of heavy heat loss to the environment (homeothermy) must be maintained through constant food availability. Seasonal migration to warmer locations thus became a key to survival for those animals that cannot access enough resources during winter. The best known examples of animals using this strategy are found among birds, in which migratory behaviour is known to have evolved independently several times (Pullido,

2007), and in some instances, likely in response to climate cooling (see review by Salewski & Bruderer, 2007). In contrast, animals that are permanent residents of cold latitudes evolved resistance strategies such as better insulation against heat loss, rete mirabile to warm the blood going from the limbs to the heart, tissue eurythermy, relatively compact body shape, and higher metabolism (Scholander, 1955; Lovegrove, 2001; Pörtner, 2004). Among these animals, some actively forage while maintaining high metabolism and body temperatures, and rely on efficient body insulation while resting or sleeping. On the other hand, some birds will enter a torpid, hypothermic-hypometabolic state during the cold winter nights, and resume normal activity during the day, thus saving precious energy (Schleucher, 2004). This ability to switch from a homeothermic state to a more poikilohermic-like state on a daily basis is defined as heterothermy.

Some other animals take controlled hypothermia and hypometabolism a step further, by entering hibernation. This fascinating trait is thought to have evolved from the plesiomorphic ability of ancestral mammals to perform daily heterothermy (reviewed by Grigg *et al.*, 2004). In mammals, heterothermy likely led to the evolution of endothermy (Pörtner, 2004; Lovegrove, 2012), and is essentially lost in non-hibernating mammals. As winter closes in, hibernators accumulate food and/or fat reserves, select microenvironments (hibernatual) where the temperature will stay around or above 0°C, and allow their metabolism and body temperatures to lower significantly, in a controlled fashion. For instance, the core temperature of a hibernating Arctic ground squirrel will fall as low as -2 °C, while the ground temperature varies between -10 and -15 °C (Boyer & Barnes, 1999).

On another note – and interestingly – facultative endothermy exists in some plants and insects, while regional endothermy has been reported in reptiles and fish (Heinrich, 1974; McNab, 1983; Minorsky, 2003; Dickson & Graham, 2004). However, endothermy is not considered a tool against freezing in these organisms.

Adaptations developed by ectotherms

For those life forms that did not evolve endothermy, migration and hibernation are strategies in use. Many species of insects and fish will retreat to warmer regions at the approach of winter (Oberhauser & Peterson, 2003; Goddard & Fletcher, 2002). Others will enter dormancy in a hibernaculum where they are in no danger of freezing. This latter line of action is followed by some insects, including the mosquitoes (Becker *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, various amphibians and reptiles will bury in the soft sediment at the bottom of ice-covered ponds, lower their metabolism, and survive in anoxia in this thermally buffered environment (Boutilier *et al.*, 1997; Jackson, 2002). A shallow water marine fish, the cunner (*Tautogolabrus adspersus*), will hide among rocks or in crevices on the seabed, enter a torpid state, and avoid contact with suspended ice crystals while tolerating seawater temperatures near – 2 °C (Green & Farwell, 1971). All these animals, as do the endotherms, practice what is collectively called freeze avoidance strategies. For organisms that cannot select an environment or hibernaculum of stable, non-freezing temperature, two options remain: to tolerate or resist freezing.

Freezing tolerance is found among numerous life forms, including microbes, plants, invertebrates, amphibians, and reptiles (Kukal et al., 1988; Storey & Storey, 1996;

Loomis & Zinser, 2001; Voituron et al., 2002; Walker et al., 2006). A fascinating and widely studied example of such freeze tolerance is that of the wood frog (Rana silvatica), which overwinters underneath the snow-covered leaf litter, and allows itself to freeze. solid if temperatures fall below its equilibrium FP (reviewed by Storey & Storey, 2004). The freezing will initiate through skin contact with ice (Layne et al., 1995), and will first spread within fluid spaces (e.g. the abdominal cavity, eye lens), then through the vascular spaces of the organs, drawing water out of the cells. Here, extracellular initiation of freezing is crucial. Indeed, as the highly organised intracellular environment is mechanically disrupted by the expanding ice, intracellular freezing leads to death in most cases (Sinclair & Renault, 2010). To avoid uncontrolled and harmful ice growth within its body, the wood frog utilizes ice-nucleating proteins (INPs). These INPs are of two sources: some are secreted in the frog's plasma (Wolanczyk et al., 1990; Storey et al., 1992), while others originate from INP-producing bacteria colonising the skin and gut of the animal (Lee et al., 1995). By lowering the amount of undercooling of its body fluids, the INPs grant the wood frog a controlled and progressive freezing. In the absence of ice nucleators (small ice crystals or impurities), undercooling occurs when the temperature of a given fluid is lowered below its FP. An undercooled fluid will ultimately freeze sponteanously several degrees below its FP, at a point called the undercooling point.

INPs were shown to reduce the amount of undercooling, promoting freezing nearer the FP of a given fluid. For freeze-tolerant organisms, this is of crucial importance: the higher the degree of undercooling, the faster the ice growth as nucleation initiates, and the higher the potential for damage to the cell membranes. INPs thus promote a more controlled, gradual ice growth to occur, which lowers chances of lethal punctures or shearing to the cellular membranes. As ice slowly propagates, the frog's cells will get progressively dehydrated by osmosis. By becoming highly concentrated in salt and other osmolytes (including the cryoprotectant glucose), the inner cell environment will have a lower FP that will prevent it from freezing at the temperatures the organism endures. The animal will survive in this condition until the spring, when it thaws and resume activity. While some details of this mechanism change among species, one combination remains crucial: the presence of both cryoprotectants and ice nucleators, which together promote controlled extracellular ice growth.

Finally, a strategy shared by a staggering number of ectotherms allows survival at subzero temperatures: freeze resistance. This is accomplished by a decrease of the organismal FP below that of the surrounding environment. The most obvious advantage of this strategy is the maintenance of activity in the cold polar environments, and during winter in the temperate regions of the globe. Still, some freeze resistant species overwinter in an inactive state. The spruce budworm is one such example (reviewed by Tyshenko *et al.*, 1997). These insects spend the winter hidden in cocoons at the tip of conifer branches where they can withstand temperatures of \leq -30°C. They decrease the FP of their hemolymph using different cryoprotectants, such as glycerol, which can be accumulated at high concentrations before reaching cytotoxic levels (glycerol is considered an osmotically compatible solute, as opposed to NaCI; Watanabe *et al.*, 2003), as well as unique molecules, called antifreeze proteins (AFPs) (Hew *et al.*, 1983; Qin *et al.*, 2007). AFPs inhibit ice growth by lowering the FP of their hosts to or preferentially.

past the coldest temperature they face in their environment, and can be found across five kingdoms of life (according to Cavalier-Smith, 2004), within an extensive list of freeze resistant ectothermic organisms ranging from bacteria (Gilbert *et al.*, 2004; Raymond *et al.*, 2008), fungi (Hoshino *et al.*, 2003) and microalgae (Janech *et al.*, 2006), to vascular plants (Griffith & Yaish, 2004), nematodes (Wharton *et al.*, 2005), Collembola (Graham & Davies, 2005), arachnids (Duman *et al.*, 2004), insects (see above), crustaceans (Kiko, 2010), and fishes (reviewed in Fletcher *et al.*, 2001; Goddard & Fletcher, 2002). The rich diversity of these proteins between and even within these groups suggests that AFPs evolved independently several times in response to the shared threat of freezing faced by life on Earth during the Cenozoic glaciations.

Interestingly, the synthesis of AFPs is not limited to freeze resistant organisms. For instance, a freeze tolerant insect has recently been found to produce antifreeze agents (Walters et al., 2009). The role of this agent within the freeze tolerance strategy of this animal is unknown, but may prevent the recrystallization of ice during freeze-thaw episodes (see later sections). In freeze tolerant plants, the presence of weak AFPs exist as a mechanism to favor the formation of ice at relatively high temperatures, which allows for a slower more controlled ice growth (they can act as INPs), and the inhibition of recrystallization during freeze-thaw cycles (Griffith & Yaish, 2004). Finally, an extreme case of freeze-resistance was recently discovered in an Alaskan population of the red flat bark beetle (*Cucujus clavipes*) which can survive temperatures down to -100 °C (Sformo et al., 2010). These insects do so in a vitrified state that is accomplished through extensive dehydration and elevation of glycerol and AFP concentrations. Here, the AFPs

not only lower the FP of these insects, but also mask potential ice nucleators. When the hemolymph of the beetle reaches the supercooling point (~ -40 °C), the animal freezes instantly. In some cases, as the supercooling point dropped below 58 °C (which can be encountered in the insect's harsh winter environment), the occurrence of vitrification was demonstrated through the use of differential scanning calorimetry (Sform *et al.*, 2010). In this instance, no ice crystals formed: the water instead adopted a glass-like state (amorphous ice) without the expansion characteristic of normal ice formation. Mechanical cell damage was thus avoided.

AFPs and INPs are part of a functional group of proteins recently grouped under the general appellation "ice-binding proteins" (IBP) (Jancch et al., 2006). As their name indicates, all IBPs share a high affinity to the molecular structure of water in its solid phase, to which they bind. Today, the AFPs are the most widely studied of the IBPs, and were the first to be discovered by DeVries & Wohlschlag (1969) in the plasma of a freeze-resistant Antarctic teleost fish, the bald rockcod (*Trematomus/Pagothenia borchgrevinki*, family *Nototheniidae*).

The discovery of AFPs in freeze resistant teleost fishes

The road to the understanding of organismal freeze resistance opened in the early 1950s, when Dr. R. H. Backus asked Dr. P. F. Scholander the following question:

"When arctic fishes swim about in ice water at -1.7 to -1.8°C, why don't they freeze? Do they have twice as high an osmotic concentration as ordinary fishes [...]?" (Scholander *et al.*, 1957) This prompted the latter to go to Labrador. After many experiments on fishes retrieved from the frigid waters of Hebron Fjord – and measurements of their blood FPs – the scientist gave what he believed then to be an easy answer to what appeared to be an "attractively simple problem":

"The shallow water fish moving about in the ice in the winter double their osmoconcentration at that time, *i.e.*, until it almost matches the sea water, and are thereby protected against freezing." (Scholander *et al.*, 1957)

These fish did have FPs nearing that of seawater, but Dr. Scholander was mistaken in the interpretation of the underlying cause. This is because his field osmometer didn't offer the accuracy needed to detect a feature nowadays considered diagnostic of the presence of AFPs: freezing hysteresis (FH) – *i.e.* the discrepancy between the FP and the melting point (MP) of a solution. Although he did notice a slight FH (-0.1°C) in the plasma of his fishes, the value was so low (and only 0.05°C above the difference measured in his control) that it was not given further thought. In fact, we now know that these measurements were underestimated. However, one thing was certain to this researcher and his colleagues: whatever was responsible for the lower FPs of the shallow water Labradorean fishes, it was not NaCl (Scholander *et al.*, 1957). The fishes were "somewhat protected", and the molecule(s) responsible were still to be discovered.

A few years later, Scholander and his colleges went back to Hebron Fjord, in order to identify the osmolyte(s) responsible for the high winter FPs of these fishes. The species investigated then included the shorthorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*) and the Greenland cod (Gadus ogac). They measured the plasma concentrations of a vast selection of osmolytes, but their compiled contribution (converted in °C of FP depression) still did not match the absolute FPs measured with their osmometer (Gordon *et al.*, 1962). They postulated that an obscure "antifreeze substance" may be responsible for this gap in their values. Interestingly, the amino acid present at the highest concentration in the shorthorn sculpin plasma was alanine (Gordon *et al.*, 1962). Nearly two decades later, a high-alanine content AFP would be discovered by Hew *et al.* (1980) in the plasma of that very species.

During the late 1960s, Arthur L. DeVries – then a doctoral student under the supervision of Dr. Donald Wohlschlag – found that several species of Antarctic notothenioid fish had lower blood FPs than expected for teleosts, which are normally hyposmotic to their environment. He successfully isolated the osmolyte responsible for what he initially interpreted as being an isosmotic state with seawater, and deduced that it was a set of carbohydrate-containing proteins (DeVries & Wohlschlag, 1969). The heavily glycosylated proteins were purified and characterised (DeVries *et al.*, 1970; Komatsu et al., 1970), and their sequence and structure eventually solved (DeVries *et al.*, 1971; Shier *et al.*, 1972). This family of antifreeze agents became known as "antifreeze glycoproteins" (AFGPs).

AF(G)Ps grant freeze resistance through thermal hysteresis

Had these early investigators used a vapour point osmometer instead of a freezing point osmometer, the discovery of AFGPs and AFPs might have taken much longer. This is because these fascinating proteins do not act in the same way as other solutes to lower the FP of a solution. In chemistry, the FP is a colligative property of a solution, *i.e.*, a property that undergoes changes with the addition of solutes, and that will solely depend on the amount of solutes added (number of molecules), not on their identity (size or mass. For instance, 1 M sucrose (342 g/l) and 1 M NaCl (58.44 g/l) will lower the FP of a solution to the same extent. Colligative FP depression occurs because the molecules of solute disturb the order and availability of the water molecules to a growing crystal. Hence, energy needs to be removed from the system for this entropy to decrease and for ice to form. As the FP decreases, so does the MP, as the two are at equilibrium. Thus, in a system that follows colligative laws, the FP is termed "equilibrium FP".

In contrast, the FP of a solution that contains AF(G)Ps will not be at equilibrium with its MP (non-equilibrium FP). This is because these proteins work non-colligatively, *i.e.* they cause FP depression in a way that would not be predicted by their concentration alone. For instance, while the glycopeptides from Antarctic were found to be as effective as NaCl in depressing the FP of water when compared on a mass basis (DeVries & Wohlschlag, 1969), the AFGP proved to be 200 to 300 times more efficient when compared to the salt on a molal basis (DeVries *et al.*, 1970). Such non-colligative action of AF(G)Ps is a clear advantage for an organism, as most osmolytes would become cytotoxic at the concentrations necessary to provide freezing resistance. The mechanism by which AF(G)Ps lower the FP of solutions is accomplished by the binding of the proteins to the surface of nascent ice crystals, which halts their growth. Unrestricted ice

growth, *i.e.* freezing, will only occur once the non-equilibrium FP is reached. This explains why FH is characteristic of aqueous solutions that contain AF(G)Ps (Fig. 1.1).



Fig. 1.1. Thermal hysteresis and behaviour of ice crystals in presence (2) and absence (1) of AF(G)Ps. Image graciously provided by Dr. Peter Davies.

The measurement of FH was first conducted by DeVries (1971) on a pure fraction of AFGPs from the serum of an Antarctic notothenioid fish. He was the first to propose that the glycoproteins lower the FP of fish plasma by adsorption onto the surface of ice crystals. This led to the development of the theory of "adsorption/inhibition" as an explanation for the non-colligative action of the AF(G)Ps on FP (Raymond & DeVries, 1977). A schematic of the FP depression mechanism can be visualised below (Fig. 1.2).



Fig. 1.2. Mechanism by which AF(G)Ps cause FP depression (and TH), according to the theory of adsorption/inhibition (image modified from: Arthur L. DeVries, "Antifreeze (biology)," in AccessScience, ©McGraw-Hill Companies, 2008, http://www.accessscience.com).

If the temperature of a solution containing ice crystals with adsorbed AF(G)Ps is lowered below the equilibrium FP (which is equal to the MP, hence its name), curved ice fronts begin to form between adjacent adsorbed AF(G)Ps. As ice normally forms in a highly organised fashion, growth of these fronts will halt at a certain level of curvature (Kelvin effect). The extent to which the FP will be depressed will be a function of the concentration of AF(G)Ps. The closer together are the bound proteins at the crystal's surface, the faster the curvature of the intercalated ice fronts attains a threshold whereby growth ceases. Hence, in the presence of AF(G)Ps, growth will only resume once lower temperatures are reached. At that point, new water molecules with lower kinetic energy will be able to bind to the crystal, despite doing so into a less ordered and angular fashion. The temperature at which this occurs corresponds to the non-equilibrium FP. An ice crystal then appears to burst out of control along its c-axis (Fig. 1.2), as the curved ice fronts finally resume growth and fuse over the embedded AFPs. The AF(G)Ps are then buried with a speed being proportional to the extent to which the fluid was undercooled (*i.e.* cooled below the equilibrium FP).

If the AF(G)Ps halt ice growth because they adsorb to the surface of an ice crystal, could they prevent melting from occuring? Knight & DeVries (1989) were the first to obtain qualitative evidence that this is indeed the case. They observed irregular faceting forming within a hole that they had drilled in ice and filled with an AFP-containing solution. This observation strongly suggested that the proteins had bound to the walls of the hole and would not allow melting to occur uniformly, as it did in the control experiment (conducted with pure water). Their work offered qualitative evidence that the MP can be affected by adsorbed AF(G)Ps, and that some level of melting hysteresis (MH) will occur in AF(G)P-containing solutions (akin to the FH that was by then already routinely measured). The topic was then virtually forgotten for about two decades, until Celik *et al.* (2010) resumed investigation and found quantitative evidence of melting hysteresis MH in the presence of AFPs. Using a Clifton nanoliter osmometer (a device which allows the user to visualise the behaviour of microscopic ice crystals in controlled

thermal conditions), they froze a solution containing AFPs, and slowly melted it until a single tiny crystal remained. The highest temperature at which this crystal would stop shrinking and remain stable was determined as the MP of the solution. They then gradually lowered the sample's temperature down through its FH window to a point where the crystal burst and the sample re-froze. Finally, they increased the temperature until the sample started to melt again. Interestingly, at the melting temperature determined above, all but the original ice crystal had melted. This is because the AF(G)Ps bound to that crystal before the sample was re-frozen, and were now preventing bound water molecules from leaving the ice fraction for the liquid fraction. The sample's temperature needed a further increase in temperature in order to finally melt the crystal. Even in the presence of relatively high concentrations of AFPs (< 10 mg/ml), the resulting MH was small (at most, a few tenths of a degree) when compared to what the FH would have been. This explains why it could not easily be detected before, when the Clifton nanoliter osmometer was used with a coarser temperature control. The study of Celik et al. (2010) not only gave irrefutable proof of the existence of MH, it also consolidated the theory of adsorption/inhibition (along with studies from Wilson et al., 1993; Pertava et al., 2007) according to which AF(G)Ps bind irreversibly to ice (Raymond & DeVries, 1977).

The amount of thermal hysteresis (TH = FH + MH) measured in an aqueous sample has been shown to be proportional to the concentration of AF(G)Ps in solution (DeVries, 1971; Celik *et al.*, 2010), according to a non-linear relationship which can be determined by building a standard curve of TH/[AFP] for any new AF(G)P tested (Davies

& Hew, 1990) (see Fig. 1.3). In contrast, other solutes (like NaCl or sugars), follow a linear relationship with temperature (DeVries *et al.*, 1970).



Fig. 1.3. Standard curve of TH/[AFP] from Desjardins *et al.* (2006), using type III AFPs from ocean pout (*Macrozoarces americanus*) resuspended in ammonium bicarbonate buffer (0.01 M).

For a given [AF(G)P], a threshold (plateau) will be approached where the FP/MP of the solution cannot be decreased (FP) or increased (MP) significantly further from the equilibrium FP/MP. The location of this threshold will depend on the type of AFP investigated, and on the presence of other osmolytes in solution, some of which have been shown to enhance the activity of AF(G)Ps (Duman, 2001; Jin, 2003; Evans et al., 2007; Amornwittawat et al., 2009; Gong et al., 2010). The magnitude of the TH of a sample is also inversely proportional to the size of the crystal and the rate of cooling used during measurement (Takamichi et al., 2007). In vivo, AF(G)Ps will bind to nascent ice crystals that may be too small to be observed through a microscope. As a result, the nonequilibrium FP and MP of an AF(G)P-containing aqueous solution is likely always underestimated when measured in the laboratory.

Other properties of AF(G)Ps

While the achievement of freeze-resistance in living organisms by the FP depression of their physiological fluids is a key feature of the AF(G)Ps, these proteins display other unique and important properties. One of those is the inhibition of ice recrystallization (Knight *et al.*, 1984). Ice recrystallization happens when the temperature of a frozen sample fluctuates slightly below its MP. This can be visualised and assessed experimentally using a "splat assay". Here, a bit of sample is splattered upon a plate of frozen metal and incubated for hours at low subzero temperatures (Knight *et al.*, 1988). Under such thermal conditions, the tiny crystals thus generated will remain unchanged in the presence of even trace amounts of AF(G)P, while those within a sample devoid of antifreeze will gradually increase in size, and decrease in numbers (as the water of the smallest crystals is redristributed to the biggest ones). The outcome of ice recrystallisation can be experienced in everyday life, as coarse ice crystals in an ice cream quart or other frozen food item that has spent too much time in the grocerv's freezer (which are selfdefrosting regularly). To solve such palatability issues, a frozen dessert-producing company (Breyers, Unilever) actually patented the use of a fish AFP in some of their products (U.S. Patent # 20050129810, Fig. 1.4). The AFP (which they re-labelled as "icestructuring protein" to enhance public perception and avoid confusion with ethylene glycol, the car antifreeze) is expressed by and extracted from cultures of geneticallymodified yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) that contains an AFP gene from the teleost ocean pout (*Macrozoarces americanus*), found in the shallow waters of the North Atlantic Ocean. The cost of including AF(G)Ps into frozen products is negligible, because AF(G)Ps perform ice recrystallization inhibition at very low concentrations (10⁻⁶ mg/ml, Knight *et al.*, 1984). A team from the University of Guelph is currently working on AF(G)Ps applications in the frozen foods industry; they are interested in AFPs from winter what grass. *Triticum aestrum* (Kontogiorose *et al.*, 2007).



Light ice Cream Start Mik, Sugar Core Syrup, Coce Proprised Virght Mark Linger, Markes Gar, Lindo Bear, Dun, Proprised Dirochter, Califies Gar, Carob Bear, Dun, Competent, Edwards With Micro-Coceal European Start, Start, Start, Start, Start, Start, Start, Start, Start, Virght, Carol, Start, Virght, Start, Nanta Dir Start, Warr, Com Syrup, Decolare Luper, Cocea Proceeding Virght, Carol, Start, Nanta Dir Ma, Sat, Proceeding Competence Luper, Cocea Proceeding Virght, Carol, Start, Start, Nanta Dir Ma, Sat, Proceeding Virght, Start, Sta

Fig. 1.4. A fish AFP is part of the ingredients listed in a frozen dessert produced by Breyers (Unilever). Source: <u>http://www.breyers.com/products/Smooth-and-Dreamy-Bars-</u> and-Sandwiches/Triple-Chocolate-Chip-Bars.aspx

In nature, ice recrystallization can be a life-threatening issue, both during cycles of extreme freeze-thaw (Walker et al., 2006), and when slight variations around the nonequilibrium FP and MP occur. For instance, some AFGP-producing notothenioid fishes that live in the perennially icy waters of the Antarctic are known to harbour ice crystals within their spleen (Praebel et al., 2009). Further investigation revealed that ice crystals bound with AFGPs are selectively absorbed by phagocytes in the spleen tissue, where they are stored (Evans et al., 2010). To reach this conclusion, the researchers used nanospheres coated with fluorescently-labelled AFGPs that they injected in the fish's bloodstream. It is yet unverified if these Antarctic fishes can ever remove their internal ice, but it is theoretically possible. Indeed, these fish can encounter local temperature variations that span their TH window in nature. This may occur when performing vertical movements through the water column during summer towards the warmer surface layers (Hunt et al., 2003). That is where the danger arises. Were it not for AF(G)Ps conferring anti-recrystallisation properties, a fish moving to warmer waters at temperatures between its non-equilibrium FP and MP (TH gap) could suffer damage to its tissues as some of its splenic ice crystals would grow bigger. Fortunately, the ice grains are completely neutralised in the presence of AF(G)Ps. Recrystallisation inhibition is possible because, as mentioned above, AF(G)Ps bind irreversibly to ice.

Yet another property of AF(G)Ps appears to be cell membrane protection at low temperatures (Rubinsky et al., 1990; reviewed by Wang, 2000 and Tomczak et al., 2002). At hypothermic temperatures, the membranes of non-acclimated cells will transiently leak as they pass from a liquid-crystalline state to a gel-like state (reviewed in Tomczak et al.,

2002). During the phase transition, both states are thought to co-exist, which may actually cause the leakage through packing defects (Clerc & Thompson, 1995). Rubinsky et al. (1990, 1991, 1992) were the first to measure an effect of AF(G)Ps on cell survival in cold, hypothermic temperatures. They chilled pig oocytes in the presence of AFGPs extracted from notothenioid blood and did not observe the level of damage that would usually occur at these temperatures. Instead, at a concentration of 1 mg/ml, 80% survival was observed among the cells. As an explanation, they proposed that the AF(G)Ps prevent mammalian cell leakage by blocking the ion channels, which they viewed as the cellular weak link. Because a later study by Hays et al. (1996) showed that AF(G)Ps preserve the integrity of liposomes (artificially prepared vesicles whose membrane do not contain proteins, therefore ion channels), it was speculated that AF(G)Ps would instead improve the interaction between the membrane proteins and phospholipids, as the phase transition takes place (Tomczak & Crowe, 2002). The AF(G)Ps may do so by inserting themselves into the membrane, or binding to its surface, depending of the nature of the AF(G)P studied (reviewed in Inglis et al., 2006), These observations are exciting because they imply that the AF(G)Ps could be used for cold storage of human cells and organs (Lee et al., 1992; Tablin et al., 1996; Amir et al., 2004a, 2004b), which would extend their "shelf life" between donor and patient, although certain issues need to be resolved first (see Inglis et al., 2005). This membrane stabilization property also implies that in nature, AF(G)Ps might be useful to organisms facing high subzero (non-freezing) temperatures, through a mechanism yet to be fully elucidated.

The storage of reproductive cells and embryos at subzero temperatures in the presence of AFPs may represent an additional path, and encouraging results have been obtained (Rubinsky et al., 1992; Arav et al., 1993; Robles et al., 2005; Le François et al., 2008). Experiments are currently under way in Dr. Fletcher's lab to see if a line of cells from the non-AF(G)P-producing Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshanytscha*) exposed to cold/freezing temperatures will show increased survival in the presence of AFPs. This role in the prevention of cell leakage during exposure to cold temperatures also attracted the attention of the cosmetic industry, with LIFTLAB recently commercialising a line of facial creams containing a fish AFP among its ingredients

(http://theliftlab.com/v1/pages/SHOP.html). The company currently holds patents that grant them the right to use AF(G)Ps from fish and insects in their products. They renamed the AF(G)Ps "cell protection protein", in an attempt to emphasis their claim that the customer's skin would be protected against cold damage.

Interestingly, another potential application of AF(G)Ps involves a result that is the polar opposite to those just mentioned: cell destruction. This was inspired by another unique property of the AF(G)Ps: ice-shaping. As illustrated in Fig. 1.2, bound AF(G)Ps will cause an ice crystal to develop an hexagonal shape by binding on its prism face (as opposed to ice with no AF(G)Ps, which will expand as a rounded disk). Because the proteins can also bind to the pyramidal plane of the growing crystal, but cannot do so on its basal plane, the ice will elongate along the c-axis (Fig. 1.2). This eventually stabilises the crystal as a hexagonal bipyramid between the equilibrium and non-equilibrium FPs of the fluid (see image on Fig. 1.1). Once the non-equilibrium FP is reached (which should not happen in the host organism), growth will resume in an uncontrolled fashion, with needle-like projections sprouting from the tips of the bipyramid along the c-axis. The higher the [AF(G)P], the greater the undercooling, and the more dramatic this phenomena will be. Obviously, if prompted to occur *in vivo*, the explosive growth of such needle-like crystals would potentially puncture and/or shear any cell membranes in their paths. This cell-killing consequence of the ice-shaping properties of AF(G)Ps has been noticed and tested by medical research teams in an attempt to improve the success rate of cryosurgery. Used on small and localised tumors, cryosurgery is performed by locally freezing cancerous cells with liquid nitrogen circulated through a "cryoprobe". When highly concentrated AFP solutions were injected into the tumors prior to freezing, resulting cell death percentages were found to be significantly higher in mice (Pham *et al.*, 1999) and rats (Muldrew *et al.*, 2001).

This destructive effect of ice helps us to understand why organisms that tolerate freezing (such as *Rana pipiens*) vitally need to control how and where ice grows within their bodies, by the secretion of INPs. This is also why freeze-resistant animals – such as some teleostean fishes and the spruce budworm – must not undercool past their nonequilibrium FP. As a result, organismal freeze resistance will be finely tuned to the needs of the organism. For instance, the spruce budworm will produce enough glycerol and AFPs to keep its body fluids liquid down to -30 °C and slightly colder, while marine teleosts only need to protect themselves from freezing down to -2 °C, the FP of seawater. As water is a more thermally buffered medium than is air, it does not freeze down to great depths at low atmospheric temperatures.
The threat of freezing in the marine environment: the case of the teleost fishes

Unlike terrestrial organisms, aquatic organisms are not typically exposed to temperatures lower than the FP of water, freeze-resistant or freeze-tolerant invertebrates inhabiting the intertidal zone are an exception (Aarset, 1982; Murphy, 1983). Indeed, even in bitterly cold atmospheric conditions, no substantial body of water will freeze to the bottom. Fresh water reaches its maximum density at 4 °C, and the deepest regions of big lakes will stay at this temperature year-round. In the oceans, water (at 35 ppt salinity) is at its densest as it reaches its FP (-2.0 °C), while the temperature of the deep ocean water (DOW) remains stable between 0 and 2 °C (Lear *et al.*, 2000). Thus, animals that live deeper in the water column are protected against freezine by their very location.

The FP and other colligative properties of seawater will obviously vary according to its salt contents. The high thermal buffering capacity of seawater can be best understood when comparing its physical properties to those of air (see Table 1.1). At 0 °C and sea level atmospheric pressure, 35 ppt seawater has a specific heat capacity (SHC) that is four-fold that of air and a density that is – 800 times higher. On a volumetric basis, this means that ~ 3200 times more heat would need to be applied to a given volume of seawater, in order to elevate its temperature by the same amount as the equivalent volume of air. Scaled up to the total mass they occupy on Earth, the heat capacity (HC) of the oceans would be ~ 1000 times higher than that of the whole atmosphere. The seawater would then have to absorb roughly 1000 times more heat than the latter, before its global temperature increases a mere 1 °K or 1 °C (Table 1.1). Of course, these are rough estimates, but they allow a general appreciation of the formidable thermal buffering

power of water, and explain why the surface temperature of great bodies of water can decrease enough to cause the formation of an ice cover, while the temperature of the underlying waters will remain quite stable.

Medium	SCH (kJ/kg·K)	Density (kg/m ³)	$_{(kJ/m^3\cdot K)}^{\rm VCH}$	Total mass (kg)	Total HC (kJ/kg·K)
Seawater	3.99	1028.10	4102.12	1.4 x 10 ²¹	5.6 x 10 ²¹
Air	1.00	1.29	1.29	5.2 x 10 ¹⁸	5.2 x 10 ¹⁸

Table 1.1. Specific heat capacity (SHC), density, volumetric heat capacity (VHC), total mass, and estimated total heat capacity (total HC) of seawater and air (to a salinity of 35 ppt).

Freeze-intolerant marine plants and invertebrates, which are isosmotic to seawater (Scholander et al., 1957), are in no danger of freezing if they encounter ice within the water, as long as they are not exposed to the colder air. In the case of marine fishes, the ancient groups Chondrichthyes, Coelacanth, and Agnatha are isosmotic (or slightly hyperosmotic) to seawater. The first two groups accumulate diverse osmolytes – principally urea and trimethylamine oxide – tot that end, while the latter maintains a fluid composition highly similar (almost isoionic) to that of seawater (Griffith, 1981, 1987). To maintain isosmoticity with seawater is how, for example, the Greenland shark can swim underneath the Arctic and North Atlantic sea ice in search of prey (Skomal & Benz, 2004) without any need for AF(G)Ps. The marine teleost fishes, however, are different in that they universally maintain a hyposmotic state comparatively to their environment (Griffith, 1981; Evans, 2008). This feature is likely a remnant of a freshwater emergence (reviewed in Finn & Kristoffersen, 2007). These fish are thus in danger of freezing if they contact ice at temperatures below their FP. In comparison, fresh water teleosts are hyperosmotic to their environment (Evans, 2008). As such, and unlike their marine counterparts, they are not threatened by freezing and do not need AF(G)Ps.

From polar to temperate latitudes, seawater will freeze nearer the coast, where the proximity to colder land and lower heat input from buffering deeper waters will favour its surface freezing. A coastal freeze-risk ecozone can thus be found seasonally in these regions, where the risk of freezing will decrease with depth. Without adaptation, marine teleosts could freeze if they contact ice crystals in the water column. As ice has a lower density than liquid water, it has positive buoyancy, and will normally stay near the surface (see exceptions below). Thus, freeze-susceptible fishes will normally be found in deeper waters, where they survive below their FP in an undercooled state (Scholander *et al.*, 1957), Conversely, marine teleosts living in shallower surface and coastal waters are expected to face, at least seasonally, the threat of freezing. Consequently, most fish that stay in the shallowest part of the "freeze risk ecozone" are fully protected by AF(G)Ps.

However, ice can occasionally occur at greater depths, which renders difficult a clearly defined depth limit to the "freeze risk ecozone". For instance, if a loose slushy ice cover exists at the surface, high wind-driven turbulence can drive surface frazil ice to a depth of several metres (Svensson & Omstedt, 1998). Ice crystals brought down by water column convective overturning, or when icebergs serape the seafloor can occur as well (reviewed in Goddard & Fletcher, 2002). Moreover, ice can be found tethered to the bottom (anchor ice reaches depths of 30 m in Antarctica, but lesser depths in the Arctic;

Dayton et al. 1969: Reimnitz et al. 1987) Finally, it can form underneath a deen coastal glacial ice sheet (e.g. ice platelets were collected at a denth of 250 m near the Filcher Ice Shelf in Antarctica, Dieckmann, 1986), or can reach down following denser brine sinking towards the seafloor from forming surface ice ("brinicles": Martin, 1974: see also: http://www.bbc.co.uk/nature/15835017). As the barshest conditions occur in the Antarctic (deeper anchor ice and ice formation down to several hundreds of meters), fish that live in these waters often produce high AF(G)P levels, even when found at great denths. (DeVries & Cheng. 2005). However, all deeper dwelling temperate North Atlantic fish investigated for TH in their plasma (e.g. the American plaice, Hippoglossoides platessoides, and the spotted wolffish. Anarhichas minor) were found to have levels insufficient to grant freeze resistance (Goddard & Fletcher, 2002; Desiardins et al., 2006). Exceptional meteorogical conditions or icebergs (scouring the sea floor) moving ice crystals into deeper water notwithstanding, fish living in temperate waters deeper than 30 m theoretically escape the threat of freezing. Thus, the here-proposed "freeze risk ecozone" concept (coined by Dr. Garth L. Fletcher) comprises depths where these phenomena can occur.

In general, teleost fish plasma or serum osmolarities translate to an equilibrium FP that ranges between -0.6 and -0.8 °C (Holmes & Donaldson, 1969). Some polar fishes have evolved slightly higher serum osmolarities than their temperate counterparts (Gordon *et al.*, 1962; O'Grady & DeVries, 1982), with resulting equilibrium FPs dropping as low as -1.2 °C in some species (Dobbs & DeVries, 1975). However, the colligative contribution of the osmolytes was never sufficient to bring their plasma equilibrium FP down to that of their surroundings. Some temperate teleosis also show seasonal fluctuation of their plasma osmolyte concentrations, with higher values reached in winter (Fletcher, 1977, Lewis et al., 2004; Desjardins et al., 2006). For instance, the rainbow smelt (Osmerus mordax), found in the northern Atlantic, synthesises high plasma levels of relatively inert glycerol, which contributes ~ 0.5 °C of FP depression in the winter (Lewis et al., 2004). Nevertheless, these fish – as well as other temperate and polar species – still need to lower their FP further in order to resist freezing. This is where the AF(G)Ps enter the equation.

Attaining freeze resistance by evolving an isosmotic state with seawater would have warranted a whole re-adaptation of organismal, physiological and biochemical processes in marine teleosts. Thus, to evolve AF(G)Ps in order to lower the FP noncolligatively to (or below) that of seawater, appears a more facile solution, as it does not affect the ionic and osmotic balance of the fish. Perhaps for this reason, the evolution of AF(G)P in marine teleosts came out as the universal response to the threat of freezing, with these proteins emerging independently in a beautiful example of convergent evolution (Scott *et al.*, 1986; Fletcher *et al.*, 2001; Goddard & Fletcher, 2002).

Teleost fishes as a model for the study of AFP evolution

Teleost fishes emerged relatively recently, perhaps during the middle or late Triassic, 220 to 200 Ma ago (Nelson, 2006). Their ancestor, shared by other ray-finned fishes, likely dwelled within warm climatic conditions (Prochnow *et al.*, 2006). It is thus pretty safe to postulate that the teleostean fishes only faced a serious threat of freezing since the Cenozoic. Indeed, the Earth was mostly within a climate "Hot House" before that era, since as far back as ~200 Ma ago (Early Jurassic) (Fletcher et al., 2007; Retallack, 2009; Price & Nunn, 2010; Dera et al., 2011; Jenkyns et al., 2011). This makes the study of AF(G)P evolution easier within this group than – for instance – in insects, which are an incommensurably diverse and ancient clade. Indeed, the first fossil evidence of an insect dates back to the early Devonian, some ~ 400 Ma ago (Engel & Grimaldi, 2004), which means that members of this clade were exposed to one other major glacial event before the Cenozoic Era (Scheffler et al., 2003).

Teleosts are the most speciose and diversified vertebrate clade on Earth. Nelson's description gives a proper measure of that statement:

"About 26 840 extant species, about 96% of all extant fishes, placed in 40 orders, 448 families, and 4278 genera" (Nelson, 2006).

Recent evidence from the field of molecular biology points to a whole genome duplication (WGD) event as a trigger to this explosive radiation (Hoegg et al., 2004; Volff, 2005). The main argument behind this is that a greater genetic template was made available to evolution. The important evolutive role of gene duplication was brought under the spotlight by Ohno (1970), who proposed that after a duplication event, selective pressures that preserve the integrity of a given gene sequence are relaxed on one of the copies, which then becomes free to accumulate random mutations. From there, three main paths await for such a duplicate: 1) to be conserved as it is, or 2) to accumulate mutations that will progressively erode its sequence (turning it into a pseudogene) or 3) enable it to evolve into a different functional entity (Wagner, 1998; Zhang, 2003; Innan & Kondrashow, 2010). For the latter option, an evolving duplicate can serendipitously develop a completely novel function (neofunctionalisation) or simply improve a preexisting, possibly competing one (subfunctionalisation).

To possess at least two copies of each gene obviously allowed the evolution of an array of new phenotypes in the rapidly diversifying teleosts. With time, a lot of the supplemental copies that were not selected for were eventually lost. The most dramatic case known to science of a post-duplication genome contraction in a fish can be seen in the puffer fish *Tetraodon nigroviridis*, for which the genome has been sequenced (Jaillon *et al.*, 2004). Following detailed analysis, it was concluded that only 15 % of the gene duplicates were conserved in that species (Brunet *et al.*, 2006). Such genome contraction (eventually leading to secondary diploidization) was observed in most teleost species investigated (de Peer *et al.*, 2009). Nevertheless, the WGD event that occurred at the base of the teleost lineage likely helped these fish to achieve their remarkable biodiversity. Teleost fishes dominate virtually all ecological niches in the oceans, from the great depths to the shallows, from the tropies to the poles, where sea ice eventually became prevalent.

Possessing some genes in duplicate (or more) may have offered a stepping stone for the evolution of AF(G)P in marine teleosts. At the onset of the first undisputed Cenozoic sea-level glaciations, at the Eocene-Oligocene boundary some 34 Ma ago (Zachos et al., 2001, 2008; DeConto et al., 2008), the teleostean marine shore fauna already bore a striking resemblance to modern assemblages (Greenwood et al., 1966).

which means that contemporary teleost suborders and families were already – or about to be – established (Scott *et al.*, 1986). This situation likely explains the high diversity of AF(G)Ps evolved by fish belonging to distinct clades (Fig. 1.5). Indeed, it is now agreed that the several extant AF(G)P-bearing fish groups evolved their AF(G)Ps independently, in front of the same and relatively recent threat of freezing (Scott *et al.*, 1986; Chen *et al.*, 1997a; Fletcher *et al.*, 2001). Today, these AF(G)Ps are classified as type I, II, III AFPs and AFGPs based on their distinct structures and composition (Davies & Hew, 1990), and the elucidation of their evolutionary origins is the focus of ongoing research (see following section).





Origin and emergence of the fish AF(G)Ps

The WGD event that occurred in the early teleost ancestor may have generated part of the raw materials needed to rapidly evolve a response to the new risk of freezing death. To deduce the origin of the AF(G)P genes and their products first involves the comparison of their sequences to other nucleotide and amino acid sequences available in the databases.

The first AF(G)P for which an evolutionary origin has been investigated is the type II AFP. These AFPs have been found and characterised in the Atlantic herring (Clupea harengus; family Clupeidae, order Clupeiformes) (Ewart & Fletcher, 1990; Ewart & Fletcher, 1993), the rainbow smelt and Japanese smelt (Osmerus mordax & Hypomesus japonicus, family Osmeridae, order Osmeriformes) (Ewart & Fletcher, 1990: Ewart et al., 1992; Yamashita et al., 2003), the sea raven (Hemitrinterus americanus, family Hemitripteridae, order Scorpaeniformes) (Slaughter et al., 1981; Ng & Hew, 1992), and the longsnout poacher (Brachvopsis rostratus, family Agonidae, order Scorpaeniformes) (Nishimiya et al., 2008). The presence of five disulfide bridges is the major distinguishing feature of these 14 to 24 kDa globular proteins (see Davies & Sykes, 1997). Although very similar in structure, a major difference exists: the proteins from the sea raven and longsnout poacher (order Scorpaeniformes) do not need calcium for activity, while the ones from herring and smelt do (Ewart et al., 1992; Nishimiya et al., 2008). This raised the possibility of an evolutionary origin from distinct precursor genes (Loewen et al., 1998). However, the present consensus is that all type II AFPs evolved from a Ca2+-dependant C-type lectin gene (Ewart et al., 1992, Ewart & Fletcher, 1993;

Liu et al., 2007; Graham et al., 2008a). C-lectins are sugar-binding proteins whose role lies in mechanisms of recognition between cells and proteins. The type II AFP is obviously derived from their carbohydrate-binding site (Ewart et al., 1998). However, the genetic background for the evolutive mechanisms involved in the emergence of these AFPs is still lacking. For now, a simplified and likely explanation is that a C-type lectin progenitor gene was duplicated, with one copy eventually diverging into the type II AFP precursor gene (Cheng & DeVries, 2002).

When comparing the four different type II AFPs together, another question comes to mind: are these AFPs related, and if so, how? On that question, no consensus has been reached as of yet. A first suggestion was that the Ca^{2+} -dependent and -independent AFPs are the result of convergent evolution (Fletcher *et al.*, 2001), with the duplication and divergence of the original C-lectin gene occurring independently within the three teleost orders mentioned above. This offered a first tentative explanation for the presence of very similar AFPs among these distantly related fish groups (see Fig. 1.5). A recent study by Liu *et al.* (2007) suggested an alternative hypothesis: an initial Ca²⁺-dependent C-lectin gene duplication happened in the common ancestor to all these fish groups, with one of the copies eventually giving rise (by subfunctionalisation) to a type II AFP. This AFP would have then evolved differently within the descendent fish clades, with a more recent loss of their last Ca²⁺-binding site, causing the AFP from the Scorpaeniformes to become Ca²⁺-independent. However, when looking at the great genetic distance separating these fishes, and the absence of AFP II genes in many clades that emerged after the Clupeiformes (see Fig. 1.5), the scenario of widespread gene loss appears quite unlikely.

although it obviously occurred in some cases (e.g., *Tetraodon nigroviridis*; Liu et al., 2007). This is especially true as there seems to be no selective pressure acting towards the loss of unneeded genetic material in eukaryotes (Davies, pers. com.).

While it is very likely that the AFPs from the sea raven and the longsnout poacher share a common ancestor from an older Scorpaeniformes fish (-67% identity between their amino acid sequences), common ancestry by descent appears somewhat far-fetched when comparing the AFPs of the herring and the smelts (-84% identity between their amino acid sequences). Indeed, these species are quite far apart on the evolutionary tree (see Fig. 1.5). As mentioned above, it seems incredible that the type II AFPs would have been kept in the herring, but lost in the entire Eutelostei subdivision, except for the smelts and a few Scorpaeniformes. Emergence in a common ancestor to the herring and these other fishes (dating back to > 250 Ma ago, Azuma *et al.*, 2008) would also have had to predate the onset of the Cenozoic glaciations by more than 200 Ma. This is counterintuitive, considering that the recognised stimulus for AFP evolution is the presence of sea ice (Scott *et al.*, 1986).

This latter reasoning brings forth again the afore-mentioned scenario of an independent emergence of these proteins by convergent evolution (Fletcher et al., 2001). However, if convergent evolution can potentially produce two nearly identical groups of isoforms independently by acting on the coding sequence of a single gene (or genes; see next case), one would expect to see important differences in the non-coding regions (5' and 3' UTRs, and introns), which would not be subjected to selection. Thus, important sequence divergence should be present among these sequences, especially considering the great genetic distance separating, for instance, the herring and the smelts. Recent comparison of the AFP II DNA sequences from these two species (on their shared lengths) revealed high identities between the exons (~ 88-97%), but (surprisingly) slightly higher identities between their introns (~ 88-99%) (Graham *et al.*, 2008a). This intriguing feature inspired yet another scenario by the latter authors: the type II AFPs may have spread across surelated fish taxa through lateral gene transfer (LGT). That hypothesis is currently being explored by Dr. P.L. Davies' team at Queen's University (Kingston, ON).

The second AF(G)P for which the evolutionary origin was investigated – and eventually resolved – is the AFGP found in fishes of the suborder Notothenioidei. Chen *et al.* (1997a) obtained the sequence of a complete gene and compared it to the sequences available in the databases. Their best hit was a trypsinogen-like serine protease gene (cDNA) from a flatfish. Intriguingly, the two gene sequences appeared completely unrelated; the only homologies (> 70%) were found in small portions of the sequences corresponding to the C- and N-terminals ends of the proteins, and within the DNA flanking the gene at its 3' end. Chen and colleges (1997a) then retrieved and sequenced a trypsinogen-like serine protease gene from a notothenioid fish (*Dissostichus marsoni*) and again, compared that sequence to that of the AFGP gene. This time, more resemblance was found. These genes shared high identity between their first exon (96%), which codes for a signal peptide, and the shared part of the adjacent intron (93%). The next region of high identity was observed between the sixth exon of the protease gene and the 3' end of the AFGP gene. In between, the sequences were completely unrelated.

In lieu of the four other exons found in the protease gene, the AFGP gene has an extensive second exon. This exon codes for a highly repetitive AFGP polyprotein, containing several AFGPs linked to each other by a conserved three-residue sequence (Leucine-*Asparagine*-Phenylalanine or Leucine-*Isoleucine*-Phenylalaline), with individual AFGP proteins being released following post-translational removal of that linker sequence (Hsiao et al., 1990). Each AFGP is essentially a repetition of a single monomer (threonine-alanine-alanine), that bears a disaccharide on its threonine (Thr) hydroxyl group (DeVries, 1988); this in turn makes them heavily glycolysated, hence their name. Their repetitive structure and other factors related to their expression render them difficult to work with (Brown & Sönnichsen, 2002); as a result, their tertiary structure remains unresolved.

Interestingly, this repeated three-residue motif within each AFGP, which corresponds to the nucleotide sequence "aca-gcg-gca", was found as a single copy at the junction between the first intron and the second exon in the notothenioid protease gene (Chen et al., 1997a). To explain the evolution of an AFGP gene from the latter, these authors proposed that the original protease gene first underwent duplication. Eventually, one copy would have had its short "aca-gcg-gca" sequence amplified extensively, while its second to fifth exons would have been deleted (along with the associated introns). Shortly after the publication of this research, the discovery of an active chimeric (hybrid) gene that contains a partially amplified "aca-gcg-gca", nested within the complete sequence of the protease gene (Cheng & Chen, 1999) validated these authors' hypothesis.

The emergence of the nothothenioid AFGP has been hypothesised by Cheng *et al.* (2003) to coincide with the species explosion of Antarctic representatives of the suborder Notothenioidei. These fish likely initiated their radiation an estimated 24 Ma ago (Matshiner *et al.*, 2011), in response to the intensification of the sea level Antarctic glaciations at the Oligocene-Miocene transition (Naish *et al.*, 2001). The rapidly diversifying notothenioid fishes gradually spread to all niches available within this frigid environment, perhaps starting by invading the shallow water habitats where massive local extinctions may have occurred (Eastman, 2005). From there, the notothenioids gradually replaced fish in other habitats as well, becoming one of the most impressive fish flock known to biology (Eastman & McCune, 2000), along with the cychlids from the great East African lakes (Verheyen *et al.*, 203). They are today the dominant teleost clade in Antarctica waters, representing ~55% of the species richness (Clarke & Johnston, 1996). This case illustrates a classical case of neofunctionalisation, as the original trypsinogen-like protease gene, which would likely code for a digestive enzyme, did not have any precursor antifreeze activity to improve upon following duplication.

Amazingly, AFGPs have been found in various species of northern cod (Hew et al., 1981; Chen et al., 1997b). Despite being nearly identical to those of the notothenioids, the AFGPs evolved by gadoids were hypothesised to have a distinct evolutionary origin (Chen et al., 1997b). Three main facts support this assumption (reviewed by Cheng & DeVries, 2002). First of all, the signal sequence of the gene coding for the AFGP in the cods is different from that of the notothenioid's gene, and no homologous sequence could be found while browsing the databases. Second, the short repeated motif "Thr-Ala-Ala" that forms the backbone of both AFGPs is coded by distinct codons between the two fish groups, and the amino acid sequence that acts as a spacer in the cod AFGP is completely different (O'Grady & DeVries, 1982; Chen *et al.*, 1997b). Finally, these fish belong to different superorders (cods: Paracanthopterygii; notothenioids: Acanthopterygii) and are thought to have evolved in geographic isolation (Northern and Southern hemisphere origin for the cods and notothenioids, respectively). This considerable genetic distance (Fig. 1.5) renders an independent origin of the AFGP genes by convergent evolution a more plausible scenario than their inheritance from a common ancestor (followed by subsequent loss in all other families of their respective suborders) (Chen *et al.*, 1997b). Indeed, as discussed before in the case of the type II AFPs, the latter scenario would imply that the acquisition of a functional AFGP had to occur well before the initiation of the Cenozoic glaciations. For now, the origin of the cod AFGP remains a complete mystery, and may represent another example of *de novo* gene evolution (neofunctionalisation) in front of a new environmental stress.

Another class of AF(G)Ps, generally grouped as type I AFPs, have a still unresolved evolutionary origin. These alanine-rich, alpha-helix structured proteins also form the most heterogeneously widespread AF(G)P group (Fig. 1.5), having been reported in fishes from four families (Pleuronectidae: righteye flounders (Fourney *et al.*, 1984; Scott *et al.*, 1985); Cottidae: sculpins (Hew *et al.*, 1980; Low *et al.*, 1998); Cyclopteridea: snailfishes (Evans & Fletcher, 2001; Evans & Fletcher, 2005); and Labridae: the cunner, *Tautogolabrus adspersus* (Evans & Fletcher, 2004; Hobbs *et al.*, 2011)). These families can in turn be divided among three orders: the Pleuronectiformes

(Pleuronectidae), Scorpaeniformes (Cottidae, Liparidae, and Cyclopteridae), and Perciforms (Labridae), which all belong to the superorder Acanthopterygii (Nelson, 2006). The most studied type I AFPs originate from the winter flounder, and all share a repetitive unit of 11 residues (Lin & Gross, 1981): Threonine-X₂-(Aspartic acid or Asparagine)-X₇, where "X" is most often Ala (Scott *et al.*, 1987). These AFPs are highly similar in their primary sequence among the three suborders, with half of the remaining AFPs also having 11 repeat units of the Alanine (Ala) residue (except for the sculpin and snaiffsh AFPs).

A common ancestry for these sequences among fish from three suborders thus appears quite unlikely, and Gauthier *et al.*'s (2011) analysis strongly argues for a repeated independent evolution of the type I AFP within the Acanthopterygii by convergence, in response to the relatively recent onset of the Cenozoic sea-level glaciations in wellestablished fish superorders (Scott *et al.*, 1986). The evolutionary origin of each of these genes may then involve distinct precursor genes. The best attempt to find such an ancestral precursor was made by Evans & Fletcher (2005), who studied sequences isolated from a cDNA library constructed from snailfish liver mRNA. Their goal was originally to find the nucleotide sequence coding for this species' type I AFP. Upon sequencing of three of their positive clones (that were hybridised with a snailfish AFP I cDNA probe), these authors first came across two sequences of an egg shell protein, and one sequence of type II keratin. When aligned, significant homologies between portions of the coding sequence of these latter cDNAs and the AFP sequence were found. These

researchers thus proposed that the AFPs from the snailfish may have evolved by cooption of one of these genes.

In contrast to the other AF(G)Ps, the type III AFPs have been exclusively found in representatives of a single suborder: the Zoarcoidei (order Perciformes). Species from five families (out of the nine) have been investigated for the presence of the type III AFPs and tested positive for the gene (Davies et al., 1988; Shears et al., 1993). These species are members of the families Zoarcidae (eelpouts), Pholidea (gunnels), Stichaeidae (pricklebacks), Cryptacanthodidae (wrymouths), and Anarhichadidae (wolffishes). Following searches within the available databases, Baardsness & Davies (2001) hypothesised that the evolutionary origin of these small (~7 kDa) globular proteins was a sialic acid synthase (SAS) gene. SAS is an intracellular enzyme that catalyzes synthesis of sialic acids from N-acetylmannosamine or Man-NAc-6-phosphate and phosphoenolpyruvate. The SAS gene comprises six exons, with the last one corresponding to the sugar-binding domain of the enzyme. The enzyme functions as a homodimer, where the C-terminal of one molecule seals the active site of the other. By so doing it also provides residues that interact with the bound substrate (Gunawan et al., 2005), Baardsness & Davies (2001)'s analysis revealed that the mature short AFP III sequence shared significant identity with that last exon. A decade later, Deng et al. (2010) sequenced the AFP locus of an Antarctic zoarcid fish (Lycodichthys dearboni) and found a SAS gene (called SAS-B) flanking an extensive tandem array of AFP genes. On top of its sugar-binding domain, other regions of homology the SAS-B gene shared with the AFP gene were its 5' UTR and the beginning of its first exon. The afore-mentioned

authors discovered that SAS-B had in fact been translocated to this locus from its original SAS locus, following a duplication event, as the original SAS genes (A and B) are located on a different chromosome from the AFP genes. Thus, a likely hypothesis for the evolution of a type III AFP from a SAS-B gene would be a duplication and translocation of a SAS-B gene, followed by the loss of exons # 1 to # 5 (except for the first part of this first exon) within one of the duplicates, leaving the small sugar-binding domain (exon # 6) bound to its putative signal sequence (first part of exon 1) by the remaining intron # 5 ready to evolve into a fully functional systemic AFP.

Interestingly, Deng and colleagues (2010) reported that the SAS B protein, once expressed *in vitro* and purified, exhibited weak TH (up to 0.015 °C) at a concentration of 2 mg/ml. At an identical concentration, the AFP III obtained from that same fish showed substantial TH (up to 0.67 °C). The reported expression of trace activity by this functional SAS gene brought the authors to conclude that the evolution of the type III AFP illustrated well the concept of "escape from adaptive conflict" (EAC). The EAC model (derived from the subfunctionalisation model) states that a precursor gene with an emergent function (besides its primary function) could see this new function selected for and improved to a certain degree prior to gene duplication (Hughes, 1994; Piatigorsky & Wistow, 1991). Further evolution of the nascent function would be halted by the attainment of conflict with the gene's main function. At that point, duplication would be required to allow further specialisation, by freeing one copy for the evolution of its alternative function. By comparison, the gene subfunctionalisation model stipulates that evolution of the new underlying function will only initiate *after* duplication.

In conclusion, despite highly different evolutionary origins, and the resulting diverse structures, the fish AF(G)Ps all display TH through their ability to bind to ice crystals and halt their growth (Davies & Hew, 1990; Fletcher et al., 2001; Davies et al., 2002). A minute ice crystal presents different planes on which an AF(G)P can bind (see Fig. 1.2); the prism, basal and numerous pyramidal planes, which differ by the spacing between the oxygen atoms of the bound water molecules. Such differential spacing obviously allowed for the diversity of AF(G)P observed today, where different AF(G)P types will bind to different planes of an ice crystal. For instance, winter flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus) type I AFPs will bind to a pyramidal plane of ice (Knight et al., 1991), while type III from ocean pout (Macrozoarces americanus) will bind to both pyramidal and primary prism faces (Antson et al., 2001) thanks to a compound ice-binding site (Garnham et al., 2010). This compound site is fully functional for the so-called OAE type III AFP isoforms, while the isoforms of the other known type (dubbed SP type), have a deficient prism plane ice-binding site (appellation based on the ion-exchange Sephadex resins to which each type of isoform binds; see Chapter 2 for further details). Most other AF(G)Ps also bind to the prism and pyramidal planes, which generates a stabilised hexagonal bypiramidal crystal. That crystal will burst along its caxis if the temperature is lowered beyond the non-equilibrium FP afforded by the AF(G)Ps. Binding to the basal plane of ice seems to be a feat only accomplished by a few AFPs (known as hyperactive AFPs), and is considered to be the basis of their potency (Scotter et al., 2006). The only fish AF(G)Ps likely able to bind to the basal plane is the winter flounder hyperactive AFP (Graham et al., 2008b), discovered by Marshall et al. (2004).

The search for the AF(G)Ps' respective binding sites has been the object of numerous studies, and following the determination of their tertiary structures (by NMR and/or X-ray crystallography), diverse mutant forms of these proteins (especially types I and III AFPs) have been generated and tested for TH, in order to determine the residues that are important for binding. A few models to explain how AF(G)Ps bind to ice have been proposed. The first such model proposed that binding happens through hydrogen bonding at AF(G)P surfaces that are complementary to the ice lattice (Raymond & DeVries, 1977; Chou, 1992; Jia et al., 1996). This model by itself has a few caveats; for example, it fails to explain why free water would not be preferred to ice for binding (Davies et al., 2002). Other studies hypothesised that the binding was mostly performed through hydrophobic effects, where bound water molecules would be released from the ice-binding site upon AF(G)P attachment to the crystal's surface (Chao et al., 1997). However, results from molecular dynamic simulations suggests that a relatively hydrophobic antifreeze protein face could organise and keep water molecules within a lattice near its surface (as clathrates, or ice-like waters), which would in turn help the AFP to bind to ice, through hydrogen bonding (Nutt & Smith, 2008). The recent discovery of bound waters onto a crystallised AFP supports such a scenario, that in turn lead to the proposition of the "anchored clathrate" model for AF(G)P binding, which would theoretically be applicable to all AF(G)P types (Garnham et al., 2011). If proven true, such a mechanism would be the basis for the convergent evolution of all AF(G)Ps.

The first steps into the evolution of fish AF(G)P multigene families

Almost all AF(G)P-producing fishes that have had their AF(G)P gene locus studied were found to have their AF(G)P genes organised as multigene families (Hew *et al.*, 1995; Chen *et al.*, 1997b; Fletcher *et al.*, 2001, Cheng *et al.*, 2003), the exception being the smelt that very likely inherited one type II AFP gene copy from the herring through LGT (Graham *et al.*, 2008a; Graham , com, pers). As AF(G)Ps obviously did not show the activity they do today when they first emerged, the development of multigene families of pro-AF(G)P genes must have been an essential corner stone for the development of freeze resistance in full strength icy seawater. An interesting (yet unanswered) question is: how did fish initially survive in ice laden environments without a fully developed AF(G)P arsenal (*i.e.* only armed with one or low copy numbers of nascent, proto-AF(G)P genes that translated into AF(G)Ps that showed only low to marginal activity? As there is no such thing as freezing "just a little" (Scholander *et al.*, 1957), how did fish succeed in filling the ≤ 1.0 'C gap between their equilibrium FP and that of seawater rapidly enough not to go extinct in face of the cooling climate?

A tentative resolution of this apparent paradox is to postulate that emergence of the first AFP genes occurred in an environment where the FP of seawater was near the equilibrium (colligative) FP of the fish. Marine environments of low salinities do occur, and are most frequently encountered in shallow coastal waters where heavy rain, river discharges and important levels of ice melting take place. For example, extensive areas of brackish waters can be encountered along the Arctic coast, particularly in Northern Russia, thanks to the freshwater input of major river systems and summer ice melt (AMAP, 1998; Fig. 1.6). Important estuaries also exist at lower latitudes. Fish may have evolved a more efficient freeze resistance strategy as they moved into saltier icy waters.

Interestingly, many of the most efficient AF(G)P-producing species encountered today show some degree of euryhalinity/haloplasticity and can – or could potentially – survive in brackish waters. Examples include representatives of the Zoarcoidei, Scorpaeniformes, Clupeidae, Osmeridae (which are mostly anadromous), Gadidae, Labridae, and especially the Pleuronectidae (Novikow *et al.*, 2000; Methven *et al.*, 2001; Le François *et al.*, 2004; Magnussen *et al.*, 2008). For instance, the starry flounder (*Platichthys stellatus*), a marine fish of the family Pleuronectidae, was reported > 100 meters upstream in the Columbia River (reviewed in Orcott, 1950).



Fig. 1.6. Winter salinities (ppt) of the surface waters of the Arctic Ocean, and Northern Pacific and Atlantic oceans (modified from AMAP, 1998).

The above-mentioned fish taxa are mostly found in the Northern hemisphere. In comparison, the salinity of the water is higher and more stable in Antarctica, as no significant seasonal melting of the ice shelves or freshwater input from rivers occurs around the polar continent (O'Grady & DeVries, 1982). The endemic and fully AFGPfortified Antarctic notothenioid fishes, thought to have originated in situ (Eastman & McCune, 2000), may thus have evolved and strengthened their antifreeze defense by other means. One possible scenario (which may also apply to some Northern hemisphere species) is that they did so in deeper waters, during the progressive cooling of Antarctica (Deng et al., 2010). As the temperature slowly cooled below their non-colligative FP, fish with low amounts of a nascent AF(G)Ps dwelling in waters 0.1 °C below their equilibrium FP would theoretically be fully protected, assuming that their AF(G)Ps show enough activity to lower their FP of that 0.1 °C. Moreover, if ice does intrude at depths, the crystals would become thermally unstable when brought down through warmer waters (Deng et al., 2010). The oppressive effect of hydrostatic pressure would also make it increasingly difficult for water to stay in its solid phase, as the FP of seawater linearly decreases with depth (~ 0.0076 °C/10 m) (Fujino et al., 1974). Therefore, these intruding crystals would be quite small, and as a consequence, easier to neutralise with low concentrations of a nascent AF(G)P. This is because TH granted by any AF(G)P is inversely proportional to crystal size (Takamichi et al., 2007). As water continues to cool down gradually over a scale covering millions of years, the freeze resistance of a given species could have progressively improved to the point where it could dwell safely in subzero icv surface waters.

The gradual improvement of freeze resistance in fish, be it in brackish or deeper warm water environments, is supported by the finding that the precursor genes in the Zoarcoids (see previous section) only showed modest activity (Deng et al., 2010). Moreover, the ancestral chimeric protease/AFGP gene of the Nothotheinioids shows transcriptional activity, which indicate that these genes are functional (Cheng & Chen-1999). The resulting proto-AFGP, although not tested for activity, most likely expresses some levels of TH, due to the significant amount of Thr-Ala/Pro-Ala repeats (basis for antifreeze activity) coded by the gene. Finally, it is noteworthy that a fifth type of AF(G)P, originally called type IV AFP, was characterised by Deng et al. (1997, 1998). It was found in the plasma of longhorn sculpin (Mvoxocephalus octodecemspinosus), a fish of the order Scorpaeniformes that synthesises a type I AFP in its skin (Low et al., 2001). In this case, Deng et al. (1997) proposed that the precursor gene of the new type IV AFP was one encoding an apolipoprotein, although evolutionary separation from this alleged precursor is not clearly apparent (Gauthier et al., 2008). Then classified as a new AFP, this protein's status was recently revised. Indeed, despite having the potential to develop antifreeze activity (it expresses traces of TH at high concentrations), this protein apparently was not selected for this role, and thus never evolved into a functional AFP (Gauthier et al., 2008). It is possible that, throughout the vast proteome of any given fish, numerous other proteins happen to exhibit traces of TH. These in turn may have the potential to develop antifreeze activity, given the right conditions.

The TH of any proto-AF(G)P, as low as it likely was, could have meant the difference between life and death during a slight undercooling in a fish's environment. From there, the first step into getting freeze protection in saltier/colder waters would have been to somehow compensate for the initial low activity. An "easy" way to achieve this is to increase the amount of circulating AF(G)P, through the evolution of higher gene dosage. In at least two verified (and two suspected) cases, the evolution of an AF(G)P followed the duplication of an ancestral gene, with modifications accumulating on one of the copies through point mutations, indels, and other mechanisms involved in gene creation, such as atypical splicing and retrotransposition (Ewart *et al.*, 1998; Evans & Fletcher, 2005; Cheng & Chen, 1999; Babushok *et al.*, 2007; Deng *et al.*, 2010). The emergent proto-AF(G)P gene could eventually be duplicated.

In eukaryotic genomes, newly duplicated genes are most often closely located, as direct or inverted repeats. They generally appear as a consequence of mistakes during DNA replication or repair mechanisms, or by meiotic unequal crossing-over, as a result of a non-allelic homologous recombination event between repetitive flanking sequences (Andersson & Hughes, 2009; Hastings *et al.*, 2009). If Darwinian selection favours higher expression of the phenotype, preservation of both copies of a newly duplicated gene will be promoted (Kondrashov & Kondrashov, 2006; Conant & Wolfe, 2008). The resulting doubled expression levels represent a convenient shortcut to the longer trial-and-error mutational process of evolving higher transcription rates (by mutating the promoter region), or improving the original function (by mutating the coding region) on a single gene. More importantly however, a gene tandem becomes the template for higher scale gene amplification, given that positive selection remains poised towards increased

expression of that particular phenotype. The result is the generation of a gene tandem array.

Once an initial AF(G)P gene duplication has spread within a fish population over generations, further gene amplification most often occurs by meiotic unequal crossingover (Hastings et al., 2009). Another amplification mechanism, called rolling circle replication, can create copies of a gene within extrachromosomal circular DNA, initially excised from its original locus (Cohen & Lavi, 2009). This replication mode can produce several copies of the circular sequence at once, independently of the amount of starting material, and the resulting amplified DNA can eventually be re-integrated at the locus of origin through homologous recombination, or elsewhere in the genome (Cohen & Lavi, 2009). Given that natural selection continues to favour an increased number of AF(G)P gene copies over time, more beneficial crossing-over events (and/or rolling circle replication events) will be accumulated over generations. In the end, the increased gene dosage will lead to a concomitant improvement of the freezing resistance potential of the fish through higher synthesis and levels of circulating AF(G)P. Additionally (and as mentioned above), evolution can also act to modify the phenotype itself, by selecting for individuals bearing new beneficial point mutations within those amplified genes.

One or several such gene duplication-amplification (GDA) events will eventually lead to the creation of multigene families. Examples of well-known and ubiquitous gene families include the ribosomal proteins genes (Hatanaka & Galetti, 2004), and the histone genes (Hentschel & Birnstiel, 1981). Interestingly, they also include the C-lectins (Ewart et al., 2001), the trypsinogen- (or trypsin-) like serine proteases (Barrett & Rawlings, 1995), and the sialic acid synthases (at least two members in fish; Deng et al., 2010), which – as discussed in the previous section – supplied members to the evolutionnary processes that lead to the emergence of AF(G)Ps in teleost fishes.

Mechanisms shaping the diversity of AF(G)P gene multifamilies and role of gene dosage in fish speciation

GDA is in fact a ubiquitous mechanism of rapid adaptation to new environmental challenges (Hastings, 2007; Andersson & Hugues, 2009), However, to say that GDA alone has shaped the diversity observed today within all known AF(G)P multigene families would be erroneous. In fact, these gene families have also experienced episodes of contraction/erosion, which may have taken place during interglacials, when selective pressures for the expression of high levels of circulating AF(G)Ps were relaxed. The present ice-age has seen several glacial events (52 in 2.8 Ma), interrupted by interglacial periods (Gibbard & Cohen, 2008). Concurrently, selective pressures for freeze resistance may have gone through as many cycles of intensification/relaxation. During the glacials, sea ice would have been present at lower latitudes, while interglacials would have been characterised by ice formation occurring only at relatively high latitudes, such as we observe today. As glaciers retreated, some populations of AF(G)P-producing fishes would have moved into the newly re-exposed shallow water habitats, thereby remaining in contact with ice. Populations of others freeze resistant fish, however, may have not changed their geographical distribution, and adapted to the warming conditions as a result. In the absence of sea ice, part of their AF(G)P genes would have been deleted by successive crossing over events (and/or inactivated by mutations), as selection would

have stopped to encourage the maintenance of freeze resistance. After several generations, the resulting offspring would survive with lower AF(G)P gene copy numbers, and form an AF(G)P-deficient population. Given enough time, populations exhibiting differences in their freeze resistance capabilities could undergo speciation.

An example of species that have lost most of their AF(G)P genes due to the absence of Darwinian selection for freeze resistance are the temperate notothenioid fishes derived from the Antarctic-evolved family Nototheniadae. These fish are found in the waters of New Zealand (*Notothenia angustata* and *Notothenia microlepidota*) and South America (*Paranotothenia magellanica*), where ice does not form. They are thought to have moved Northwards following the expansion of the austral glacial fronts over the Southern Ocean (likely during the Late Miocene, – 11 Ma ago; Bargelloni *et al.*, 2000; Cheng *et al.*, 2003). These fish have only two to four copies of the AFGP gene, some of which are pseudogenes.

Confronted with the next glaciation, populations/species of secondarily freezesusceptible fish may be extirpated or go extinct, or regain high AF(G)P gene dosage through the amplification mechanisms described in the previous section. They also could retreat to deeper and/or warmer waters, in order to avoid a threat that they can no longer handle. Several deeper dwelling fish species that belong to clades known to produce AF(G)Ps still possess some of these genes, and express low to negligible TH in their plasma. These include, for instance, several righteye flounder species (Scott *et al.*, 1988b; Goddard and Fletcher, 2002). Another example is the spotted wolffish (*Anarhichas minor*). A member of the suborder Zoarcoidei (type III AFP-producing fishes), this

benthic fish shows low to trace amounts of plasma TH (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006). In comparison, its sister species, the shallower dwelling Atlantic wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus*), produces high plasma levels of the type III AFPs (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007). As they are closely related, and both occupy distinct thermal ecozones along a depth gradient (one with the risk of freezing, the other without), these bottom-dwelling fishes offer a good opportunity to study the genetic bases for the evolution of differential freeze resistance capacities, and the potential role such differences play in speciation (see objective of study and chapter 2 of this thesis).

Although an obvious way to regain antifreeze protection in the face of a recurrent threat of freezing is to re-amplify part of an AF(G)P multigene family within a fish population, another possible mechanism could involve the acquisition of genes from another, better protected species. The afore-mentioned LGT hypothesis, according to which an AFP gene from herring would have brought freeze resistance to the smelt, is such an example (Graham et al., 2008a; Graham, com. pers.). In the case of closely related taxa however, a more conventional way to increase one species' AF(G)P gene arsenal could be through natural hybridisation with a fully protected species.

Natural hybridisation is now widely recognized as a source of evolutionary novelty (Dowling & Secor, 1997; Arnold, 1992, 1997; Barton, 2001; Mallet, 2005). If the fitness of a hybrid is superior or equal to that of at least one of its parental species, hybridisation represents a potential shortcut for the restoration of freeze resistance in a population of marine teleosts. If the hybrids are fertile and hybridisation does occur frequently enough, the evolution of functional antifreeze protection could happen within

two scenarios: the creation of a distinct "hybrid species" or the introgression of AF(G)P genes from the hybrids back into a population of the unprotected species (Baack & Rieseberg, 2007; Mallet, 2007). In both cases, as generations pass, a stable AF(G)P locus may develop, after both alleles of most genes become stabilised within the population, which leads to an increased gene dosage, and eventually speciation.

Fish are well known for their propensity to hybridise in nature, especially within freshwater habitats, obviously due to their more constrained physical environment (Hubbs, 1955). For instance, introgressive hybridisation between the rapidly evolving cichlid fishes of Lake Malawi (Africa) generated several new species (Genner & Turner, 2012). Indeed, an ancient hybridization event between a shallow-water rocky habitat "Mbuna" species and a fish belongin to a "Shallow-Benthic" soft-sediment feeder group resulted in the evolution and radiation of a third group of species (the so-called Deep-Benthic types), which species adapted to low light habitats. Thus, although the genomic DNA of these later fish was more closely related to that of the shallow benthic feeders, analysis of their mitochondrial DNA revealed that it was inherited from the Mbuna species (Genner & Turner, 2012).

Within the marine realm, Hubbs (1955) reported that most cases of natural hybridisation occur among flatfish species. These fish often share spawning grounds and readily hybridise not only across species, but also across genera. This indicates the existence of relatively weak pre-and post-zygotic barriers to reproduction among these fishes. For example, when artificial fertilisation is practised on flatfishes (for aquaculture purposes), viable hybrids can even be successfully obtained by crossing species belonging to different families (e.g. Paralichthys olivaceus and Kareius bicoloratus; You et al., 2009). This indicates a lack of gametic isolation, and apparent absence of post-zygotic barrier as the offspring develops and survives. While pre-zygotic barriers result from temporal, habitat, behavioural, mechanical and gametic isolation, post-zygotic barriers correspond to inviability of the hybrids, their sterility, and low fitness in succeeding generations, which is termed hybrid breakdown (Ellisson & Burton, 2008). The strength of these barriers thus dictates the success of hybridization.

The creation of hybrids has gained in popularity in the field of aquaculture, as the F1-hybrids often exhibit what is called "hybrid vigour" (positive heterosis), and sterility (Bartley *et al.*, 2001), which together results in higher growth rates and lower production costs. It can also allow the creation of animals that combine the best characteristics of each parental species. The generation of such high efficiency stocks motivated several breeding initiatives in aquaculture research & development. For instance viable hybrids of the Atlantic and spotted wolffishes were recently created in Québec (Gaudreault *et al.*, 2009), in order to obtain a fish that displays both the high growth rate of the spotted wolffish in cold water (Moksness, 1994), and the freeze resistance of the Atlantic wolffish (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007). The choice of these species was motivated by their overall high potential for cold water farming (Le François *et al.*, 2002). During growth trials however, the hybrids only displayed growth performances comparable to those of the spotted wolffish (Gaudreault *et al.*, 2009), and thus no apaparent hybrid vigour, although more tests are needed. These fish would be expected to produce plasma AFP at an intermediary level to that of their parental species, assuming that this

phenotype is inherited in a Mendelian fashion. In this context, these fish offer a great opportunity to study the impact of hybridisation on freeze resistance and its genetic components (see objective of study and chapter 3 of the present thesis).

Factors controlling the expression of multigene-based freeze resistance

Fish AF(G)P multigene families can comprise anywhere from two members (in the temperate notothenioid Notothenia angustata, suborder Notothenioidei; Cheng et al., 2003) to over a hundred (~150 members in the ocean pout, Macozoarces americanus, suborder Zoarcoidei; Hew et al., 1988). In all cases, multiple isoforms (distinct sequences) have been found within a given AF(G)P family, which differ in size and composition/structure (hence in potency). Such isoforms may even show different patterns of expression (in timing and site).

The species in which the physiology and molecular biology of multigene-based antifreeze protection has been most thoroughly studied is the winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*, family Pleuronectidae) (reviewed in Fletcher et al., 2001; Miao et al., 2002), a small flatfish that inhabit the shallow coastal waters of the Northwestern Atlantic (Scott & Scott, 1988). This species produces three main families of type I AFPs isoforms: the so-called liver AFPs (wflAFPs; Davies et al., 1982), skin AFPs (wfsAFPs; Gong et al., 1996), and the thermally labile hyperactive AFPs (Marshall et al., 2004; 2005). In general, the onset of AFP mRNA transcription in winter flounder is associated with the gradual shortening of day length during the fall, while cold temperatures are needed for the accumulation/retention of the AFPs in the plasma

(Fletcher, 1981; Vaisius et al., 1989). Following several experiments spanning a period of a decade (reviewed in Fletcher et al., 1989), it was concluded that the production of growth hormone (GH) by the pituitary during the summer (but not during the winter) inhibits AFP synthesis in the liver of winter flounder through an unknown physiological chain reaction. They proposed a model where the hypothalamus inhibits the production of GH by the pituitary, in response to the shortening of day length. From there, the transcription of the AFP genes proceed. Following their secretion from the liver, the pre-AFPs signal sequences are cleaved off, and the resulting mature AFPs are distributed throughout the organism.

A decade later, Dr. Hew's team added elements to this model. Their research focused on the molecular interactions between the wfIAFP genes and some transcription factors occurring within the hepatocytes. They observed that the intron of the wfIAFP gene featured an enhancer element (which they named "element B") that binds a liverenriched transcription factor, called CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBPa) (Chan *et al.*, 1997; Miao *et al.*, 1998a). This transcription factor was responsible for the liverspecific transcription of the wfIAFP genes, and may act in conjunction with a second factor, which was dubbed antifreeze enhancer-binding protein (AEBP) (Chan *et al.*, 1997). Miao *et al.* (2002) proposed that the insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) could act as an intermediary between GH and wfIAFP gene transcription within the hepatocytes. According to their scenario, the absence of circulating GH in the fall would halt the hepatic synthesis of IGF-1. The absence of this factor would in turn activate (or increase

the concentrations) of the above-mentioned transcription factors. However, experimental evidence for such a link is not available as vet.

While the wfIAFPs are expressed exclusively in the liver (Gong et al., 1996; Hew et al. 1999) the wfsAFPs seem to be ubiquitously expressed in the fish with higher expression in the peripheral tissues such as the gill filaments and skin (Gong et al. 1996). Their synthesis also seems less responsive to seasonality than in the wflAFPs (Gong et al 1995) The different expression patterns of the wflAEP and wfsAEP isoforms appears primarily to result from a variation within the short intronic sequence of their genes. In the wflAFP genes, this sequence (ataatgtttcatcagcactt), corresponds to the aforementionned "element B" (Chan et al. 1997) that unlocks the transcription of wfIAFP mRNAs exclusively in the liver (Miao et al., 1998a). In the wfsAFP gene, the presence of an additional "TA" (ataatgttttacatcagcactt) within that same intronic sequence (known in this case as element "S") prevents proper binding of the C/EBPg (but not that of the AEBP) to the DNA (Miao et al., 1998b). Consequently, the expression levels of the wfsAFPs are reduced and ubiquitous. Interestingly, another difference between the wflAFP and wfsAFP isoforms is that the latter lack a secretory signal sequence (Gong et al., 1996). Consequently, these AFPs remain intracellular and/or very localy distributed within the skin's interstitial space (Murray et al., 2000; 2002), Obviously, more research is needed in order to fully understand the transcriptional control of this gene, as a supplemental 241bp intronic fragment, exclusive to the wfsAFPs, is also suspected to play a role in the regulation of expression (Miao et al., 1998b). The ubiquitous nature of

the wfsAFPs motivated some authors to hypothesise that they are precursors to the wflAFPs (Gong et al., 1996; Low et al., 2002).

The third known variant of winter flounder AFP, discovered more recently by Marshall et al. (2004) was dubbed "hyperactive" AFP. Its discovery resolved a consistent discrepancy between the measured non-equilibrium plasma FPs of the fish and that of their environment (Scott et al., 1988a). This big (~ 16,7 kDa) mainly alpha-helical protein form homodimers (33,4 kDa) and shows activity 10 to 100 times higher than that of the other winter flounder AFP isoforms (Marshall et al., 2005). Interestingly, and unlike other fish AF(G)Ps, is suspected to be able to bind to the basal plane of an ice crystal (Graham et al., 2008b), hence its hyperactivity (Scotter et al., 2006). Such an AFP was found to be the only freeze protectant circulating in American plaice (*Hippoglossoides platessoides*) by Gauthier et al. (2005).

From the example of the winter flounder, it appears likely that the control of gene expression within AF(G)P multigene families is a complex process in general. Other than the establishment of a causal link between environmental factors and the timing of AF(G)P appearance in the blood (Fletcher *et al.*, 1985; 1987; Lewis *et al.*, 2004; Desjardins *et al.*, 2006), or the observation of presence/absence of AF(G)P mRNAs in different fish tissues (Gong *et al.*, 1992), not much is known about how AF(G)P expression is regulated in other fish species. In the case of the Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*), temperature is known to be the main factor regulating expression of the AFGPs (Fletcher *et al.*, 1987). In type III AFP-producing fishes, photoperiod may be the main trigger, and the temperature the secondary modulator, as these fish seem unable to stop
producing AFP during summer although the levels are significantly lower (Fletcher et al., 1985; Desjardins et al., 2006; 2007; Enevoldsen et al., 2003). The presence of two main classes of type III isoforms (QAE- and SP-types) in the ocean pout (and potentially other species belonging to the suborder Zoarcoidei) justifies the exploration of differential expression among classes of paralogs within a multigene family. Here again, the Atlantic and spotted wolffishes are interesting candidates for such an investigation (see objective of study and chapter 4 of this thesis).

1.2 - Objectives of study

The present study was initiated with the general objective of investigating the molecular bases for interspecific differences and seasonal variation in AFP production in wolffish species. It is known from a previous study that the Atlantic wolffish (AW) produces more plasma AFPs than does the spotted wolffish (SW) (Desjardins et al., 2006), and that the levels of TH in both species show a strong seasonal component, with the highest values reached in winter. The result of this work can be divided into three chapters, presented in manuscript form within the present thesis:

<u>Chapter 2</u>: Antifreeze protein gene amplification facilitated niche exploitation and speciation in wolffish

Evidence from the literature consistently links levels of circulating AF(G)Ps in fish to the degree of environmental severity in term of risk of freezing (Fletcher *et al.*, 1985; Goddard & Fletcher, 2002; Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; Bilyk & DeVries, 2010). Higher plasma TH has in turn been correlated with higher AF(G)P gene dosage (Scott *et al.*, 1988a; Hew *et al.*, 1988; Cheng *et al.*, 2003). Thus fish that inhabit the shallower waters of the freeze risk ecozone, such as the AW, would be expected to possess more copies of their AF(G)P genes than do species that dwell into deeper waters of the same ecozone, such as the SW. In order to verify if AFP gene dosage may be involved in the interspecific difference in plasma TH previously measured between these two species (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006), Southern blots were performed on wolffish DNA. Levels of AFP transcripts in the liver and other tissues were also compared using Northern blotting, and AFP transcripts (as cDNA) were sequenced and analysed, to verify that the AFP genes from both species are functional. Indeed, some species with lower AF(G)P expression were found to have AF(G)P pseudogenes (Cheng *et al.*, 2003). The results are discussed within the context of climatic change characteristic of the present ice age.

<u>Chapter 3</u>: Effect of interspecific hybridization on freeze resistance capacity in wolffish and its evolutionary significance

The recent generation of AW and SW hybrids from captive experimental aquaculture broodstock offered a great opportunity to investigate how the AFP genes are inherited in members of the family Anarhichadidae, as well as the outcome with respect to freeze resistance. Gene dosage and organisation were compared among the hybrids and their parental species by Southern blotting. Expression of the genes was investigated by Northern blotting. Thus we could account for an effect other than that of a variation in gene copy number impacting AFP mRNA transcription levels. Finally, the levels of plasma AFP (as TH) were compared among all fish, in order to evaluate the freeze resistance capacity of the hybrids. The results are discussed with an emphasis on hybrid fitness at different points of the glacial-interglacial cycle, *i.e.* when the intensity of selective pressures for the conservation of high AF(G)P gene dosage may change in temperate fish of the freeze-risk ecozone.

Chapter 4: Temporal and spatial expression of type III AFP genes in wolffish species

Contrarily to the notothenioids from Antarctica, which produce high levels of AFGP year-round, temperate species, including AW and SW (Desjardins et al., 2006) show seasonal fluctuations of their plasma AF(G)P levels, with high TH in winter and low or no antifreeze activity during the summer. In wolffish, it is not yet known how transcript levels are responding to environmental cues. Here, Northern blotting was used to see if the AFP mRNA levels reflect the levels of TH measured in the plasma of the AW and SW during winter and summer. Furthermore, as it is known that different isoforms can be subjected to differential control within a given species (Gong et al., 1995), RT-PCR analyses using primers specific to SP- and QAE-type AFP genes were run on cDNA samples from different tissues sampled in summer and winter, in order to see if the two main AFP gene subfamilies are expressed differently within (and between) species, and between seasons. The results were discussed in relation to evolution of paralogs within a mutigene family.

- CHAPTER 2 -

"Antifreeze protein gene amplification facilitated niche exploitation and speciation in wolffish"

2.1 - Introduction

Changing environmental conditions are an important driving force of natural selection, and the mechanisms behind adaptive responses to past climate change can sometimes be deduced by examining extant organisms. Some 34 Ma ago, the onset of the Cenozoic glaciations challenged life on Earth with subzero temperatures (Zachos *et al.*, 2001; DeConto *et al.*, 2008), likely for the first time after a – 200 Ma period of relative warm climate (Fletcher *et al.*, 2008; Retallack, 2009). Eventually, glaciations reached sea-level and marine life inhabiting shallow waters, which became ice-laden, had to face the threat of freezing.

Unlike marine invertebrates, which are generally isosmotic with seawater, most fish are hyposmotic and can freeze at a higher temperature than the freezing point (FP) of seawater (--1.9 °C). Therefore, in the absence of agents that inhibit freezing, undercooled fish exposed to sea ice rapidly freeze and die (Scholander *et al.*, 1957). Many northern species survive exposure to subzero temperatures below their FP by residing in deeper waters, where they can avoid or reduce the probability of ice contact. Consequently, only species that have evolved a resistance to freezing are able to colonize and exploit the shallower water niches within a "freeze risk ecozone", where the threat of ice contact at subzero temperatures follows a depth and latitudinal gradient. The most studied freeze resistance mechanism in teleost fish is the production of antifreeze proteins (AFPs). Evidence indicates that the structurally distinct types of AFPs and antifreeze glycoproteins (AFGPs) known to science arose independently in a number of diverse fish species (Scott et al., 1986; Chen et al., 1997a,b; Loewen et al., 1998; Fletcher et al., 2001; Baardness & Davies, 2001; Cheng & Detrich, 2007; Deng et al., 2010; Hobbs et al., 2011). These proteins act by non-colligatively lowering the the FP of physiological fluids below their equilibrium FP by binding to, and halting the growth of nascent ice crystals through an adsorption-inhibition mechanism (Raymond & DeVries, 1977; Wilson et al., 1993; Pertaya et al., 2007; Celik et al., 2010). The thermal hysteresis (TH) that results is a measure of antifreeze activity (Kao et al., 1986), and the temperature a which the plasma of AFP-bearing fish will freeze is termed the non-equilibrium FP.

Adaptation to environmental change can occur by the progressive accumulation of point mutations, which change the sequence and/or expression levels of a gene in a favourable way. However, this process can be very slow in the face of acute environmental stress. In contrast, gene duplication/amplification (GDA) is a more facile and rapid solution to such stress. GDA can foster adaptive evolution in two main ways. First, it can increase expression levels to bolster a useful phenotype (Hurles, 2004). For instance, the physiological challenges imposed by the frigid conditions encountered in the Antarctic marine environment likely led to the duplication of at least 118 different genes in the notothenioid fishes (Chen *et al.*, 2008). Second, it provides extra copies that may be less constrained by selection. These copies can then accrue point mutations and other genetic modifications (Ohno, 1970) which may lead to improved or altered function or

the creation of a new phenotype, through gene sub- or neofunctionalisation (Hurles, 2004). Adaptive changes brought about by GDA have repeatedly been observed in the laboratory and in the field to promote resistance against different types of stressors in an array of unicellular and multicellular organisms (Hastings, 2007). In AFP-producing fishes, GDA appears to be responsible for the emergence and diversification of the diverse AFP multigene families in polar and temperate marine fishes (Hew *et al.*, 1988; Scott *et al.*, 1988a,b; Hayes *et al.*, 1989; Chen *et al.*, 1997a,b; Cheng *et al.*, 2013; Graham *et al.*, 2008a; Deng *et al.*, 2010; Hobbs *et al.*, 2011; Nicodemus-Johnson *et al.*, 2011). Eventually, GDA events within a population could lead to the emergence of new species if the stress is maintained long enough to act as a substrate for natural selection.

The Atlantic wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus* – AW) and the spotted wolffish (*Anarhichas minor* – SW) are two bottom-dwelling species of the family Anarhichadidae (suborder Zoarcoidei) inhabiting the waters of the North Atlantic (Barsukov, 1959; Scott & Scott, 1988). The AW can be found in shallow areas (Keats et al., 1985) during periods when sea ice occurs (Côté, 1989), *i.e.* in the "freeze risk ecozone", whereas the SW is usually found at depths greater than 100 m (Kulka et al., 2004) where the potential for ice contact would be minimal. Both species are known to possess and express AFP genes (Scott et al., 1988b; Shears et al., 1993; Desjardins et al., 2006; Cheng et al., 2006). However, only the AW seems to have sufficient levels of AFP in its plasma to resist freezing in ice-laden seawater (Desjardins et al., 2006). Previous studies have noted that fish that have a higher probability of encountering ice (according to latitude, depth of habitat, and salinity) generally have increased levels of plasma AFPs (Hew et al., 1988;

Scott et al., 1988a; Hayes et al., 1991; Wöhrmann, 1997; Goddard & Fletcher, 2002; Nabeta, 2009; Bilyk & DeVries, 2010). The one known exception is the cunner (*Tautogolabrus adspersus*) (Hobbs et al., 2011).

Wolffishes, and other members of the suborder Zoarcoidei, produce type III AFPs (Wang et al., 1995a,b; Hew et al., 1988; Scott et al., 1988b; Shears et al., 1993; Nishimiya et al., 2005). Interestingly, type III AFP has evolved from the small C-terminal domain of the enzyme sialic acid synthase (SAS) (Baardsnes & Davies, 2001; Deng et al., 2010), which is essential for sugar-substrate manipulation (Gunawan et al., 2005; Reaves et al., 2008). It is postulated that an initial duplication in a hypothetical ancestral zoarcoid generated a copy of the SAS gene that evolved towards improvement of initially weak antifreeze activity (Deng et al., 2010). At some point, the portion of the SAS gene encoding the C-terminal domain became linked to an exon encoding a signal peptide. Further amplification would have facilitated high expression levels of an initially weak AFP, while mutations accumulated to optimize both expression levels and antifreeze activity. This is a clear example of adaptive GDA.

All type III AFP-producing fish species examined so far possess multiple AFP gene copies and/or isoforms (Hew et al., 1988; Scott et al., 1988b; Shears et al., 1993; Nishimiya et al., 2005; Deng et al., 2010). These small, globular ~ 7 kDa AFPs can be roughly subdivided into two groups (SP or QAE), based on their ability to bind to either SP or QAE chromatography resin (Hew et al., 1984). While there is > 75% identity among QAE isoforms and > 90% among SP isoforms, lower identity (~ 55%) is observed between the two groups (Hew et al., 1988). To date, SP and QAE isoforms have been found in AW and SW, respectively (Scott et al., 1988b; Cheng et al., 2006), as well as in fish of a related family, the Zoarcidae (Hew et al., 1988, 1988; Nishimiya et al., 2005). Some of the differences in amino acid sequence between QAE and SP isoforms translate into structural differences within their compound ice-binding site (Garnham et al., 2010), such that the SP isoforms show greatly reduced affinity for the primary prism plane. Indeed, SP isoforms tested were unable to completely halt ice growth unless a small amount (1%) of the fully active QAE form was also present, which implies cooperative action (Nishimiya et al., 2005; Takamichi et al., 2009). This case illustrates the level of complexity that rapid adaptation to a new challenge can attain through adaptive GDA under the influence of strong positive selective pressures.

The initiation and development of adaptive GDA is more difficult to witness in complex organisms such as vertebrates, as opposed to microbes or lower multicellular life forms, whose rapid generation times allow for complete laboratory studies. In higher animals, evidence for GDA can often only be observed as "snap-shots" from the natural environment, and deduced through genomic sequence and/or gene dosage comparisons among populations experiencing different environmental conditions. As AW and SW are closely related (sister species) (Johnstone *et al.*, 2007; McCusker & Bentzen, 2010) yet inhabit different depth ranges along the sea-floor habitat, they provide a valuable opportunity to explore the effect of adaptive GDA and differential Darwinian selection on the type III AFP multigene family. In the present study, we compared the gene copy number, nucleotide sequences, and mRNA expression levels of the AFPs in a variety of tissues of these two species. The data clearly indicate that the higher freeze resistance

capacity in the more shallow-dwelling AW, as compared with the deeper dwelling SW, is strongly correlated with gene dosage. This agrees well with the role of GDA in enabling fish to adapt rapidly to the threat of freezing, brought on by the onset of glaciation events.

2.2 - Material and Methods

Animals, experimental conditions and tissue sampling

Atlantic wolffish (AW) were reared from two fertilized egg masses collected in Conception Bay (NL, Canada) in 2000, and were part of the same stock as the fish used in an earlier study (Desjardins *et al.*, 2007). Spotted wolffish (SW) were obtained from crosses between wild fish that had been collected in 2003 from the northern part of the Gulf of St. Lawrence on Beaugé Bank (QC, Canada). Both collection sites lie near the 50th parallel, where water temperatures are heavily influenced by the cold Labrador Current (deYoung & Sanderson, 1995; Colbourne, 2004; Galbraith *et al.*, 2010). All fish were hatched and reared at the Centre Aquacole Marin de Grande-Rivière (MAPAQ, QC, Canada) before being transferred to the Institut Maurice-Lamontagne (Mont-Joli, QC, Canada) where they were reared at 9 °C. They were air-lifted from Mont-Joli to the Ocean Sciences Centre (Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL, Canada) during October 2006, where they were maintained in separate tanks (2 m x 2 m x 0.3 m) at seasonally ambient temperature and photoperiod (Fletcher, 1977), and fed formulated food *ad libitum* (Ewos, Marine).

Blood and tissue sampling took place in early February, during a time when plasma AFP activity levels typically are at their peak (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007). Fish

were held in a smaller water tank to which a lethal dose of anesthetic (benzocaine small50 mg/L]) was added to the water. After 10 min, mensurations were taken, blood was sampled from a caudal blood vessel and treated as described by (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006), and the plasma stored in a -70 'C freezer. Some aliquots of whole blood were also frozen in liquid nitrogen. The anaesthetized fish were given a sharp blow on the head, to ensure that they were dead, prior to dissection. Tissues (liver, skin, gill filaments, stomach, intestine, heart, white muscle, kidney, head kidney, spleen, and brain) were removed from the fish as rapidly as possible, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -70 °C before use.

The guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care were followed during transport and care of experimental animals. All measures were taken to keep pain and discomfort of the fish to a minimum during the blood/tissue samplings.

Thermal hysteresis measurements

Wolffish plasma antifreeze activity was measured as thermal hysteresis (TH, in °C), which is defined as the difference between plasma melting and freezing temperatures in the presence of ice. Measurements were performed using a Clifton Nanolitre Osmometer (Clifton Technical Physics, Hartford, NY, USA) and by following the procedure of (Evans et al., 2007). The temperatures at which a small crystal will start to melt or grow correspond to the melting point and non-equilibrium FP of the fish's plasma, respectively.

Southern blot analysis

High molecular weight genomic DNA was extracted from frozen liver tissue using the method of (Blin & Stafford, 1976) with modifications (Scott *et al.*, 1985). DNA aliquots (10 µg) were then extensively digested with REs *Eco*RI, *Bam*HI, *Sacl* or *Asel* (New England BioLabs, Pickering, ON, Canada). Restriction digests were electrophoresed overnight on 0.8% agarose gels (30 V; 1.5 V/cm), and blotted (Southern, 1975) onto (+) Zeta-Probe GT membranes (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, U.S.A.) using alkaline capillary transfer accordingly to manufacturer's instructions. All following steps were performed as per Graham *et al.* (2008a). The blots were reprobed with β-tubulin cDNA from chicken (Accession no. **V00389**; from 326 bp to 1423bp) as a loading control.

A first-strand cDNA pool was generated from OP liver mRNA that was reverse transcribed using SuperScript IITM RT and an oligo(dT)₂₀ primer (Invitrogen Canada Inc.) as per the manufacturer's protocol. PCR products were generated using primer set 5' #2 and 3' #1 (see PCR conditions below, and Table 2.1), subcloned into a pCR[®]2.1-TOPO[®] plasmid vector (Invitrogen Canada Inc.) using the TOPO[®] TA Cloning[®] Kit (Invitrogen Canada Inc.), and then transformed into Subcloning EfficiencyTM DH5aTM Competent Cells (Invitrogen Canada Inc.) as per manufacturer's instructions. Isolated colonies were inoculated into LB growth medium and plasmid DNA was purified using a Qiaprep Spin Mini Prep KitTM (Qiagen Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada). Several clones were sequenced (three-fold coverage) at the McGill University and Genome Québec Innovation Centre (Montréal, QC, Canada). A PCR fragment was amplified as above from a clone containing a 385 bp insert corresponding to bases 368 to 453 and 628 to 926 of the genomic sequence OP3A from OP (Accession no. **J03923**). This fragment was labeled by the random priming method (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada) in the presence of alpha³²P-dCTP. The resulting probe is expected to hybridize to both QAE and SP-type AFP sequences.

Northern blot analysis

Frozen tissue samples from two individuals of each species were homogenized in TRIzol[®] reagent (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada), and total RNA isolated according to the manufacturer's instructions. All samples were treated with amplification grade DNase. For each tissue analyzed, 1 µg of total RNA was separated on a denaturing 1.2% agarose gel containing 0.67% formaldehyde. The RNA was then blotted onto a positively charged nylon membrane (Roche Diagnostics, Laval, QC, Canada) using a VacuGene XL Vacuum Blotting System[®] (Amersham Biosciences, Piscatawa, NJ, USA), and cross-linked with UV light.

The cloned 385 bp fragment used above for probing Southern blots was subcloned into the pGEM[#]-T Easy Vector (Promega Corp., Madison, WI, USA), which has both SP6 and T7 DNA polymerase recognition sites. A non-radioactive DIG-11-dUTP labeled AFP RNA probe was generated by *in vitro* transcription of this construct using the DIG Northern Starter Kit[#] (Roche Diagnostics Canada).

Pre-hybridization, hybridization, washing and detection procedures were performed according to, and using the reagents recommended by, the protocol provided with the DIG Northern Starter Kit[®], Following incubation with CDP-Star[®], the chemiluminescent signals generated by the hybridized probe were recorded digitally by exposure in a light cabinet (G:BOXiChemi), using the image acquisition software GeneSnap 7.02 from Syngene (Frederick, MD, USA). To ensure the quality of RNA, the blots were stripped and reprobed with a DIG-11-dUTP labeled chicken fl-tubulin RNA probe (see above section). Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) liver total RNA was used as a negative control.

Cloning of AFP genomic and cDNA sequences

Genomic AFP sequences

AW and SW AFP genes were amplified from genomic DNA by PCR using the primers 5' #1 and 3' #1 (see PCR conditions, Table 2.1, and Fig. 2.1). These primers were designed from known sequences (Accession nos. **J03923**, **J03924**, and **M22125**) in order to amplify the complete open reading frame (ORF) of both SP and QAE type III AFP genes. Products were ligated into pCR[®]2.1-TOPO[®], transformed, screened and sequenced as above. At least three-fold coverage was obtained for all sequences. Sequence processing, analysis and comparison were carried out using the CLC Sequence Viewer 6.5.1 software (CLC bio, Katrinebjerg, Denmark).

AFP cDNA sequences

First-strand cDNA was generated from DNase-treated AW and SW total RNA, as described above. One tenth of each RT reaction was then included in PCR reactions using either the primer pair 5' #2 and 3' #1 or 5' #1 and 3' QAE (see PCR conditions and Table 2.1). Primer 3' QAE was designed from the genomic sequence AWG1, obtained during this study (Accession no. JQ040521). Products were resolved on a 1.25% agarose gel and visualized with ethidium bromide. Individual bands were excised, purified using a QIAquick Gel Extraction KitTM (Qiagen Inc.), then cloned and sequenced as described above.

PCR conditions

All PCR reactions were performed using an Eppendorf Mastercycler[®] (Eppendorf Canada, Mississauga, ON, Canada) in the presence of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen Canada Inc.), and sequence-specific primers (Table 2.1). The PCR conditions were as follows:

 Primer set 5⁴/3⁴/1 and 5⁴/2/3⁴/1: the initial denaturation step was carried out at 95 °C for 2 min, followed by 30 cycles of 95 °C (30 s), 60 °C (30 s), and 72 °C (60 s), ending with a final 72 °C elongation step of 10 min.

 Primer set 5#1/3'QAE: conditions were identical to those above with the exception of the annealing temperature, which was 65 °C.

<u>Note</u>: upon manuscript publication, nucleotide sequence data will be available in the GenBank database under the accession nos. AWG1-4, JQ040521, JQ040515, JQ040516, JQ040517, AWE1-3, JQ040522, JQ040523, JQ040524; SWG1-3, JQ040518, JQ040519, JQ040520.

Table 2.1. PCR primers used to amplify AFP sequences from AW and SW and their annealing position on reference sequences. See Fig. 2.1 for the location of the annealing sites of the first three primers, which were designed to amplify both SP and QAE sequences, relative to an SP-type AFP sequence. Primer 3' QAE is specific for some QAE sequences and was designed based on the sequence of AWG1 after it was cloned using 5' #1 and 3'#1.

Primer name	Sequence (5'-3')	Ref. seq. Accession nos.	Position	
5' #1	gttaagteeteecacataetg	M22125	270-290 945-924 387-408	
3' #1	tccggacagacttgggtttgtg	M22125		
5' #2	teteagecacagecatgaagte	M22125		
3' QAE	ctacgcatacgttttcaccate	JQ040521	586-565	
н sн ∔ ∔↓	A SH ∳ ∳∳	A H S' ↓ ↓↓		
5'#1	3'#1 →	← 5'#1 ← 5'#2		
			1 ki	

Fig. 2.1. Map of the tail-to-tail inverted AFP gene duplicates from the BomH1 clone isolated by (Scott et al., 1988b) from which two HindIII subclones were sequenced, each bearing one AFP gene (Accession no. M22125). The first gene, AW1.9 (referred in the present work as AWir) is in a sense orientation, while the second gene, AW1.5, is in inverted orientation. The sequences of both genes are identical, and their coding sequences are shown as grey blocks, with arrows inside indicating the direction of transcription. Restricted above the iner. The third Sact (Sat1) set is polymorphic (indicated by an asterisk), and there are actually three cleavage sites for *Asel* within a 21 bp region (positions 362-382 and 3033-3013). detail not shown) upstream of each gene. The inanelling sites for primer pair 5' #1 and 3' #1, and primer 5' #2 are indicated by arrows underneath the sequence (see Table 2.1 for their precise position on the source sequence). Note: the primers are not to seale.

2.3 - Results

Higher plasma TH activity in the AW compared to the SW is related to gene dosage differences

Representative individuals of the two wolffish species, sampled in February, were tested for their plasma thermal hysteresis (TH) and plasma non-equilibrium freezing point (FP) values (Table 2.2). The two SW individuals had an average TH value of 0.19 °C, which, in combination with colligative solutes, resulted in a FP ~ 1 °C higher than the FP of seawater. In contrast, the two AW individuals had TH values of ~ 1 °C for nonequilibrium FPs of -1.50 °C and -1.85 °C. At this time, the temperature of the ambient seawater in the tanks where the wolffishes were held was still above zero (1.80 °C).

 Table 2.2. Mensurations, plasma non-equilibrium freezing points (FP) and thermal hysteresis (TH) values for AW and SW individuals 1 and 2.

	AW					sw			
Fish #	Mass (g)	Length (cm)	FP (°C)	TH (°C)	Fish #	Mass (g)	Length (cm)	FP (°C)	TH (°C)
1	1614	57.8	-1.50	0.82	1	483	36.6	-0.90	0.24
2	1500	56.5	-1.85	1.19	2	946	40.5	-0.82	0.13

There is some uncertainty as to how *in vitro* TH measurements translate into protection from freezing in the wild. For technical reasons and to facilitate comparisons between samples, TH measurements are typically done with a standard cooling rate that is more rapid than would be encountered in the wild, and a large (50 µm) seed ice crystal is used to start the measurements, both of which tend to lower the absolute TH value (Takamichi et al., 2007). Nevertheless, it is clear that the TH values in the AW are four to five-fold higher than in the SW, using this protocol. As the relationship between TH and [AFP] is hyperbolic rather than linear (Davies & Hew, 1990), the resulting interspecific difference in circulating AFP concentrations is even greater than the TH values suggest.

The above-mentioned results prompted us to examine AFP gene dosage among wolffishes. Southern blot analyses showed that type III AFP genes were present in both species, but that there were many more copies of the genes in AW than in SW (Fig. 2.2). When the DNAs were digested with the restriction endonuclease (RE) EcoRI, the differences in the hybridization patterns detected with an AFP probe (AFP) were quite marked. The AW blot showed seven or eight positive fragments ranging from 3 kb to well over 20 kb (Fig. 2.2A). The intensity of the signal for some of the larger fragments suggested the presence of many co-migrating gene copies. In contrast, only four or five positive fragments were observed on the SW blot. These fragments did not comigrate with any AW fragments nor were they particularly intense. The BamHI digests present a quantitatively similar picture (Fig. 2.2A). However, in these digests, the strongest signal, which is indicative of many gene copies, is now found at around 8 kb in AW. In the SacI digests, the average size of the hybridizing bands was lower, and 15 to 17 bands of varying intensity were observed in AW. In comparison, only seven bands were observed for SW. These latter signals were of a more uniform intensity, consistent with the presence of only one or two copies of the type III AFP gene per band.



Fig. 2.2. Genomic Southern blots for Atlantic wolffish (AW) and spotted wolffish (SW) individuals 1 and 2 probed for AFP genes. The genomic DNA was digested with REs *EcoRI*, *BamHI*, *SacI* (A) and *AseI* (B). Each blot was probed with a portion of an ocean pout QAE-type AFP gene (AFP) then reprobed with chicken J-tubuluin CDNA (TUB) as a loading control. The positions of the DNA size markers are indicated on the left. Individuals 1 and 2 are displayed in their numerical order. A section of the *AseI* blot corresponding to the signal in the vicinity of 2.6 kb from a shorter exposure is shown on Fig. 2.1B, and the putative location of the 2.6 kb band corresponding to the inverted SPtype gene duplicates sequenced by Scott *et al.* (1988b) is indicated by an arrow.

To validate that similar quantities of genomic DNA were originally loaded on the gel, the blot was stripped and reprobed with β-tubulin cDNA (TUB), which is also encoded as a multigene family (Fig. 2.2A). The similar signal intensity for these genes between AW and SW for all three digests indicates that comparable amounts of DNA were loaded in each lane. The banding patterns for TUB were very similar between species, with only a few restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs), such as the absence of the 3.3 kb band in the *Eco*Rl digest of SW DNA. This is consistent with recent speciation in which there has not been sufficient time for variation to emerge in this particular gene family. In contrast, very few of the AFP gene bands had the same size between the two wolffish species, which suggests that the AFP gene locus has undergone dramatic changes since divergence from a common ancestor was initiated in these wolffishes. A comparison of the overall signal intensity suggests that there are – 3 times as many AFP genes in AW than in SW, which is consistent with the higher TH values seen in AW plasma.

Differences in AFP gene copy numbers within a tandem array containing inverted repeats may account for most of the gene dosage differences between AW and SW.

The main difference between the Southern blots of the two species was the presence of intense bands in the AW blot with no equivalent in the SW blot. These strong signals were evident at – 8 kb in the *Bam*HI lanes (Fig. 2.2A). This is consistent with previous restriction mapping and partial sequencing done by Scott *et al.* (1988b), which indicated that the genome of AW contains a tandem array of many copies of a repeated unit, which in turn contains two AFP genes in an inverted orientation (Fig. 2.1). These units, flanked by *Bam*HI sites, do not contain any *Eco*RI sites. Consequently, the high molecular weight signals detected in the *Eco*RI lanes likely correspond to DNA fragments containing multiple copies of this iterated unit. The lack of these intense bands in SW suggests that the tandem repeats are missing (or present at only one or a few copies). The *SacI* digests support this hypothesis (Fig. 2.2A). Indeed, these digests in SW lack the intense signals found in the vicinity of 2 kb and 6 kb in AW. In the latter species, *Sacl* (*Ssrl*) cuts on either side of each AFP gene within the inverted repeats, generating fragments of ~ 2 kb. As one of the restriction sites is polymorphic, ~ 6 kb fragments are generated that contain ~ 4 kb of intergenic sequence (Fig. 2.1) (Scott *et al.*, 1988b). Therefore, these intense AW signals likely correspond to fragments containing a single gene that originate from the tandem array of inverted 8-kb duplicates visible in the *Bam*HI digests. A smaller proportion of the AFP genes previously mapped from AW also show evidence that they were originally tandemly arrayed. In this locus, however, the genes are irregularly spaced and the inverted repeat unit is absent (Scott *et al.*, 1988b). Since there is a *Sacl* (*Ssrl*) site between most of these genes, it is likely that most of the lowerintensity bands visible on the *Sacl* blot originate from that minor gene component and contain but a single cow of the AFP gene (Fig. 2, 2A).

Analysis of two tail-to-tail AW genes previously cloned and sequenced by Scott *et al.* (1988b) indicated that *Asel* cuts 22 bp upstream of the initiation codon, in the highly conserved portion of the 5' UTR of each gene in the inverted repeat (Fig. 2.1). This would generate fragments of ~ 2.6 kb in length containing the two tail-to-tail genes within each repeat. An intense hybridization signal that accounted for roughly two thirds of the total hybridization was observed at this position for both AW specimens. Only a single, low intensity band was observed in the same region for SW, again suggesting that their were some differences between the two AW individuals (Fig. 2.2B, detail). Additional differences between individuals of the same species (more so in AW) were observed in most of the digests, suggesting that the AFP loci are polymorphic.

Total liver AFP gene transcript levels are consistent with gene dosage differences

The presence and levels of AFP mRNA transcripts from a number of tissues were determined by Northern blot analyses of both species (Fig. 2.3). AFP gene expression in AW was found to be at its highest in the liver (Fig. 2.3A,B, lane Li), which is the main secretory organ for most plasma proteins in fish (Fletcher et al., 2001). Liver expression was much lower in SW (Fig. 2.3C-D, lane Li) and this was confirmed when the two species were compared on the same blot (Fig. 2.3E, lanes Li). The peripheral tissues (skin, gill filaments, stomach, and intestine) had significant levels of AFP transcripts in both species (Fig. 2.3, lanes Sk, Gi, St, and In, respectively). Very low levels were detected in some of the other tissues, such as the kidney, but solely in AW (Fig. 2.3A,B). The only notable difference between individuals of one species (SW) was in the levels of AFP transcript observed in the intestine. However, this could be a result of sampling differences, as only a small portion from the middle region of each intestine was used. Finally, AFPs were not expressed in blood cells, so the transcripts detected in the various tissues were endogenous and did not arise from the blood. Overall, tissue expression of AFP gene transcripts is higher in the AW than in the SW, particularly in the liver. This is consistent with - although perhaps not exclusively due to - the higher AFP gene dosage observed in the former species (Fig. 2.2).



Fig. 2.3. Northern blots of Atlantic wolffish (AW) and spotted wolffish (SW) probed for AFP transcripts. Two AW and two SW individuals were included in the analyses. Blots (A) and (B) correspond to AW individuals 1 and 2, respectively, while the blots (C) and (D) correspond to SW individuals 1 and 2. One fish of each species (individuals AW2 and SW1) were also compared on the same blot (E). The tissues analyzed were liver (Li), skin (Sk), gill filaments (Gi), stomach (St), intestine (In), heart (He), white muscle (Mu), kidney (Ki), head kidney (Hk), spleen (Sp), brain (Br), blood (B). Atlantic salmon liver mRNA was included as a negative control (C). Each blot was reprobed with β-tubulin (TUB) mRNA as a loading control. The positions of the RNA size markers (nt) are indicated on the left. Each blot was reprobed with a β-tubulin mRNA probe to confirm RNA integrity and loading. This control house-keeping gene transcript was detected in all tissues but was particularly abundant in the brain, which is known to be rich in tubulin (Lewis *et al.*, 1985; Parker & Detrich, 1998). The signal appeared faint in AW liver, which may indicate that the relative proportion of this transcript in this fixed amount of mRNA (1 µg) was reduced due to the high concentration of the AFP transcript (Hobbs *et al.*, 2008).

AW and SW AFPs are similar to those of other type III producing fishes

A number of cDNA and genomic clones were obtained by PCR amplification from both wolffish species. The deduced amino acid (aa) sequences are aligned in Fig. 2.4A,B.A total of nine unique sequences were obtained from AW; six SP isoforms and three QAE isoforms. The three unique sequences obtained from SW encode SP isoforms, and two encode QAE isoforms previously reported by Cheng *et al.* (2006).



Fig. 2.4. Comparison of the deduced type III AFPs from Atlantic wolffish (AW) and spotted wolffish (SW) with those from ocean pout (OP) and Antarctic eelpout (AEP) (suborder Zoarcoidei). (A) Alignments of QAE and SP isoforms. Three AW and two SW QAE isoforms are aligned in the top block with two OP sequences; OPa (HPLC-12, for which the structure is known, albeit with the C-terminus changed from YPPA to YAA) and OPb (OP3A, which is most similar to the AW isoforms); and an AEP sequence (RD2, which is most similar to the SW isoforms). Note that the "E" in third position in OPb is not present in the GenBank file but more recent sequencing of cDNAs (including the sequence we used as a probe in this study) strongly suggests that the actual splice acceptor site is three bases unstream of the one originally predicted. SP isoforms from AW and SW are aligned in the bottom block with AWir (AW1.9, encoded by one of the genes within a repeat with an inverted duplication), and two OP sequences: OPc (HPLC-3, for which a structure is known) and OPd (OP5A, which is the most similar to the wolffish isoforms). GenBank, SwissProt or PDB database accession nos, are given at the end of the sequences, and the literature references for each can be found in the text (section 4). Sequences below the dashed line in each block were obtained in this study. Putative ice-binding residues are highlighted in cyan (pyramidal plane binding) and green (primary prism plane binding), according to Garnham et al. (2010). Polymorphisms are highlighted in red (with additional differences in dark red), darker blue or green if on the ice-binding surface, or purple if in the core. Only the mature AFP sequences are shown as the signal pentide (MKSAILTGLLFVLLCVDHMSSA) was identical for all the wolffish sequences obtained in this study. The letters G and E in the names of the wolffish sequences indicate whether they were amplified from (G)enomic DNA or (E)xpressed cDNA templates, respectively. The mRNAs were obtained from liver (SWE1, AWE1, AWE3), skin (AWE2) and pancreas (SWE2) (Cheng et al., 2006: this study). Polymorphic sites are indicated below the alignments with "#", and core residues with side-chains that are entirely buried or that show only limited surface exposure in recessed areas are indicated by "B". Asterisks indicate the two sequences with X-ray structures that are shown in (C) and (D). Note: lowercase letters in AWE1 indicate residues that are encoded by the end of the primer used to amplify this sequence. (B) Alignment of representative AW OAE and SP AFPs colored as in (A). Note that only one core residue is altered, (C) Structure of OAEtype OPa (HPLC-12) with residues colored according to their highlighting in (A), with nonhighlighted residues in grey. The image on the right was rotated 180° about the Y-axis. The site of the single conservative substitution on the basal plane ice-binding face (I to L in AWE1, position 13) is in dark blue. Visible on the more variable pyramidal plane ice-binding face are the polymorphisms at sites 19, 20, 41 and 42 (in dark green), (D) Structure of SP-type OPc (HPLC-3) with coloring and rotation as above. The single conservative substitution in the core (I to L) is in purple. The I to M substitution on the basal plane ice-binding face is in dark blue. The single polymorphism on the pyramidal plane ice-binding face (position 20) is indicated in dark green. This image was aligned to the QAE isoform, so that the orientation is the same.

The three newly cloned QAE isoforms from AW were compared to the two published QAE sequences from SW (Cheng et al., 2006) and to three more isoforms obtained from other species of the suborder Zoarcoidei (Fig. 2.4A, top). The three sequences we retrieved from AW are over 93% identical (gaps excluded), and share 80-85% identity with the ocean pout (*Macrozoarces americanus*; OP) isoform OPa (HPLC 12) (Hew et al., 1988) for which an X-ray crystal structure has been determined (Jia et al., 1996). However, they show even higher similarity to OPb (OP3A) (Hew et al., 1988), with identities of 90-91%. The two SW isoforms, which are 95% identical, show the highest identity (83-85%) to the AEP (RD2) isoform from Antarctic eelpout (AEP; *Lycodichthys dearborni*) (Wang et al., 1995a). In contrast, the identity between the AW and SW sequences is lower, at just over 70%. This is not unexpected as QAE isoforms are quite variable, especially near the C terminus. They can even be quite different within a species, as indicated by the ocean pout sequences OPa and OPb, which are only 79% identical. Therefore, the lack of higher identities between the QAE isoforms of SW and AW may be a result of sampling bias, as only five sequences are now known.

It is possible to compare both the coding (276 shared bp) and non-coding sequences of OPb and AWG1 as they were cloned from genomic DNA. These two AFPs are 91% identical at the protein level but their coding sequences are 96% identical (data not shown). A significant percentage (67%) of these mutations causes missense changes and the 174 bp long intronic sequences are 96% identical as well. This suggests that the protein sequence may be under selection for mutational improvements while that same selection maintains the amplicon numbers within the AFP gene locus (Bergthorsson *et al.*, 2007). The portions of the 5' and 3' UTRs interior to the primer annealing sites are also

very well conserved with 97% and 99% identity, over 110 and 73 bp respectively. Additionally, the 3' UTR includes an indel of 31 bp.

The SP-type AFP isoforms from both species were compared to AWir (AW1.9), one of the two AFP genes found in the inverted repeat from AW that was cloned and sequenced by (Scott et al., 1988b) (Fig. 2.4A, bottom). Interestingly, AWE3, which was deduced from a liver cDNA sequence, was an exact match to AWir, When all wolffish sequences are compared, there are only four polymorphic sites visible, and the sequences show at most three polymorphisms (> 96% identity). In addition, some of the sequences are identical between the two species (AWG2/SWG3 and AWG3/SWG1). Two OP isoforms are shown for comparison; OPc (OP5A) (Hew et al., 1988) for which an X-ray crystal structure has been determined (Yang et al., 1998), and OPd (HPLC3) (Hew et al., 1988), which shows the highest overall identity (83 to 86%) of all published zoarcoid sequences to the wolffish genes. Note that OPc is based upon a post-translationally modified protein sequence and that cleavage can occur at both termini, which is thought not to affect activity (Hew et al., 1988), Li et al., 1985).

The high similarity between the SP isoforms of the wolffishes extends to their DNA sequences, including the intronic and partial 5' and 3' UTR sequences (data not shown). For instance, AWG3/SWG1 are also identical at the nucleotide level, while AWG2/SWG3 differ only at one position in the 181 bp intron and two positions within the 79 bp of the 3' UTR, Pairwise comparisons between all isoforms of both species indicate that both coding and non-coding regions are over 96% identical.

In wolffishes, the variability among the QAE sequences is higher than among the SP isoforms. This was also observed within other representatives of the Zoarcoidei, the OP (Hew et al., 1988), and the notched-fin eelpout (Zoarces elongatus) (Nishimiya et al., 2005). However, the greatest differences are seen when QAE and SP isoforms are compared. For example, two representative sequences from AW (Fig. 2.4B) share only 56% identity. The best conserved residues are those that are buried and make up the hydrophobic core of the protein. The ice-binding residues are fairly well conserved while there is a great deal of variability in surface residues that are not on the ice-binding surfaces.

AW and SW AFPs are likely functional

To assess the potential effects of sequence polymorphisms on TH activity, the aa variations in the AFP sequences (Fig. 2.4A) were mapped onto the crystal structures of representative QAE (OPa) and SP (OPc) isoforms in figures 2.4C and 2.4D, respectively. There are 26 polymorphic sites in the QAE isoforms shown in Fig. 2.4A, but the last four are found at the highly variable C terminus that was modified for crystallization (Jia *et al.*, 1996; Yang *et al.*, 1998), so they are not considered further. Only three (20%) of the thirteen core residues are polymorphic (Fig. 2.4A&C, in purple), and two of these substitutions are so conservative (V to 1 at position 5, and L to 1 at position 40) that they are unlikely to significantly affect the protein fold. The substitution of the smaller T residue for M at position 22 could potentially alter the packing of the core to some degree, but is unlikely to totally disrupt the structure. It may be partially compensated for by the spatially adjacent substitution of the slightly larger 1 at position 5. In contrast, the surface exposed residues that are not thought to be involved in ice binding are far more polymorphic (Fig. 2.4A&C, in red and dark red) than the core residues, as there are 14 differences at 37 sites (38% polymorphic). These substitutions are generally less conservative than those observed in the core.

The same general pattern is observed in the polymorphisms found in the SP isoforms. For instance, there is only one core residue polymorphism; the same highly conservative I to L substitution at position 40 as observed in the QAE isoforms (Fig. 2.4A&D, in purple). In fact, this substitution is the only one observed in the core when a SP and QAE isoform from AW are compared (Fig. 2.4B). There are two differences at the C-terminus of the SP isoforms, and five differences among their surface residues located between the putative ice binding sites. Here again, these substitutions tend to be less conservative.

The QAE isoforms have a total of five polymorphisms (Fig. 2.4A&C, in dark green and dark blue) within the 13 residues that are thought to be involved in ice binding. The 1 to L substitution found at position 13 in AWE1 is not found in any other isoform in the database but is so conservative that it is unlikely to drastically reduce antifreeze activity. All of the other polymorphisms are located among residues that belong to the surface postulated to bind to the prism plane of ice (in green) (Garnham *et al.*, 2010). The V to I substitution at position 41 in the SW sequence has also been observed in AEP (Fig. 2.4A), whereas the other three polymorphisms at positions 19, 20 and 42 are predominant in the SP isoforms from wolffish.

SP isoforms have been shown to have ice-shaping activity but lack thermal hysteresis in the absence of QAE isoforms (Nishimiya *et al.*, 2005; Takamichi *et al.*, 2009). This had been attributed to a lack of prism plane binding (Garnham *et al.*, 2010). Substitutions at position 20, (shown in dark green, Fig. 2.4A&D) lie on the nonfunctional prism plane binding site of SP isoforms and should not influence ice-binding activity. The I to M substitution at position 13 (in dark blue) does lie on the functional pyramidal plane binding site (cyan), but is an extremely conservative substitution and has been seen in numerous isoforms from several species (Fig. 2.4A&D and data not shown).

Taken together, the sequences shown in Fig. 2.4A exemplify the remarkable diversity that exists within the AFP gene pool of wolffish (and the AFP III multigene family in general), which is a signature of a highly dynamic locus. The isoforms can be categorized as SP- or QAE-types based on their overall sequence similarities and it is likely that their ice-binding properties would closely correspond to those seen for the QAE and SP isoforms in other species. Thus, none of the polymorphisms that were observed in SW appear strongly deleterious or sufficiently different from those found in other type III AFPs to suggest that they would lead to a drastic loss of activity relative to the isoforms found in AW. Therefore, it is unlikely that point mutations contribute to the reduced freeze-resistance of SW.

2.4 - Discussion

Differences in AFP gene dosage correlate with environment requirements

Following the analysis of a number of genomic and expressed AFP sequences and comparison with sequences in the databases (Fig. 2.4), it was found that Atlantic (AW) and the spotted (SW) wolffish each possess and express both SP and QAE isoforms (Cheng *et al.*, 2006; this study). A combination of these two isoforms is the basis for type III AFP-mediated freeze resistance (Nishimiya et al., 2005; Takamichi et al., 2009). Moreover, their AFPs appear to be functional, and are likely to be under selection for improved function and maintenance of high dosage in AW. As there are – three times more AFP gene copies in AW than in SW (Fig. 2.2), it would appear that gene dosage is largely responsible for the higher plasma TH levels observed in AW. This is in accordance with the differences in risk of freezing faced by the two species, as a result of the depth of their respective habitats. AW are found in the shallow waters of Conception Bay Newfoundland during spring where they can be exposed to sub-zero temperatures in the presence of ice, whereas SW remain in deep water (Keats et al., 1985; Kulka et al., 2004).

According to a modeling study by Svensson & Omsted (1998), small pieces of ice can be driven down to depths of 20 m and more under intense storm conditions. The presence of suspended ice particles, which can nucleate freezing, poses a real threat for fish that are undercooled and lack adequate protection. Indeed, winter kills of fish due to freezing are not uncommon (Green, 1974; Hoag, 2003; Fletcher & Davies, 2012). Considering this, it is likely that SW would freeze to death if exposed to ice, as its average plasma non-equilibrium FP (-0.86 °C) is well above that of the surface waters of Conception Bay in April (-1.82 to -1.83 °C) (deYoung & Sanderson, 1995). AW from Conception Bay were previously shown to have an average non-equilibrium FP of -1.71 (SE ± 0.15 °C) during the early spring (Desjardins *et al.*, 2007), which corresponds well with the values obtained in the present study (average of -1.68 °C). Although this is slightly higher than the actual freezing temperature of seawater, these values are determined using isolated plasma in artificial conditions (as outlined earlier), which are very likely to underestimate the antificeze protection conferred to the fish in their natural

environment (Takamichi et al., 2007). Moreover, the fish's freeze resistance is likely further improved by the presence of AFPs in epithelial tissues such as skin, gills and stomach (Fig. 2.3). In fact, the skin itself has been shown to act as an efficient barrier against ice propagation (Valerio et al., 1992).

A positive correlation between the probability of a fish encountering ice and AFP gene dosage is a recurrent observation and has been found to be the main cause for intraand interspecific differences in levels of circulating AFPs (Hew et al., 1988; Scott et al., 1988a; Hayes et al., 1991; Cheng et al., 2003; Nabeta, 2009; Bilyk et al., 2010). For example, OP from Newfoundland waters were found to have ~ 150 copies of type III AFP genes while those from Southern New Brunswick (where sea ice is less prevalent) had about one fourth this number of genes (Hew et al., 1988). The levels of plasma TH measured in these fish (Fletcher et al., 1985) were consistent with their respective gene dosage. A similar study compared four species of righteve flounders (family Pleuronectidae) that synthesise type I AFPs (Scott et al., 1988a). These fish inhabit innershelf waters off the Newfoundland coast. Southern blot analyses revealed that the two species found in the shallowest areas, the winter flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus) and the smooth flounder (Pleuronectes putnami), had the highest AFP gene copy numbers. This was mirrored by plasma high TH levels during winter, which translated into non-equilibrium FPs of -1.7 °C (winter flounder) and -1.8 °C (smooth flounder) (Goddard & Fletcher, 2002). In contrast, the two other species investigated, the yellowtail flounder (Limanda ferruginea) and the American plaice (Hippoglossoides platessoides), had lower non-equilibrium FPs of -1.1°C (Goddard & Fletcher, 2002). These species are found at depths where they are less likely to encounter ice.

Recent amplification of AFP genes may have led to speciation in wolffishes

AW has been shown to have approximately two thirds of its AFP genes organized as an array of ~ 8 kb direct tandem repeats that each contains two SP genes in inverted orientation, with the remaining genes clustered and irregularly spaced (Scott *et al.*, 1988b). Our Southern blots are consistent with this result (Fig. 2.2A) and the *Asel* digests allowed us to visualize the tandemly repeated gene copies as a cluster of three to four intense bands of ~ 2.6 kb (Fig. 2.1 & 2.2B). The slight size differences observed among these bands is likely due to variability among the intergenic sequences of these duplicates (see restriction maps in Scott *et al.* (1988b)). In contrast, intensely hybridizing fragments of this size, or any size for that matter, are not present in SW. We estimate that SW has roughly a third of the AFP genes of AFP mRNA in the liver (Fig. 2.3), suggesting that these tandem genes are largely responsible for the level of transcript observed in that tissue. As the liver is the primary source of circulating AFPs (Fletcher *et al.*, 2001), this amplified gene array could be responsible for the higher plasma TH levels measured in the AW.

Extensively amplified genes are a hallmark of rapid adaptation (Reams & Neidle, 2004; Fondon III & Garner, 2004; Hastings, 2007). Recent GDA is typified by evenlyspaced tandem arrays of virtually identical genes. Over time, these tend to change into clusters of linked but irregularly spaced genes that are more variable in sequence (Graham, 1995). Tandem arrays are highly unstable, as they are hotspots for unequal crossing over during meiotic homologous recombination events (Despons *et al.*, 2011):

consequently, they may vary within a species. This appears to be the case in AW as the lengths of the tandem duplications vary more in one individual than in the other (Fig. 2.2B, detail). While tandem arrays can expand rapidly within a population under strong Darwinian selection for an amplified phenotype, they can also contract quickly when selection is relaxed (Anderson & Hughes, 2009).

In the Northern hemisphere, evidence shows that Cenozoic sea-level glaciations began at least 2.5 Ma ago (Shackleton et al., 1984), although new evidence (Stickley, 2009) and a recent modeling study (DeConto et al., 2008) suggest that sea ice formation started well before that, ~ 20 to 45 Ma earlier. Type III AFP genes have been found in five families within the suborder Zoarcoidei (Shears et al., 1993; Davies et al., 1988), which suggests that the type III emerged before or during family radiation. Moreover, members of two of these families (wolffishes, OP and other eelpouts) have been shown to have genes belonging to the SP and QAE-type AFP gene subfamilies (Hew et al., 1988; Scott et al., 1988b; Cheng et al., 2006; this study). Therefore, it is likely that the type III gene family emerged and diversified several Ma ago in the common ancestor of these taxonomic groups following at least one GDA event. As the initiation of the sea level Cenozoic glaciations is considered the trigger for independent emergence of different AFP types among unrelated fish taxa (Scott et al., 1986), a similar scenario is proposed as the basis for the diversity observed among the type I AFP genes found in flatfishes of the family Pleuronectidae (Scott et al., 1985, 1988a), and the AFGP genes of the notothenioids (suborder Nothothenioidei) (Cheng et al., 2003; Nicodemus-Johnson et al., 2011).

The last few millions years have seen a succession of glacial and interglacial episodes (Oppo et al., 1995) so it is possible that AFP genes families have expanded and contracted several times since their emergence, and in a differential fashion across species. This could have led to greater gene content diversity among the multigene families of a given AFP type than that seen, for example, in other genes for which there is a constant need. This appears to be the case for the type III AFP genes (SP and QAE) in AW and SW. Indeed, RFLPs are rampant within their AFP locus and the main cause of the interspecific difference in gene dosage is the differential amplification of the tandem repeats. In contrast, there are very few RFLPs in the 8-tubulin gene families from both species, and they are more similar to each other than are the AFP families. Additional examples of diversity within and among individual AFP III gene families are provided by other species. Both major plasma AFP isoforms of the AEP are of the QAE type (see AEP, Fig. 2.4) and originate from a long tandem array (Wang et al., 1995b; Deng et al., 2010), while the third major isoform in AEP is a fusion of two QAE isoforms (Wang et al., 1995b). SP type AFP genes have not been identified in this zoarcid. This contrasts with the AFP gene organization in AW, where tandemly arrayed SP genes represent the major component of its AFP locus (Scott et al., 1988b). In another zoarcid, the OP, AFP gene organization appears to be quite complex relative to that of wolffish and AEP. In this species, the ~ 150 AFP genes encode both SP and OAE types that are not tandemly arrayed, although restriction mapping of genomic clones shows that some of the genes lie within 2 kb HindIII fragments that are clustered but unevenly spaced (Hew et al., 1988). The authors concluded that differences between populations, and even between individuals within the same population, could not be explained simply by the expansion

or contraction of particular repeats and suggested that multiple rounds of contraction and expansion must have occurred. In AW, evidence of an older amplification event (possibly two) can be observed within the cluster of unevenly spaced AFP genes which correspond to the minor component of the AFP gene pool that was mapped by Scott *et al.* (1988b). Indeed, some of the genes were detected within fragments flanked by similar patterns of restriction sites. In contrast, the tandem arrays of SP-type genes in AW genes would be a more recent event, as suggested by their evenly spaced distribution within the array mapped by Scott *et al.* (1988b).

According to recent phylogenetic analyses of mtDNA, AW and SW are sister species that diverged approximately – 1 Ma ago (McCusker & Bentzen, 2010). Their close phylogenic relationship is supported by our recovery of identical SP-type AFP gene sequences (AWG3 and SWG1; Fig. 2.4A), with others being highly similar. Interestingly, the estimated divergence time of AW and SW falls within a period when the North hemisphere glaciation cycles were at their highest intensity (Gibbard & Kolfschoten, 2004), with a new glacial event taking place at – 0.1 Ma intervals over the last Ma (Augustin, 2004). The ebb and flow of glaciers would have resulted in the cyclic emergence and disappearance of depth stratified environments, where ice would be more prevalent in the shallower regions. During each retreat of the glacier fronts, shallow water habitats offering low competition for resources and low predation on the young would become available for colonization by freeze resistant species such as the AW. In contrast, the ancestor to SW would have remained in deeper waters, away from the "freeze risk ecozone". Therefore it is reasonable to suggest that a major contributing factor that led to the evolution of the more freeze resistant AW and its occupation of shallower habitats
would have been the gene amplification events that generated the tandemly arrayed AFP genes found in this species today. Speciation likely occurred in parapatry, as the distribution range of these two species still overlap today (Scott & Scott, 1988).

2.5 - Conclusion

From the evidence collected within the present study, we propose that parapatric speciation - based on habitat depth and risk of freezing associated with these depths between the AW and SW has been facilitated if not triggered by the extensive reamplification of a portion of the AFP multigene family in the genome of the AW, which resulted in higher plasma AFP levels and lower plasma non-equilbrium FP in that species, compared with the SW. Among members of the suborder Zoarcoidae, the observation of significant gene dosage variation between and within species (Hew et al., 1988; Shears et al., 1993; Deng et al., 2010; this study) attests to the plasticity of the type III AFP gene loci, and the rapidity of the molecular adjustments as selective pressures promoting freeze resistance played out in these populations. The observation of important gene dosage plasticity in other AFP multifamilies (Cheng et al., 2003; Scott et al., 1988a), and the likely universal occurrence of tandem arrays of AFP and AFGP genes within the locus (Scott et al., 1988a.b: Deng et al., 2010: Nicodemus-Johnson et al., 2011) extends the possible role of AFP GDA in speciation of AFP-bearing fish in general, during the succession of glacials/interglacials that punctuated the climate since the onset of the Cenozoic glaciations.

- CHAPTER 3 -

" Effect of interspecific hybridization on freeze resistance capacity in wolffish and its evolutionary significance "

3.1 - Introduction

The Atlantic and spotted wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus*, AW; *A. minor*, SW; family Anarhichadidae; suborder Zoarcoidei; Nelson, 2006) are marine fishes characteristic of the demersal species assemblage of the North Atlantic continental shelves and slopes (Barsukov, 1959; Scott & Scott, 1988; Kulka & DeBlois, 1996). Predominantly benthophagic, they feed on echinoderms, mollusks, crustaceans and fish (Albikovskaya, 1983; Scott & Scott, 1988). During the past century, the populations of AW and SW declined heavily in eastern Canadian waters, possibly due to the combined repercussions of fishery activities (by-catch and habitat disruption) (O'Dea & Haedrich, 2000), and anomalous temperature variations since the 1970s (Colbourne *et al.*, 2004; Kulka *et al.*, 2004). The two species are now protected under COSEWIC's (Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada) Species At Risk Act (SARA), and recently became the focus of a recovery/management plan (Kulka *et al.*, 2007).

AW and SW are both found at a wide depth range. In the waters of Newfoundland and Labrador, AW can be encountered from 5 to 350 m (sometimes deeper), while SW is found mainly from 100 to 600 m (Albikovskaya, 1982; Keats *et al.*, 1985; Scott & Scott, 1988; Kulka *et al.*, 2004). AW faces the threat of freezing in the shallowest part of its depth range, which can be considered part of a "freeze risk" ecozone (see Chapter 2).

Consequently, this species produces high levels of plasma antifreeze proteins (AFPs) (Desiardins et al., 2006; 2007). Contrary to the other solutes, these proteins act in a noncolligative manner, and can lower the freezing point (FP) of the fish's hyposmotic body fluids by a full degree Celcius (for a review, see Fletcher et al., 2001). They do so by adsorbing to nascent ice crystals, thus halting their growth (Raymond & DeVries, 1977; Pertava et al., 2007). The fish can then contact and absorb ice without freezing to death, which is invariably the outcome in undercooled animals (Scholander et al., 1957). As ice does not normally penetrate at great depths in the temperate oceans, the closely related SW is thought to be at very little risk of freezing. Consequently, this species has low levels of plasma AFPs, which do not confer freeze resistance (Desjardins et al., 2006). A recent study revealed that the lower levels of circulating AFPs in SW were due to a correspondingly lower AFP gene dosage in the former species, compared with AW (see Chapter 2). More precisely, SW has roughly three times fewer AFP gene copies than in AW. A relationship between AFP gene dosage and freeze tolerance capacity has been consistently observed among AFP-producing fishes (Goddard & Fletcher, 2002; Cheng et al., 2003).

AFP genes are typically organized as multigene families (Fletcher et al., 2001; Cheng et al., 2003). These families likely arose independently in founders of the contemporary fish clades, in response to the new threat of freezing brought forth by the sea-level Cenozoic glaciations (Scott et al., 1986). The family of AFP genes found in wolffishes (which encode the so-called type III AFPs) is shared by other fish of the suborder Zoarcoidei, and varies significantly in terms of gene numbers, organization and composition among – and even within – species (Hew et al., 1988; Scott et al., 1988);

Shears et al., 1993; Nishimiya et al., 2005, Deng et al., 2010). Such variation is also observed in the type I AFP gene family of the Northern hemisphere righteye flounders (family Pleuronectidae) (Scott et al., 1988a; Hayes et al., 1991; Nabeta, 2009), and the antifreeze glycoprotein (AFGP) gene family of the Southern hemisphere notothenioids (suborder Notothenioidei) (Cheng et al., 2003). As the strength of the selective forces promoting freeze resistance likely varied according to the numerous glacial/interglacials (~ 52) that punctuated the Quaternary (Gibbard & Cohen, 2008), the heterogeneity within these different multigene families is likely a product of alternating nounds of strong and relaxed natural selection for this trait in the different fish species (sharing a given AFP gene pool). Thus we can argue that differential amplification-deletion of AFP genes may have promoted speciation among AFP-producing fishes in response to the ever changing climate that characterizes the Quaternary Period (see Chapter 2). This may also explain why some fish found in ice-free environments (such as the SW) still produce AF(G)Ps without an apparent need for them.

Extensive amplification of pre-existing genes is often interpreted as a rapid adaptive response to environmental stressors (Hastings, 2007); in this case, the recurrent threat of freezing faced by fishes over a geologic time scale. It can also foster the emergence of new species (Ohno, 1970; Zang, 2003; Gu *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, two thirds of the AFP gene pool in AW are contained within a large tandem array (Scott *et al.*, 1988b) that appears mainly responsible for the gene dosage difference with SW (see Chapter 2). If it is instrumental in wolffish speciation, this amplification event has to be very recent, as McCusker & Bentzen (2010) evaluated that AW and SW diverged from a

common ancestor ~ one Ma ago. This divergence time coincides with the height of the North Atlantic Pleistocene glaciations (Gibbard & Kolfschoten, 2004).

The synthesis of higher AFP levels in a wolffish subpopulation may have given rise to a new Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) that could dwell in the presence of ice and re-colonize shallower inshore habitats during the retreat of glaciers. However, newly emerged ESUs or species often show incomplete reproductive isolation, and environmental disturbances (natural or anthropogenic) can increase the probabilities for these nascent species to hybridize (Hubbs, 1955; Lamont et al., 2003; Mallet, 2005; Fisher et al., 2006). Natural hybridization occurs more frequently among fish than in any other vertebrate group (Allendorf et al., 2001). Among marine fishes, most cases of interspecific (and even intergeneric) hybridization have been reported among flatfishes, whose benthic habitats and spawning grounds often heavily overlap (Hubbs, 1955). Interestingly, despite their partially overlapping distribution range and close genetic relatedness, no hybrid of the AW and SW has been formally characterised in the wild (Templeman, 1986c; Imsland et al., 2008; McCusker et al., 2008), Robust pre-zvgotic barriers thus seem to prevail between AW and SW, and not enough is known of wolffish biology to understand their basis. What is known, however, is that bypassing this initial barrier through artificial fertilization results in healthy (Gaudreau et al., 2009) and fertile offspring (Savoie, pers, com.). Hence, the maintenance of the wolffish lineages in nature seems to be mainly achieved through pre-zygotic barriers (e.g. temporal, habitat, and behavioral isolation), which in turn may be preserved by the need of the AW to maintain high AFP gene copy numbers.

The present work aimed to evaluate and compare the freeze resistance capacities among F1 AW/SW hybrids and their parental species, based on AFP gene dosage and organization, AFP mRNA expression, and the actual levels of antifreeze protection afforded by the circulating plasma AFPs. The evolutionary significance of wolffish hybridization in an ever changing environment will be discussed, with consideration of anthropogenic disturbance and climate change.

3.2 - Materials and Methods

Experimental animals, conditioning and sampling

The animals used in the present study were all produced in captivity, from broodstock harvested in the Northeastern part of the St. Lawrence Gulf (Beaugé Bank and East Anticosti shelf areas, Québec, Canada). A family of purebred Atlantic wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus*; AW) and two families of reciprocal hybrids of Atlantic and spotted wolffish (*A. minor*; SW) were used. These fish, weighing an average of 47.5 ±16.6 g at the onset of the experiment, were produced and hatched during the winter of 2007 at the Centre Aquacole Marin de Grand-Rivière (CAMGR, MAPAQ, QC, Canada). The *Qlupus* x *djminor* hybrids (family AH2) were derived from the same female used to produce the family of purebred AW (family AH). A different male was used to produce each of these two families, while the *Qminor x djlupus* hybrids (family SH3) were issued from a fertilization event involving the semen of several males (Information about these families is presented in Table 3.1). Ten fish from each of the three families were transferred to separate tanks. The animals, then of age 1⁺, were exposed to seasonally ambient temperature and photoperiod (Fletcher, 1977) from mid-March to mid-April 2008, while fed formulated food (Gemma Skretting Canada, NB) ad *libitum*. At the end of this period, a preliminary evaluation of the plasma AFP levels was conducted for all fish. The results (see Thermal hysteresis measurements) prompted us to initiate a longer exposure trial, using new fish from the same above-mentioned families of purebred AW and reciprocal hybrids (A1: n = 10; AH2: n = 10; SH3: n = 11). The animals were exposed to seasonally ambient conditions starting on October 21st 2008. Five adult purebred SW derived from Québécois (family SQ) and Norwegian (family SN) broodstocks in 2003 were also included in the experiment, to allow for comparison (small SW contemporary to the AW and hybrid wolffish juveniles were not available).

Table 3.1. Breakdown (by family, breed and genitor) of the origin of the wolffish used in this study.

Family	Breed	Genitor provenance	Notes about genitors
A1	Atlantic wolffish (A. lupus; AW)	Québec (Canada)	Same $\[Thega]$ as AH2
AH2	Hybrid (♀lupus x ♂minor)	Québec (Canada)	Same Q as A1
SH3	Hybrid (Qminor x ∂lupus)	Québec (Canada)	Several 3 used
SQ	Spotted wolffish (A. minor; SW)	Québec (Canada)	
SN	Spotted wolffish (A. minor; SW)	Norway	

Blood sampling was conducted on February 20th (2009) for all fish, at a time when plasma AFP activity levels were shown to be at their peak (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007). At that time, the purebred AW and the hybrids were of age 2², while the adult SW where of age 6^{*}. Fish were anesthetized for 10 min in a tub containing 50 mg/L _{final}[benzocaine]. Blood was obtained from a caudal blood vessel using 1 ml heparinized syringe, transferred to heparinized 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes and centrifuged to remove the blood cells (4000 g, 10 min, 4 °C). Plasma samples were stored at -70 °C until analysis. After sampling, the fish were given time to recuperate in oxygenated tubs before being replaced in their respective experimental tanks. Following the measurement of antifreeze activity (thermal hysteresis; TH) in the plasma (see Results section), the two best AFP producers in each family were selected for tissue and blood sampling, which occurred in April, when AFPs are still present in the bloodstream at high concentrations (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007). Fish were anesthetised and blood sampled as described above. The animals were then killed by a sharp blow to the head. Tissues (liver, skin, and gill filaments) were removed from the fish as rapidly as possible, immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -70 °C before use in Northern blotting analyses. Extra liver pieces were flash-frozen for use in Southern blotting analyses.

The guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care were followed during the experiments, and all measures were taken to keep pain and discomfort of the fish to a minimum during the blood/tissue samplings.

Thermal hysteresis measurements

Plasma antifreeze activity was measured as TH using a Clifton Nanolitre Osmometer (Clifton Technical Physics, Hartford, NY, USA) following the procedure of *Evans et al.*, (2007). TH is defined as the difference between the melting and freezing temperatures (°C) of a test solution, and is representative of the AFP concentrations present in that solution, according to a non-linear relationship (Davies *et al.*, 1990). All TH results were expressed as mean ± SD. Statistical analyses (Generalized Linear Model and Mann-Whitney tests) were conducted on the TH data using SigmaPlot 10 (Systat Software Inc.).

At the end of the preliminary trial, the reciprocal hybrids showed similar values of plasma antifreeze activity (TH: 0.24 ± 0.04 °C for family SH3, and 0.27 ± 0.04 °C for family AH2). These values, while lower than those obtained in the AW family ($0.43 \pm$ 0.11 °C), were still superior to average winter levels previously recorded in purebred SW (0.10 °C; see Desjardins *et al.*, 2006). This motivated longer trails to be undertaken (see Result section)

Northern blot analysis

A nonradioactive method was used to detect AW and hybrid wolffish AFP mRNAs from liver, skin and gill tissues on Northern blots, using a 385 bp DIG-11-dUTP-labeled QAEtype-AFP mRNA probe (Roche Diagnostics, Laval, QC, Canada). This probe hybridizes to both QAE and SP-type AFP genomic sequences (please see Chapter 2 for details related to the template and probe generation methods).

Total RNA was extracted from frozen tissues and prepared as outlined in Chapter 2. Briefly, 1 µg of total RNA aliquots were separated on a denaturing 1.2 % agarose gel containing 0.67 % formaldehyde. The RNA was then blotted onto a positively charged nylon membrane (Roche Diagnostics) using a VacuGene XL Vacuum Blotting System[®] (Amersham Biosciences, Piscatawav, NJ, USA), and cross-linked with UV light.

Membrane pre-hybridization, hybridization, stringency washes, blocking and detection procedures were performed as described in Chapter 2 using the kit and reagents supplied by Roche Diagnostics, according to the recommendations by the DIG Application Manual for Filter Hybridization (https://www.roche-appliedscience.com/publications/print_mat/dig_application_manual.pdf). The chemiluminescent signals generated by the hybridized probe were imprinted on a Lumi-Film* Chemiluminescent Detection Film (Roche Diagnostics). Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) total mRNA was used as a negative control, as this species does not have AFP genes.

Southern blot analysis

The DIG-based method was also used to detect AW and hybrid wolffish AFP genes on Southern blots. The DIG-11-dUTP-labeled AFP DNA probe was generated from the same template used to produce the mRNA probe, using the PCR DIG Probe Synthesis Kit[®] supplied by Roche Diagnostics and specific primers (primers 5#2 and 3#1; Chapter 2).

High molecular weight wolffish genomic DNA samples were obtained and prepared as described in Chapter 2. DNA aliquots (AW and the hybrids:10 µg; SW: 20 µg, for ease of visualisation) were digested with restriction endonuclease (RE) *Asel* (New England BioLabs, Pickering, ON, Canada). The choice of this particular RE was deemed the most relevant for interspecific comparison of AFP gene organization and dosage among wolffishes based on the results obtained in our previous study (see Chapter 2). The use of this RE allows AFP genes to be separated on relatively small DNA fragments, and precisely isolates a tandemly arrayed inverted AFP gene duplication that was amplified in AW, but not in SW (Scott *et al.*, 1988b; see Chapter 2).

Restriction digests were electrophoresed overnight on 0.8 % agarose gels (30 V; 1.5 V/cm), and blotted the following day and overnight (Southern, 1975) onto a positively charged nylon membrane (Roche Diagnostics, Laval, QC, Canada), accordingly to manufacturer's instructions. The nylon membranes were then pre-hybridized and hybridized in Easy Hyb hybridization solution at 46 °C. The hybridization step was conducted overnight in the presence of the above-mentioned DIG-11-dUTP-labeled 385 bp QAE-type III AFP probe.

Following hybridization, the membranes were subjected to washes of progressively increasing stringency, as recommended in the DIG Application Manual for Filter Hybridization. Following blocking and successive incubation with alkaline phosphatase-bearing DIG antibody and chemiluminescent CSPD alkaline phosphatase substrate, membranes were exposed to Lumi-Film[®] Chemiluminescent Detection Film (Roche Diagnostics) for signal recording.

Genotyping

Small aliquots of genomic DNA (working concentration: 50 ng/ul) were analyzed to ascertain the hybrid or purebred status of the experimental animals. Two microsatellite markers (loci: Alu27 and Alu28) were chosen for genotyping. These markers, among others, were developed by McCusker *et al.* (2008) and have proven reliable for

identification of wolffish species and hybrids (Gaudreau *et al.*, 2009). This is possible because these microsatellites are inherited in a Mendelian way, with hybrid offspring getting one distinct allele from each parent (Gaudreau *et al.*, 2009), whilst the alleles have distinct size ranges for each species (McCusker *et al.*, 2008).

The choice of markers used in the present study (Alu27 and Alu28) was motivated by the significant interspecific size difference observed by McCusker *et al.* (2008) between the AW and SW amplicons for these loci, with SW being homozygous for both loci. We thus assumed that these two markers would be the most sensible choice for an easy and rapid diagnostic at minor costs. According to the method of McCusker *et al.* (2008), we used fluorescently-labeled primers (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, Canada) in PCRs to amplify these genetic markers in all our fish, and visualized them by capillary electrophoresis in an AB 3730 48-capillary DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Burlington, ON, Canada). The results are displayed in Table 3.2. While the purebred AW (fish 1 & 2) and SW (fish 7 to 10) show values that fall in the predicted size ranges, fish 3 to 6 display a mixture of sizes belonging to both species, thereby confirming their status as hybrids. Table 3.2. Observed amplicon sizes (bp) for the two microsatellite loci (Al227 and Alu28) analyzed in purebred AW and SW and their reciprocal hybrids. In AW, the expected sizes were of 207-283 bp for Alu27 and of 93-253 bp for Alu28. In SW, sizes of 171 bp for Alu27 and of 123 bp for Alu28 were anticipated. The hybrids were expected to show a size combination of the above, due to the previously observed pattern of inheritance (Gaudreau *et al.*, 2009). It is noteworthy that the fluorescent label attached to each primer increases the observed size of the amplicons by 5 to 6 bp (so that Alu27 in SW has a real size of 171 bp and not 177 bp, and so on).

Fish #	Alu27 (blue dye)		Alu28 (green dye)		Breed	Family
1	237	237	232	240	AW	Al
2	237	281	232	240	AW	A1
3	177	281	128	224	Hybrid	AH2
4	177	281	128	224	Hybrid	AH2
5	177	237	128	236	Hybrid	SH3
6	177	237	128	220	Hybrid	SH3
7	177	177	128	128	SW	SQ
8	177	177	128	128	SW	SQ
9	177	177	128	128	SW	SN
10	177	177	128	128	SW	SN

3.3 - Results

Intermediate average plasma TH levels in wolffish hybrids are mainly due to intermediate gene dosage and expression

On average, the wolffish hybrids had plasma antifreeze activity levels (expressed here as thermal hysteresis - TH) somewhat intermediate between those of the purebred AW and SW. Following a four-month exposure to seasonally ambient temperature and photoperiod, the reciprocal juvenile hybrids (*Qlupus x cminor* – family AH2, and \square minor x $\exists lupus$ – family SH3) showed mean February TH values (0.42 °C) that were significantly higher (p < 0.01) than in the of the adult SW (0.20 °C), but significantly lower (p < 0.01) than in the AW (0.66 °C) (Fig. 3.1). These TH levels led to virtually identical mean non-equilibrium FPs in the hybrids (-1.05 and -1.08 °C). In comparison, mean non-equilibrium FPs in the SW and AW were -0.85 and -1.33 °C, respectively (Fig. 3.1).

The observed differences in TH averages among wolffish families were paralleled by differences in AFP gene dosage, with the hybrids showing a number of genes and a banding pattern on the *Asel* Southern blot that appeared intermediate to those of both parental species (Fig. 3.2). A notable feature of the AFP gene profile of the hybrids is the presence of a cluster of four bands in the vicinity of 2.6 kb (see boxed bands in Fig. 3.2). That cluster, also visible in AW, corresponds to bands which contain two inverted AFP genes that belong to an extensive tandem array (Scott *et al.*, 1988b). This portion of the AFP gene pool of AW was not amplified in SW (see Chapter 2). Overall, the four clustered bands (three in AW individual 1) characteristic of AW were visibly fainter in the wolffish hybrids.



Figure 3.1. February mean plasma non-equilibrium FPs of purebred AW (family A1) and reciprocal hybrids (Qlupus x @minor - family AH2, and <math>Qminor x @lupus - family SH3) juveniles, without (grey bars) and with (grey + white bars) the contribution of TH (white bars). Values from purebred adult SW from Québec and Norway families QC and SN) were included for comparison.







The differences in AFP transcription, observed among the wolffish families (Fig. 3.3), were consistent with the gene dosage differences (Fig. 3.2), and reflect their contemporary (April) TH values (Table 3.3), as well as the average values measured in February (Fig. 3.1). The mRNA was obtained from tissues collected from the two best AFP producers (which were determined in February). Among the three tissues investigated (liver, skin and gill filaments), transcription was found to be highest in the liver, as reported previously (see Chapter 2). This result is consistent with the liver as the main purveyor of blood-borne AFPs in most AFP-producing fishes (Fletcher *et al.*, 2001). In comparison, the peripheral tissues tested (skin and gill filaments) yielded lower amounts of transcripts (Fig 3.3), with the general trend for expression levels being to be greater in skin than gills. Here again, the levels of transcript in these epithelial tissues were the highest in AW, the lowest in SW, and intermediate in the hybrids. Since the plasma antifreeze activity initiates its decline during April (in identical experimental conditions; Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007), the plasma TH values contemporary to the blot data (Table 3.3) were generally lower than in those measured in February for the selected individuals (Table 3.4).



Figure 3.3. Northern blots for one individual of A) AW (family A1), $\mathcal{Q}lupus \times \mathcal{J}minor$ and $\mathcal{Q}minor \times \mathcal{J}lupus$ wolffish hybrids (families AH2 and SH3), and B) SW (families SQ and SN). The following tissues were assayed for the presence of AFP transcripts: liver

(L), skin (S), and gill filaments (G). This result is contemporary to the TH and FP values displayed in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3. April individual plasma TH and FP values from the two highest AFP producers from each family (AW: family A1; \Im *lupus x* \Im *minor* and \Im *minor x* \Im *lupus* hybrids: families AH2 and SH3; and SW: families SQ and SN). These values are contemporary to the Northern blot analysis results (Fig 3.3), and the individual used for these blots are indicated by an asterisk next to its TH value.

				Family		
	Fish #	A1	AH2	SW3	SQ	SN
TH (°C)	1	0.77*	0.42*	0.44*	0.02*	0.19*
	2	0.64	0.40	0.38	0.03*	0.17*
FP (°C)	1	-1.41	-1.07	-1.07	-0.68	-0.84
	2	-1.28	-1.08	-1.05	-0.67	-0.87

Table 3.4. Individual plasma thermal hysteresis (TH) and freezing point (FP) values (°C) for both wolffish hybrid families (AH2 and SH3), and the AW family. The two highest values per family are indicated by a (+), while the lowest is indicated by a (-). The two highest AFP producers (+) in each lane were selected for use in Northern blotting (Fig. 3.3).

Family	TH (°C)	FP (°C)
Al	0.60	-1.28
(n = 9) -	0.48	-1.07
	0.70	-1.36
+	0.75	-1.40
+	0.75	-1.40
	0.57	-1.21
	0.71	-1.46
	0.65	-1.30
	0.74	-1.46
AH2	0.48	-1.13
(n = 10)	0.45	-1.10
	0.48	-1.18
+	0.73	-1.39
+	0.50	-1.17
	0.31	-0.95
	0.32	-0.97
	0.49	-1.15
-	0.08	-0.74
	0.33	-0.98
SH3	0.25	-0.91
(n = 11)	0.37	-1.03
	0.37	-1.01
+	0.80	-1.42
+	0.60	-1.26
-	0.20	-0.85
	0.33	-0.99
	0.47	-1.13
	0.25	-0.85
	0.44	-1.10
	0.42	-1.04

The AFP gene locus is highly polymorphic within the hybrid and AW families

The four SW individuals showed what appears to be the same amount of AFP genes (Fig. 3.2), despite the fact that these fish came from either side of the Atlantic. Moreover, a single restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) was detected. In contrast, considerable levels of variation in both the banding pattern and intensity of individual bands could be observed among the blotted DNA from the reciprocal hybrid and AW families (Fig. 3.2). This was even evident between individuals from the same family. For instance, when considering the AW (family A1), three bands were missing in individual 1 compared to individual 2 (between molecular weight markers 2.3 and 4.4 kb). In the hybrids, and within that same size range, the occurrence of such gene presence-absence polymorphisms appeared to be lower, while the intensity of the individual bands was highly dissimilar. This is especially true for the hybrid family AH2, and indicates that the number of copies for all genes localized on bands localized above band "v" is highly variable. Interestingly, the hybrid family AH2 was generated from the same female AW that was used to produce the purebred AW family (A1), and both egg batches were fertilized using the semen of a single male (a different male genitor was used for each family, however).

These high interindividual AFP gene dosage variations observed among the AW and the hybrids may partly explain the striking variation in plasma TH measured in these fish in February (Fig. 3.1, Table 3.4). In Fig. 3.1, it is noteworthy that the SD values are higher in the reciprocal hybrids than in either purebred wolffish species. The individual TH values can be visualized in Table 3.4, which give a better measure of the intense

variation in plasma AFP levels among individuals of a given family. For instance, a difference of 0.65 °C can be seen between the highest and lowest AFP producers in the hybrid family AH2 (Table 3.4). A similar range (0.60 °C) exists between individuals of the hybrid family SH3, while the difference is smaller in the AW family (A1) with a maximum value of 0.27 °C between fish. Variations among SW individuals are even smaller.

Some AFP genes appear to be interspecifically shared

The production of wolffish hybrids offered an easy opportunity to qualitatively explore the extent to which AFP genes are shared between AW and SW. In our previous study (see Chapter 2), we isolated one sequence that was perfectly conserved between the two species (AWG3 and SWG1; GenBank Accession #s: JQ040516, JQ040518). The comparison of the wolffish DNA banding patterns on the Southern blot (Fig. 3.2) showed that a single band corresponding to the position of each of the SW bands could be seen in the hybrid DNA lanes when compared to those of the AW. In other words, the genes contributed by the SW parents to the hybrid offspring are also present in AW. Those genes, that are suspected to be interspecifically shared, are indicated by arrows and roman numbers "f" to "vP" on the Southern blot (Fig. 3.2). It is noteworthy that the band "h^a" (also observed in SW) is located at a size that roughly corresponds to an inverted duplicate of AFP genes in AW (Scott *et al.*, 198b; see Chapter 2). Interestingly, this band seems absent in AW individual 1. A variable number of bands for AW in that -2.6 kb cluster was also recorded in our previous study (see Chapter 2). AW individual 1 also lacks band "*HF*", which is found in all other fishes on the blot.

The highest winter TH values of the hybrids and AW are equivalent

It is noteworthy that while the lowest AFP producers were found among the hybrids (when excluding the purebred SW families), the highest winter (February) values in those families (0.73 and 0.80 °C) ended up being similar to the highest values attained in the purebred AW family (0.75 °C). This was quite unexpected, given the apparent Mendelian inheritance of the AFP genes (Fig. 3.2). These fish, along with the highest producers from the AW and SW families, were thus selected for use in the AFP gene dosage and transcript level comparisons shown in Fig. 3.2 & 3.3. Interestingly, the hybrids showed spring (April) TH values that were more related to their respective gene dosages than were their February values. Other (unknown) factors than gene dosage may thus help explain the relatively high February TH values measured in these individuals, despite the evidently lower gene dosages when compared to the purebred AW individuals.

In all cases (and for all fish families), the TH values amounted to non-equilibrium FPs that were insufficient to grant freeze resistance in ice-laden waters. This is unusual for AW, which is normally known to express high TH under identical experimental conditions (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006; 2007, see Chapter 2). The reason for this low performance could be linked to genetics (parents with lower than average AFP gene dosage), and to the fact that these fish were produced in captivity where natural selection would not act to maintain AFP higher gene dosage. It could also be due to intra-individual

plasticity. Such variations were observed by Desjardins *et al.* (2006; 2007) where, for reasons yet unknown, some of the AW studied went from producing relatively low plasma AFP levels during one winter to expressing higher levels during the next, and inversely (see individuals 4 and 6, Fig. 3.4).



Figure 3.4. Annual plasma thermal hysteresis (TH) profiles from eight adult AW individuals studied by Desjardins *et al.* (2006). Only the average values were previously published.

3.4 - Discussion

On average, the AW/SW hybrids produced winter TH levels that were intermediate between those measured in the AW and SW. These in turn were mirrored by intermediate hepatic levels of AFP mRNAs (based on two individuals sampled in April), which were a direct consequence of an intermediate AFP gene dosage in these fish, compared with AW and SW. In marine teleosts, plasma TH levels have consistently been shown to depend on AF(G)P gene copy numbers, with lower AF(G)P gene dosages apparently failing to provide freeze resistance. Indeed, fish with lower plasma AF(G)P levels are mostly found in deeper or warmer waters, where the risk of freezing is minimal (Hew *et al.*, 1988; Scott *et al.*, 1988a; Cheng *et al.*, 2003; Nabeta, 2009; Desjardins *et al.*, 2006). With a mean non-equilibrium FP of ~ -1.1 °C (maximal individual value: -1.4 °C), the wolffish hybrids surveyed during this study would clearly be at a disadvantage within icy, shallow coastal waters (in which FP varies between -1.7 to -1.9 °C, depending on salinity).

Interestingly, the *Asel*-restricted DNA banding profiles of the AW/SW hybrids revealed that the SW seems to share most (if not all) of its AFP genes with AW. Indeed, a single positive band was detected on the AW and hybrid's Southern blots at the corresponding positions of each SW band. Eventually, some of these orthologs may have accumulated mutations, but the recent discovery of identical genes between the two species (see Chapter 2) suggests that the extent of any sequence divergence may be minor. This agrees with the close genetic relationship between the AW and SW, which are thought to have diverged between 1.37 and 0.83 Ma (McCusker & Bentzen, 2010). As SW has approximately one third of the AFP gene pool of the AW (see Chapter 2), the

hybrids would likely be homozygous or heterozygous for the interspecifically shared loci, but hemizygous for the two thirds of the genes that are exclusive to AW.

Of the AFP genes exclusive to AW, the majority are part of a large tandem array. This feature, partially mapped and sequenced by (Scott et al., 1988b), consists of several repeated units that each contains two AFP genes in an inverted (tail-to-tail) orientation. On our Southern blots, these inverted duplicates could be isolated and visualized as individual DNA fragments, thanks to the use of the RE Asel, which cuts only a few bp upstream of the initiation codons of each AFP genes (see Chapter 2). Based on the information from Scott et al. (1988b), these inverted duplicates are expected to be contained within three to four Asel bands shown in the vicinity of 2.6 kb on the blot, with all the genes they harbour potentially sharing perfect to near-perfect identities.

Sequence homogeneity is characteristic of tandemly arrayed genes, and stems from their recent emergence and/or tendency to undergo gene conversion (Graham, 1995; Despons *et al.*, 2010). Their highly repetitive structure and evenly-spaced genic arrangement flag tandemly iterated genes as "hotspots" for meiotic homologous recombination events (Despons *et al.*, 2010). Apart from gene conversion (which does not affect the number of gene copies and promotes sequence homogenization), the main outcome of recombination between homologous chromosomes is crossing-over. Where sequence misalignment occurs, crossing-over will be "unequal", which will cause the chromosomes from both donor and receiver to be modified on the basis of gene dosage. Thus, each gamete produced by an individual fish has the potential to contain a distinct number of AFP genes. This in turn can significantly affect the number of these genes within a given wolffish population, in one direction or the other, depending on selection.

Gene tandem arrays will be maintained (and potentially expanded within a population) only if Darwinian selection intensely favors the resulting phenotype (Kondrashov & Kondrashov, 2006; Conant & Wolfe, 2008). Relaxation of these selective pressures most often results in a rapid decrease in gene dosage over generations, as a direct result of the intrinsically unstable nature of gene tandem arrays (Andersson & Hughes, 2009).

In the two AW individuals studied here, the highest variability in AFP gene dosage/organization was observed within the ~ 2.6 kb bands on our Southern blot. These bands (which contain genes that are part of the AFP gene tandem array) varied between three and four in number. Significant pattern variability was also previously observed in AW in this region of the *A*sel blot (see Chapter 2). As the AW individuals used in the present study were produced from the semen of a single male, the absence of the second band in the ~ 2.6 band quartet of individual 1 indicates that a deletion happened in the gametes from both parents at that locus. Alternatively, this observation could be due to the occurrence of a mutation at the *Asel* restriction site. However, as these sites (which are AT-rich) seem to be highly conserved among AFP III-producing fishes (Zhang *et al.*, 2009) and that the mutation would have to be present in both gametes, the first explanation appears more likely.

Other bands were observed to be missing in AW individual 1 compared to individual 2. This implies that crossing-over events are not limited to the genes of the aforementioned tandem array. Irregularly spaced gene repeats may act as recombination sites as well, in the measure where pattern(s) of repetition are still obvious, and where dispersion of the genes along a given stretch of DNA is limited. In AW, such genes belong to what Scott *et al.* (1988b) called the "minor component" of the AFP gene locus.

Their restriction map shows that these genes are flanked by sequences that retained patterns of redundancy.

In multigene families, an obvious requirement for protection against gene loss by unequal crossing-over is the dispersion of individual genes within a heterogeneous genic environment (Graham, 1995). Such may be the case for the AFP genes of SW, which may explain their apparent stable dosage and organization (see Chapter 2; this study). Interestingly, some old, well-established multigene families can resist gene dosage alterations while conserving a tandemly arrayed organization and high sequence iteration. An example is the ribosomal RNA gene family. In yeast, DNA replication control mechanisms will restore the native dosage of these genes, in the event of a disastrous loss by unequal crossing-over (reviewed in Grenetier *et al.*, 2006). Such mechanisms obviously do not act on the AW AFP locus, and its general dosage maintenance may depend entirely on natural selection in response to the environment.

In freeze-resistant fishes, variability in AFP gene copy numbers will be tolerated to the extent that the resulting organismic TH is sufficiently high to preclude death in presence of ice. An example of a fish displaying full freeze resistance, despite displaying substantial variability in its gene pool, is set by the unrelated notothenioid *Dissostichus mawsoni*, or Antarctic toothfish (Turner *et al.*, 1985; Cheng *et al.*, 2006; DeVries & Cheng, 2005). Following the sequencing of the antifreeze glycoprotein (AFGP) gene locus of an individual *D. mawsoni*, Nicodemus-Johnson *et al.* (2011) discovered that the haplotypes from this particular fish differed widely in terms of gene dosage and organization. While one haplotype contained 14 copies of the AFGP gene, the other included only eight. Each gene was positioned back-to-back with a trypsinogen

pseudogene, and found within moderately irregularly-spaced tandem repeats. Obviously, this case supports the fact that homologous unequal recombination can happen readily among linked but irregularly spaced genes, and that variation in dosage among haplotypes (and ultimately, individual fish) is not deleterious, as long as freeze resistance results.

The high TH variability measured among the reciprocal AW/SW hybrids is most likely entirely due to the intrinsic gene dosage variability characterizing the AW haplotype. The presence of a single AW haplotype in the hybrids offered a clear view of the genetic rearrangements that are rampant within the highly dynamic and polymorphic AFP locus. The dosage variability was particularly striking within the AH2 hybrids. which shared the same mother as the purebred AW, and were produced using the semen of a single male. Because of the intermediate plasma TH levels derived from their intermediate AFP gene dosage, natural AW/SW hybrids, if they did occur, could not survive in the shallower part of the freeze risk ecozone unless some of these fish inherit a haplotype with unusually high gene dosage from their AW parent. Since there is no intermediacy in freeze resistance, such hybrids could not occupy and specialize within a hybrid zone based on intermediacy for freeze resistance. Their only apparent viable fate would be to remain in the lower risk - deeper - part of the freeze risk ecozone, and/or to back-cross with one of the two founder species through introgressive hybridization. The fact that F2 hybrids were successfully produced in captivity (through artificial insemination) indicates that hybrids could potentially contribute to dosage evolution of the AFP multigene family in wolffishes, if the condition for their occurrence and survival in the wild are met. A potential evolutionary significance of the hybrids would thus be as facilitators of AFP family gene contraction in AW in the absence of freezing risk, and/or the introduction in SW of new members of the type III AFP gene family.

The fact that no hybrids have been formally reported from the wild (Templeman, 1986e; Imsland et al., 2008; McCusker et al., 2008) indicates that the occurrence of hybridization between the AW and SW must be extremely rare (if it occurs at all), which suggests that well-developed pre-zygotic barriers prevail between the two species. However, these natural barriers may be weakened in the face of important environmental perturbations (Hubbs, 1955), whether they be caused by large-scale climatic changes or anthropogenic generalized environment destruction and overfishing, as both types of disturbances have the potential to influence the direction of selection for freeze resistance in marine fishes.

Since the beginning of the Quaternary Period (~ 2.6 Ma), the North Atlantic has seen 52 glacials and interglacials (Gibbard & Cohen, 2008). Within the last Ma only, one glacial event has occured every ~100 Ka (Augustin, 2004), interspersed by relatively short interglacials. It is assumed that seasonal ice formation still occurred over the oceans during these interglacials, although its intensity and range are impossible to know as yet (Lambeck *et al.*, 2002; Otto-Bliesner *et al.*, 2006). Perhaps because of the brevity of these warmer episodes (and/or other unknown factors), separate wolffish species succeeded in maintaining their integrity during their ~ one Ma of existence. However, as the inception of a next glaciation appears to be postponed to a distant future (Tzedakis *et al.*, 2012), the present interglacial is forecasted to shadow the previous ones in both length and intensity. Interestingly, warming water temperatures have been hypothesized to be the impetus for a northward or depth shift in the distribution of different northerm fish species (Perr *et al.*, 2012). 2005; Dulvy et al., 2008). A depth shift in wolffish distribution was also reported by Kulka et al. (2004) who linked it to temperature changes. The displacement of the AW to the deeper level (or out) of the freeze risk ecozone may lead to the intrinsic contraction of AFP gene dosage in AW, through the relaxation of the pressures that maintain high AFP gene dosage in this species. Moreover, if wolffish pre-zygotic barriers are climate-driven, a complete and/or longer suppression of the threat of freezing may encourage the occurrence of natural hybridization with SW (unless the hybrids are unfit for other reasons), which are sympatric to AW in deeper waters (Scott & Scott, 1988).

Another potential facilitator of interspecific hybridization and/or intrinsic reduction of the AFP gene pool in AW are anthropogenic disturbances, through habitat destruction and overfishing. The solitary, non-schooling habits of wolffishes, their slow maturation rate and their use of a K-based reproductive strategy make them particularly vulnerable (Keats *et al.*, 1985; Pavlov & Novikov, 1993; Templeman, 1986a;b; Gunnarsson *et al.*, 2006). Intensive trawling of the sea floor has been shown to profoundly alter the benthic ecosystems on which wolffish species and other apex predators depend for survival (reviewed by Thrush & Dayton, 2010). Although wolffishes are of no commercial value in Canada, they regularly occur as by-catch in diverse ground fisheries. As the coastal fish stocks suffered severe depletion due to overfishing, exploitation of the resource was extended to offshore and deeper waters. Now, in Newfoundland waters, AW is mostly caught at depths of ~ 100 m during ground fish surveys (Kulka *et al.*, 2004). Nevertheless, archeological evidence hints that predatory fishes (including AW) were more prevalent in shallow waters in the past than they are today (Steneck *et al.*, 2004). As green urchins are a major part of the diet of AW in

shallow waters (Keats et al., 1986), it was suggested that the decline of AW populations is linked to the recent proliferation of sea-urchin barrens in coastal waters (Steneck et al., 2004).

3.5 - Conclusion

The observation that SW shares most, if not all, of its genes with the AW strengthens the hypothesis that speciation in wolffishes was based on freeze resistance and prompted by the extensive amplification in an ancestor to AW of an inverted duplicate of AFP genes. Following the evaluation of the plasma AFP levels displayed by the artificially produced AW/SW hybrids studied here, we conclude that such intermediate antifreeze activity could not grant these fish a performance advantage within the shallowest part of the freeze risk ecozone. However, long-term relaxation of Darwinian selection for freeze resistance may contribute to the erosion of the natural reproductive barriers between AW and SW and/or allow the intrinsic compression of the highly dynamic AFP gene pool in the AW (and perhaps the integration of new AFP genes in the genome of the SW). Thus, the maintenance of the anthropogenic and/or natural forces that appear to be directing the displacement of the AW to deeper and/or nonfreezing waters (where the probabilities of encounting ice are lowered, and those of encountering the sympatric SW are increased) could potentially favour AFP gene dosage contraction in wolffishes.

- CHAPTER 4 -

" Temporal and spatial expression of type III AFP genes in wolffish species "

4.1 - Introduction

Since the freezing point (FP) of seawater (\sim -1.7 to -1.9 °C) can be a full degree lower than in their body fluids, marine teleosts of temperate and polar regions are at risk of freezing if they encounter ice while in an undercooled state. As freezing invariably results in death, some fish avoid this threat by living in deep waters, where their biological fluids will remain in a metastable state (Scholander *et al.*, 1957). However, as temperate and polar shallow coastal waters are resource-rich ecosystems, fish that can safely exploit the freeze risk ecozone are clearly at an advantage.

The attractiveness of these environments is reflected in the convergent evolution of freeze resistance in many distinct fish clades, through the emergence and evolution of distinct families of antifreeze proteins (AFPs) and glycoproteins (AFGPs). Five structurebased families of these proteins have been characterised so far (AFGPs and type I, II and III AFPs), all of which are encoded within distinct multigene families (Fletcher *et al.*, 2001). These proteins grant freeze resistance by lowering, non-colligatively the FP of a fish down to that of the surrounding seawater. Despite their distinct evolutionary origins, these proteins all seem to inhibit ice growth by the same general mechanism: by adsorbing to the surface of nascent ice crystals, effectively preventing the binding of more water molecules to the ice (Rawmond & DeVries, 1977).

Unlike the coastal waters of Antarctica, where sea ice is perennial, freezing conditions occur on a seasonal basis in the Arctic and temperate coastal regions. Consequently, fish inhabiting these waters will show seasonal variations of their AF(G)P blood levels, with higher levels of AF(G)Ps present during winter, and moderate to none during summer (Fletcher, 1977, 1981; Fletcher et al., 1982; Fletcher et al., 1985; Enedsolven et al., 2003; Lewis et al., 2004; Desjardins et al., 2006). For instance, the shortening of day length (decreasing of photoperiod) is the impetus for the synthesis of type I AFPs in the winter flounder (Pseudopleuronectes americanus; family Pleuronectidae). In contrast, the Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) needs exposure to cold temperatures in order to exhibit measurable levels of circulating AFGPs, regardless of the photoperiod (Fletcher et al., 1987). In fish of the suborder Zoarcoidei, such as the eelpouts (family Zoarcidae) and the wolffishes (family Anarhichadidae), photoperiod may be the zeitgeber of the antifreeze response (Fletcher et al., 1985; Desiardins et al., 2006). although experimental evidence is wanting. Interestingly, these fish seem unable to halt the synthesis of their type III AFPs, and low to appreciable levels can be measured in their plasma during summer and when water temperature is kept warm year-round in the laboratory (Fletcher et al., 1985; Enedsolven et al., 2003; Desiardins et al., 2006).

Evidence suggests that AF(G)Ps evolved by gene sub- or neofunctionalisation following the duplication of coding sequences whose products exhibited no to very weak antifreeze activity (Chen *et al.*, 1997b; Ewart *et al.*, 1998; Cheng & Chen, 1999; Baardsness & Davies, 2001; Deng *et al.*, 2010). Consequently, it is likely that extensive gene duplication/amplification (GDA) of these nascent sequences (and concomitant higher expression) compensated for the initial sub-optimal performance of the ancestral AF(G)Ps. Apart from providing a shortcut to the achievement of freeze resistance in cold water marine teleosts, another outcome of GDA was the multiplication of templates for adaptive evolution. Consequently, the AF(G)Ps found in fishes today are fully functional and often highly diverse in sequence within a given multigene family (Hew *et al.*, 1984, 1988; Nishimiya *et al.*, 2005; Scott *et al.*, 1985, 1988a; Cheng *et al.*, 2003; Nicodemus-Johnson *et al.*, 2011). In fishes of the suborder Zoarcoidei, the type III AFP genes and their products have been classified within two subfamilies: the QAE- and the SP-type genes. These appellations originate from the propensity of the proteins to either bind QAE (anion-exchange) or SP (cation-exchange) Sephadex resins during ion-exchange chromatography (Hew *et al.*, 1984). Members (genes and proteins) of both subfamilies have been reported in fishes of the families Zoarcidae (Hew *et al.*, 1984, 1988; Wang *et al.*, 1995a,b; Nishimiya *et al.*, 2005) and Anarhichadidae (Cheng *et al.*, 2006; see Chapter 2).

The Atlantic wolffish (Anarchichas lupus; AW) and the spotted wolffish (A. minor; SW), are bottom-dwelling Anarhichadids that inhabit the Northwest Atlantic waters. The AW can be found in shallow waters and produces high levels of type III AFPs in its plasma, while the deeper-dwelling SW produce trace amounts (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006, see Chapter 2). In general, the plasma AFPs in AW and SW will rise to higher concentrations during winter and fall to low or trace levels during summer (Enedsolven *et al.*, 2003; Desjardins *et al.*, 2006). It is not known how these plasma AFP levels relate to the amount of AFP transcripts produced by these fish on a seasonal basis, nor if the two families of isoforms are differentially expressed. The only species studied in that respect is the winter flounder, a fish that produces type 1 AFPs. Two of the three subfamilies of its AFP genes were found to be differently regulated (Gong *et al.*, 1996; Mia *et al.*, 1998a,b), and the levels of plasma AFPs were tightly related to the amount of translatable mRNA in the liver (Pickett *et al.*, 1983). The present study thus has two goals: 1) to evaluate the general levels of type III AFP gene transcripts in winter and summer in different tissues from both AW and SW, and 2) to investigate the spatial and temporal expression of the members of QAE- and SP-type gene subfamilies in wolffishes.

4.2 - Material & Methods

Animals, experimental conditions and tissue sampling

The Atlantic wolffish (AW) and spotted wolffish (SW) used in the present study were derived from the same stock used in Chapter 2. The fish of the two species were maintained in separate tanks (2 m x 2 m x 0.3 m) at seasonally ambient temperature and photoperiods (Fletcher, 1977) in the Ocean Science Centre facilities (Memorial University of Newfoundland), and fed formulated food (Ewos, Marine) *ad libitum*.

Blood and tissue sampling took place in early February 2007, during a time when plasma AFP activity levels are at their peak (Desjardins et al., 2006; 2007). A second sampling took place in July, when the AFP blood levels were at their lowest. Two fish of each species were used. Prior to dissection, the fish were immersed in a smaller tank for lethal anesthesia (benzocaine mal 50 mg/L). After 10 min, blood was sampled from a caudal blood vessel and treated as described by Desjardins *et al.* (2006) in order to retrieve the plasma. The anaesthetized fish were then given a sharp blow on the head, to ensure that they were dead. Various tissues (liver, skin, gill filaments, stomach, intestine, heart, white muscle, kidney, spleen, and brain) were sampled and flash-frozen to prepare for total RNA extractions. All samples (including the plasma samples) were stored at -70 °C before use.

The guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care were followed during transport and care of the fish, and all measures were taken to keep pain and discomfort in our experimental animals to a minimum during sampling.

Thermal hysteresis measurements

Plasma antifreeze activity was measured as thermal hysteresis (TH) using a Clifton Nanolitre Osmometer (Clifton Technical Physics, Hartford, NY, USA) following the procedure of Evans *et al.* (2007). TH is defined as the difference between the melting and freezing temperatures (°C) of a test solution, and is representative of the AFP concentrations present in that solution, according to a non-linear relationship (Davies *et al.*, 1990).

Northern blot analysis

A nonradioactive method was used to detect AW and SW AFP transcripts on Northern blots, using a 385 bp DIG-11-dUTP-labeled QAE-type-AFP mRNA probe (Roche
Diagnostics, Laval, QC, Canada). This probe hybridizes to both QAE and SP-type AFP mRNA sequences (please see (see Chapter 2) for details relative to the template and probe generation methods).

Total RNA was extracted from frozen tissues and prepared as previously described (see Chapter 2). Briefly, 1 ug of total RNA aliquots were separated on a denaturing 1.2 % agarose gel containing 0.67 % formaldehyde. The RNA was then blotted onto a positively charged nylon membrane (Roche Diagnostics) using a VacuGene XL Vacuum Blotting System® (Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ, USA), and cross-linked with UV light. Analyses were first run on the summer samples. Only the mRNA from the tissues that showed significant levels of expression in these summer blots was used to generate the blots for the winter to summer comparison of AFP gene transcript levels.

Membrane pre-hybridization, hybridization, stringency washes, blocking and detection procedures were performed as outlined in Chapter 2, using the kit and reagents supplied by Roche Diagnostics. The chemiluminescent signals generated by the hybridized probe were captured on a Lumi-Film® Chemiluminescent Detection Film (Roche Diagnostics).

RT-PCR conditions

First-strand cDNA was generated from the various mRNA samples through reverse transcription, using SuperScript IITM RT and an oligo(dT)₂₀ primer (Invitrogen Canada Inc.) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) total mRNA was used to generate a negative control (this species does not have AFP genes). One tenth of each RT reaction was then included in PCRs using the primer combinations indicated below (see primer sequences and references in Table 4.1).

The forward primers 5' ALL and 5' ALL-2 sit on the start of exon 1 and ~ 100 upstream of the start codon within the 5' UTR, respectively. The specific reverse primers 3' SP and 3' QAE were designed to anneal in a region of divergence between the SP- and OAE-type AEPs (Fig. 4.1), and are expected to allow for the detection of all isoforms. within each AFP gene subfamily. Comparisons of nucleotide sequences from wolffish (family Anarhichadidae) and ocean pout (family Zoarcidae) found only one polymorphic site within each of these SP- and OAE-specific regions. The subfamily-specific primers were optimized using both pure SP (AWri: GenBank accession number: M22125) and OAE (AWG1: GenBank accession number: JO040521) clones as template. Highly stringent PCR conditions were used, in order to ensure specific amplification. A third primer, 3' OAE-X, was used to detect a specific OAE-type sequence, AWE1, which was previously isolated and cloned from AW liver cDNA (see Chapter 2). Among the published sequences available on the databases, this wolffish QAE-type AFP sequence is most closely related to a genomic sequence from ocean pout (OPb). However, the end of its second exon (which corresponds to the mature sequence of the protein) is distinct from those of other known type III AFP sequences. This was where the specific 3' QAE-X primer was designed (including part of the 3' UTR), from a quasi-identical AW genomic sequence, AWG1 (see Chapter 2). Finally, the primer pair 5' ACT/3' ACT was used to amplify β-actin in salmon cDNA.

All RT-PCR reactions were performed using an Eppendorf Mastercycler⁸ (Eppendorf Canada, Mississauga, ON, Canada), and were conducted in the presence of Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington, ON, Canada). The conditions were as follow:

1) <u>Primer set 5' ALL/3' SP</u>: The PCR was initiated with a "hot start" to minimize the formation of primer-dimers. The initial denaturation step was carried out at 95 °C for 2 min, and a "touch-down" procedure was used for increased specificity, where the temperature of the first cycles decreased from 74 to 66 °C (in 2 °C decrements). Thirty more cycles were performed at that latter annealing temperature. For all cycles, the annealing step lasted 30 sec, and the conditions for denaturation and elongation were 95 °C (30 s) and 72 °C (60 s), respectively, ending with a final 72 °C elongation step of 10 min. The expected amplicon size was – 200 bp.

 <u>Primer set 5' ALL/3' QAE</u>: The conditions were identical to those above, with the exception of the starting annealing temperatures, which decreased from 74 to 60 °C.
The expected amplicon size was ~200 bp.

3) <u>Primer set 5' ALL-2/3' QAE-X</u>: the initial denaturation step was carried out at 95 °C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation, annealing and elongation that lasted 95 °C (30 s), 60 °C (30 s), and 72 °C (60 s) each. The PCR ended with a final 72 °C elongation step of 10 min. The expected amplicon size was – 435 bp. 4) <u>Primer set 5' ACT/3' ACT</u>: The conditions were identical to those above with the exception of the annealing temperature, which was 65 °C. The expected amplicon size was ~675 bp.

The resulting RT-PCR reactions were run on a 1.5% agarose gel in the presence of ethidium bromide, and the resolved bands were visualised with UV light.

Table 4.1. PCR primers used to amplify AFP nucleotide sequences from AW and SW cDNA, and their annealing position on reference sequences (see also Fig. 4.1 for the location of the annealing sites for all primers). Primers used to amplify β-actin sequences from salmon cDNA are also shown.

Primer name	Sequence (5'- 3')	Ref. seq. Accession nos.	Position
5' ALL	teteagecacagecatgaagte	J03924	256-277
3' SP	gatttgggacatctctgcgaac	J03924	630-620
3' QAE	taatcggggaatgtcctcggc	J03923	741-721
5' ALL-2	gttaagteeteecacatactg	J03924	131-151
3' QAE-X	gatggtgaaaacgtatgcgtag	JQ040521	586-565
5' ACT	egeegeactggttgttgaca	AF012125	15-34
3' ACT	agcaggagatgggcaccgc	AF012125	689-671



Figure 4.1. Alignments of SP- and QAE-type mature amino acid sequences from different species of the suborder Zoarcoidei (SW: spotted wolffish; AEP: Antarctic eelpout; QP: ocean pout; AW: Altanic wolffish). The residues corresponding to the primer annealing sites are highlighted in yellow, and those involved in ice-binding are highlighted in cyan. Lower case letters in the amino acid sequences represent an integrated primer sequence (*i.e.* "rw" in AWE1) or an inferred amino acid (*i.e.*, "e" in OPb). The aligned nucleotide sequences corresponding to the amealing sites of the specific SP and QAE primers (3' SP and 3' QAE, respectively) are also shown, with arrows indicating the known polymorphic sites. The asterisks indicate correved nucleotides between the two sequences, and the underlined triplet, the orearing the reading frame.

4.3 - Results

Plasma TH levels were low during summer, and relatively consistent between the two individuals of both wolffish species. The mean TH value was higher in AW (0.28 °C) than in SW (0.18 °C), and these values were proportional to the contemporary levels of AFP mRNAs detected within the liver RNA population of these fish (Fig. 4.2). As liver is the main contributor of circulting AFP in non-notothenioid fishes (Fletcher et al., 2001; Cheng et al., 2006), the translation of these transcripts is likely directly responsible for the higher TH measured in the plasma of AW compared to SW.

When compared to winter (February) data collected on fish from the same lot (see Chapter 2) (Fig. 4.3), the summer TH values were lower in both species, showing a predictable decline. Interestingly however, the corresponding summer levels of AFP mRNA were comparable to those measured in winter in some tissues, namely the liver (Fig. 4.3A,B, top). Another tissue that retained significant summer expression of the AFP genes in the two wolffish species is the stomach (Fig. 4.3A,B, top), although the levels of transcript appeared significantly lower. In the other tissues, a general summer decrease (and sometimes disappearance) of the amounts of AFP gene transcripts was also visible. Overall, the most notable feature in AW and SW is the continuous expression of high (AW) to moderate (SW) levels of AFP mRNAs in the liver and stomach.



Figure 4.2. Northern blots on total RNA extracted from A) two AW and B) two SW individuals during summer. The contemporary plasma TH values ($^{\circ}$ C) are superimposed on the liver hybridisation signals. The tissues sampled were liver (Li), skin (Sk), gill filaments (Gi), stomach (St), intestine (In), heart (He), white muscle (Mu), kidney (Ki), spleen (Sp), and brain (BP), Atlantic salmon liver RNA was used as a negative control.



Figure 4.3. Comparison of winter and summer total AFP mRNA levels (top) and RT-PCR signals (bottom) for SP, QAE, and AWG1-like (QAE-X) sequences in A) AW and B) SW. Individuals 2 (AW) and 1 (SW) from the blots on Fig. 4.2 were used, respectively. The winter individuals correspond to individuals 1 (AW) and 2 (SW) used in Chapter 2. Only the tissues that showed significant levels of activity were used in these analyses, namely liver (Li), skin (Sk), gill filaments (Gi), stomach (St), and intestine (In). Atlantic salmon total liver RNA was used as a negative control in the RT-PCRs. Actin (ACT) was used as a control for the presence of mRNA in each reaction. In order to investigate if the transcription of the AFP genes part of the two main subfamilies of type III AFP sequences were differently regulated and expressed, we performed RT-PCR analyses using primers specific to the published sequences of the SPand QAE-type AFP genes (see M & M section for details). We found that the members of the two known wolffish type III AFP gene subfamilies did indeed exhibit differences in their temporal and spatial patterns of expression (Fig. 4.3A,B, bottom). Overall, both species seemed to express QAE-type AFP transcripts in virtually all tissues. These genes were also expressed year-round, although not always in significant amounts (here, the reader is invited to compare the RT-PCR signals to those visible on the corresponding Northern blots). More precisely, in the tissues where no or faint expression is evident (Fig. 4.3A,B, top), it is unlikely that the transcript levels are of physiological significance for organismal freeze resistance. As RT-PCRs will amplify traces of transcript (Fig. 4.3A,B, bottom), they can only show the presence/absence of transcript, irrespective of the actual amounts.

When compared to the pattern observed on the QAE RT-PCR gels, the RT-PCR signals for SP-type sequences showed marked seasonal changes. While the banding pattern for the SP-type amplicons was sightly different from winter to summer in AW (Fig. 4.3B, bottom), bands were only visible during winter in SW (Fig. 4.3A, bottom). For the latter observation, and because the amount of transcript varies little seasonally, we deduced that most of the expressed AFP genes in SW (Fig. 4.3A, top) must belong to the QAE-type gene subfamily (Fig. 4.3A, bottom). It also appeared that the presence of AFP gene transcripts in the stomach was mostly due to the transcription of QAE genes in both species, as was evident by the absence of a corresponding visible SP-type signal in the RT-PCRs. Finally, the SP genes did not contribute large amounts of transcript in the liver of SW, as the summer and winter AFP mRNA levels were comparable, without a corresponding SP-type liver signal present in the summer RT-PCR. In AW, however, the liver expresses genes belonging to both AFP subfamilies all year.

Interestingly, an RT-PCR assay using a 3' primer specific to a discrete group of genes part of the QAE-type gene subfamily showed an expression pattern distinct from that generated from the complete QAE-type gene pool in AW (no assay was conducted in SW). Expression of these genes occurred exclusively in winter, and in only three tissues: the liver, skin and gill filaments (Fig. 4.3B, bottom, QAE-X gel). A gene belonging to that group (AWG1), and a nearly identical cDNA sequence (AWE1), were previously characterised from AW (see Chapter 2).

4.4 - Discussion

Total AFP transcript levels are not heavily influenced by season

The data gathered within the present study demonstrates that wolffish continue to synthesise AFPs in the summer, even though the proteins are not required (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006). The presence of AFPs in the plasma during the summer was directly related to the persistence of high levels of AFP mRNAs in the liver of both species, which is the main contributor of circulating AFPs in fish (Fletcher *et al.*, 2001). This result implied that transcription of these genes (as a whole) is maintained at long day lengths and warm temperatures. Indeed, although mRNA seasonal profiles from other zoarcoids were not available for comparison, summer plasma TH values (ranging from a low < 0.1 to an impressive 1.35 °C) were reported among members of three other zoarcoid families (Zoarcidae, Pholidae, and Stichaeidae; Fletcher *et al.*, 1985; Enevoldsen *et al.*, 2003). We thus hypothesise that similar maintenance of high levels of AFP transcripts would be observed in other type III AFP-producing fishes (which all belong to the suborder Zoarcoidei). The high aestival hepatic transcriptional activity of the AFP genes in wolffishes contrasted with observations in the winter flounder, for which the levels of liver AFP transcripts were shown to be greatly reduced during summer (Pickett *et al.*, 1983).

In a previous paper surveying the annual profiles of plasma AFP levels in AW and SW, we hypothesised that photoperiod was the zeitgeber for the increase of plasma AFP concentrations in these species. Indeed, AW and SW kept at temperatures above 10 °C but exposed to ambient photoperiod still showed a significant (albeit slight) plasma TH increase during winter (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006). These results also indicate that low temperatures were instrumental to the establishment of the full winter antifreeze response in these fish, when comparisons were made with fish exposed to both ambient photoperiod and temperature. Experimental evidence from the winter flounder points to the importance of cold temperatures for the retention of the liver AF(G)P mRNAs and their products in the bloodstream of the fish, as warm water temperatures likely increase the turnover and excretion rates of the proteins (Fletcher *et al.*, 1981; Dunker *et al.*, 1995). During the course of our present experiment, the temperature to which the wolffish

140

were exposed varied between 6.7 and 11.9 °C and 0.1 and 1.8°C, before the summer and winter samplings, respectively.

At the time, the molecular basis for the reduction in the blood summer TH levels was unknown. Interestingly, and in contrast with previous data on winter flounder, the present observation of high (apparently unaltered) AFP mRNA levels in the liver of both wolffish species during the summer suggests that photoperiod and temperature do not have a significant impact on the levels of total hepatic mRNA transcript in these species. Therefore, the summer decrease of circulating AFPs might be affected at a different level by these environmental factors, possibly at the post-transcriptional level (Keene, 2007). The simplest explanation, though, resides in the balance between plasma AFP synthesis, degradation and clearance. This, however, still does not explain the occurrence of the slight winter plasma TH increase in AW and SW kept at warm temperatures year-round (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006), if they did express similarly stable liver AFP mRNA levels within that later experimental setting.

The expression of SP- and QAE-type transcripts show spatial and temporal variations in wolffish species

The use of specific primers for SP- and QAE-type sequences in RT-PCRs provided the first insight into the existence of differential transcriptional control of the type III AFP genes in wolffish. While the QAE-type genes showed ubiquitous temporal and spatial expression in both species (*i.e.*, bands were observed at the anticipated amplicon size in both winter and summer samples, and for virtually all tissues), the SP- type genes showed a more patchy expression pattern. These genes are apparently not transcribed during summer in SW. Nevertheless, the total amount of AFP transcripts in the liver were comparable to winter levels in that species, thereby suggesting that the plasma AFP levels in SW are mainly contributed by the hepatic expression of QAE-type genes.

The genome of a single fish contains numerous AF(G)P genes, and the evolution of these multigene families likely has a complex history (Hew et al., 1988; see Chapter 2). In a previous study we observed that AW possesses ~ three times more AFP genes than in SW (see Chapter 2). We hypothesised that this difference in gene dosage was mostly due to the presence in AW of a large tandem array of SP-type genes (Scott et al., 1988b), which seems exclusive to that species (see Chapters 2 & 3). In the present study, and contrary to SW, we found that the SP genes are expressed year-round in the liver of AW. We thus postulate that the highest levels of hepatic expression of the AFP genes in AW are mostly due to the year-round transcription of the SP genes part of the tandem array reported by Scott et al. (1988b).

Interestingly, the differential regulation of the AFP genes in wolffish and other zoarcoids promises to be even more complex, as an underlying level of expression control was observed within the QAE-type genes of AW. Indeed, the expression of a specific subgroup of QAE-type genes (what we will call here AWGI-like genes; see Chapter 2), showed an RT-PCR banding pattern (QAE-X) distinct from that of the QAE-type genes as a whole. In AW, these genes were expressed only in the liver, skin and gill filaments during winter (no assays were done in SW). This result shows that type III AFP genes

142

may also be differently regulated within each subfamily, which suggests a complex evolutionary history for the type III AFP gene multifamily.

The involvement of an intrinsic seasonal modulator of plasma TH in type III AFPproducing fishes may be another implication for this last result, although more experimental evidence is needed. A recent study by Takamichi *et al.* (2009) demonstrated a cooperative action between the QAE- and SP-type AFPs purified from a distant relative of the wolffishes, the zoarcid notchfin eelpout (*Zoarces elongatus*). These researchers showed that the presence of the QAE-type isoform (as little as 1% in solution) was essential for the expression of TH by the SP-type isoforms. This difference in specific TH is likely linked to differences in the respective binding sites of these proteins (Garham *et al.*, 2010). Because the SP-type isoforms may contribute a greater proportion of the blood-borne AFPs in AW (contrary to SW), the presence of higher levels of circulating QAE-type AFPs in the plasma during winter may confer higher activity to the ever present and over-expressed SP-type isoforms in the fish's plasma. They may also partly explain the higher plasma TH levels measured in winter in AW kept above 10°C (Desjardins *et al.*, 2006).

Due to the specific diversity and proportion of SP- and QAE-type sequences observable within individual type III AFP gene pools reported in zoarcoids so far (Hew et al., 1984, 1988; Scott et al., 1988; Nishimiya et al., 2005; Cheng et al., 2006), the regulation of AFP gene expression may have evolved as a tailored solution for each species of the suborder. So far, only the open reading frames of a small number of type III

143

AFP sequences are available for analyses. To understand how the transcription of these genes is regulated would warrant an in-depth study of their respective promoter regions.

4.5 - Conclusion

We found that seasonal variation in total levels of type III AFP mRNA was low in both wolffish species, especially in the liver, which export the AFPs to the blood stream. However, our RT-PCR analyses revealed that some level of spatial and temporal differentiation in the regulation of QAE- and SP-type AFP genes occurs, which warrants further investigation. Although the RT-PCR gels only showed the presence/absence of a particular group of transcripts, and thus must be interpreted with caution, these preliminary results nonetheless provide an insight into the complexity of the expression of SP- and QAE type genes within type III AFP-producing fishes. The use of Q-PCR would allow for a more quantitative analysis (once suitable house-keeping genes are identified and tested in wolffish).

- BIBLIOGRAPHY AND REFERENCES -

Aarset AV (1982) Freezing tolerance in intertidal invertebrates (a review). Comp Biochem Physiol A 73, 571-680.

Albikovskaya LK (1982) Distribution and abundance of Atlantic wolffish, spotted wolffish and northern wolffish in the Newfoundland area. *NAFO Sci. Coun. Studies* **3**, 29-32.

Allendorf FW, Leary RF, Spruell P & Wenburg JK (2001) The problems with hybrids: setting conservation guidelines. *TRENDS Ecol Evol* 16, 613-622.

AMAP 1998. AMAP Assessment Report: Arctic Pollution Issues. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP), Oslo, Norway, xii + 859 pp. (accessed online on Jan 27 2012)

http://amap.no/documents/index.cfm?dirsub=/AMAP%20Assessment%20Report%20-%20Arctic%20Pollution%20Issues

Amir G, Horowitz L, Rubinsky B, Yousif BS, Lavee J & Smolinsky AK (2004a) Subzero nonfreezing cryopresevation of rat hearts using antifreeze protein I and antifreeze protein III. Cryobiol 48, 273-282.

Amir G, Rubinsky B, Yousif BS, Horowitz L, Miller L, Leor J, Kassif Y, Mishaly D, Smolinsky AK & Lavee J (2004b) Prolonged 24-hour subzero preservation of heterotopically transplanted rat hearts using antifreeze proteins derived from Arctic fish. Am Thorac Surg 77, 1648-1655.

Amorwittawat N, Wang S, Banatlao J, Chung M, Velasco E, Duman JG & Wen X (2009) Effects of polyhydroxy compounds on beetle antifreeze protein activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1794, 341-346.

Andersson DI & Hughes D (2009) Gene amplification and adaptive evolution in bacteria. Annu Rev Genet 43, 167-195.

Arav A, Rubinsky B, Fletcher G & Seren E (1993) Cryogenic protection of oocytes with antifreeze proteins. *Mol Repro Dev* 36, 488-493.

Arnold ML (1992) Natural hybridization as an evolutionary process. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 23, 237-261.

Arnold ML (1997) Natural hybridization and evolution. Oxford University Press, New York, USA, 215 p.

Augustin L (2004) Eight glacial cycles from an Antarctic ice core. Nature 429: 623-628.

Azuma Y, Kumazawa Y, Miya M, Mabuchi K & Nishida M (2008) Mitogenomic evaluation of the historical biogeography of cichlids toward reliable dating of teleostean divergences. *BMC Evol Biol* 8, 215.

Baack EJ & Rieseberg LH (2007) A genomic view of introgression and hybrid speciation. Curr Opin Gen Dev 17, 513-518.

Baardsnes J & Davies PL (2001) Sialic acid synthase: the origin of fish type III antifreeze protein? *Trends Biochem Sci* 26, 468-469.

Babushok DV, Ostertag EM & Kazazian HH (2007) Current topics in genome evolution: Molecular mechanisms of new gene formation. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 64, 542-554.

Bargelloni L, Marcato S, Zane L & Patarnello T (2000) Mitochondrial phylogeny of notothenioids: a molecular approach to Antarctic fish evolution and biogeography. Syst Biol 49, 114-129

Barrett AJ & Rawlings ND (1995) Families and clans of serine peptidases. Arch Biochem Biophys 318, 247-250.

Barsukov VV (1959) The wolffish (Anarhichadidae). Tr Zool Inst Akad Nak SSSR 5. (Transl. for Smithsonian Institute and National Science Foundation, Washington, D.C., by Indian National Scientific Documentation Centre, New Delhi, 1972).

Bartley DM, Rana K & Immink AJ (2001) The use of inter-specific hybrids in aquaculture and fisheries. *Rev Fish Biol Fish* 10, 325-337.

Barton NH (2001) The role of hybridization in evolution. Mol Biol 10, 551-568.

Becker N, Petric D, Zgomba M, Boase C, Madon M, Dahl C & Kaiser A (2010) Mosquito and their control. 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 577 p.

Bergthorsson U, Andersson DI & Roth JR (2007) Ohno's dilemma: evolution of new genes under continuous selection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104, 17004-17009.

Bilyk KT & DeVries AL (2010) Freezing avoidance of the Antarctic icefishes (Chanichthyidae) across thermal gradients in the Southern Ocean. Pol Biol 33, 203-213.

Blin N & Stafford DW (1976) A general method for isolation of high molecular weight DNA from eukaryotes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 3: 2303-2308.

Boutilier RG, Donohoe PH, Tattersall GJ & West TG (1997) Hypometabolic homeostasis in overwintering aquatic amphibians. J Exp Biol 200, 387-400. Boyer BB & Barnes BM (1999) Molecular and metabolic aspects of mammalian hibernation. *BioSci* 49, 713-724.

Brown & Sönnichsen (2002) The structure of fish antifreeze proteins. In *Molecular* Aspects of Fish and Marine Biology - Volume 1: Fish Antifreeze Proteins (Ewart KV & Hew CL, eds), pp. 109-138. World Scientific, Singapore.

Brunet FG, Crollius HR, Paris M, Aury J-M, Gilbert P, Jaillon O, Laudet V & Robinson-Rechavi M (2006) Gene loss and evolutionary rates following whole-genome duplication in teleost fishes. Mol Biol Evol 23 1808-1816.

Cavalier-Smith T (2004) Only six kingdoms of life. Proc R Soc Lond B 271, 1251-62.

Celik Y, Graham LA, Mok Y-F, Bar M, Davies PL & Braslavsky I (2010) Superheating of ice crystals in antifreeze protein solutions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 107, 5423-5428.

Chan S-L, Miao M, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1997) The role of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein a and a protein that binds to the activator-protein-1 site in the regulation of liverspecific expression of the winter flounder antifreeze protein gene. *Eur J Biochem* 247, 44-51.

Chao H, Houston ME, Hodges RS, Kay CM, Sykes BD, Loewen MC, Davies PL & Sönnichsen FD (1997) A diminished role for hydrogen bonds in antifreeze protein binding to ice. Biochem 36, 14652-14660.

Chen LB, DeVries AL & Cheng C-HC (1997a) Convergent evolution of antifreeze glycoproteins in Antarctic notothenioid fish and Arctic cod. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 3817-3822.

Chen LB, DeVries AL & Cheng C-HC (1997b) Evolution of antifreeze glycoprotein gene from a trypsinogen gene in Antarctic notothenioid fish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 3811-3816.

Chen Z, Cheng C-HC, Zhang J, Cao L, Chen L, Zhou L, Jin Y, Ye H, Deng C, Dai Z, Xu Q, Hu P, Sun S, Shen Y & Chen L (2008) Transcriptomic and genomic evolution under constant cold in Antarctic notothenioid fish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **105**, 12944-12949.

Cheng C-HC & Chen L (1999) Evolution of an antifreeze glycoprotein. Nature 401, 443-444.

Cheng C-HC, Chen LB, Near TJ & Jin Y (2003) Functional antifreeze glycoprotein genes in temperate-water New Zealand Nototheniid fish infer an Antarctic evolutionary origin. *Mol Biol Evol* 20, 1897–1908. Cheng C-HC, Cziko PA & Evans CW (2006) Nonhepatic origin of notothenioid antifreeze reveals pancreatic synthesis as common mechanism in polar fish freezing avoidance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 10491-10496.

Cheng C-HC & Detrich HW (2007) Molecular ecophysiology of Antarctic notothenioid fishes. *Phil Trans R Soc B* 362, 2215-2232.

Cheng C-HC & DeVries AL (2002) Origins and evolution of fish antifreeze proteins. In Molecular Aspects of Fish and Marine Biology - Volume 1: Fish Antifreeze Proteins (Ewart KV & Hew CL, eds), pp. 83-107. World Scientific, Singapore.

Chou K-C (1992) Energy-optimized structure of antifreeze protein and its binding mechanism. J Mol Biol 223, 509-517.

Clarke A & Johnston IA (1996) Evolution and adaptive radiation of Antarctic fishes. TREE 11, 212-218.

Clerc SG & Thompson TE (1995) Permeability of dimyristoyl phosphatidylcholine/dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine bilayer membranes with coexisting gel and liquid-ervstalline phases. *Biophys J* 68, 2333-2341.

Cohen Z & Lavi S (2009) Replication independent formation of extrachromosomal circular DNA in mammalian cell-free system. *PLoS ONE* **4**, e6126.

Colbourne EB (2004) Decadal changes in the ocean climate in Newfoundland and Labrador waters from the 1950s to the 1990s. J Norwest Atl Fish Sci 34, 41-59.

Conant GC & Wolfe KH (2008) Turning a hobby into a job: How duplicated genes find new functions. Nature Rev Gen 9, 938-950.

Côté PW (1989) *Ice limits, Eastern Canadian sea-board.* Atmospheric Environment Service, Ice Centre, Climatology and Applications, unpublished report, Environment Canada, Ottawa, ON.

Coxall HK, Wilson PA, Pälike H, Lear CH & Backman J (2005) Rapid stepwise onset of Antarctic glaciation and deeper calcite compensation in the Pacific Ocean. Nature 433, 53–57.

Davies PL, Baardsnes J, Kuiper MJ & Walker VK (2002) Structure and function of antifreeze proteins. *Phil Trans R Soc B* 357, 927-935.

Davies PL & Hew CL (1990) Biochemistry of fish antifreeze proteins. FASEB J 4, 4260-2468. Davies PL, Hew CL & Fletcher GL (1988) Fish antifreeze proteins: physiology and evolutionary biology. Can J Zool 66, 2611-2617.

Davies PL, Roach AH & Hew C-L (1982) DNA sequence coding for an antifreeze protein precursor from winter flounder. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 79, 335-339. Davies PL& Sykes BD (1997) Antifreeze proteins. Curr Opi Struct Biol 7, 828-834.

Dayton PK, Robilliard GA & DeVries AL (1969) Anchor ice formation in McMurdo Sound, Antarctica, and its biological effects. *Science* **163**, 273-274.

DeConto RM, Pollard D, Wilson PA, Pälike H, Lear CH & Pagani M (2008) Thresholds for Cenozoic bipolar glaciation. Nature 455, 652-U52.

Deng C, Cheng C-HC, Ye H, He X & Chen L (2010) Evolution of an antifreeze protein by neofunctionalization under escape from adaptive conflict. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 107, 21593-21598.

Deng G, Andrews DW & Laursen RA (1997) Amino acid sequence of a new type of antifreeze protein, from the longhorn sculpin Myoxocephalus octodecimspinosis. FEBS Lett 402, 17-20.

Deng G & Laursen RA (1998) Isolation and characterisation of an antifreeze protein from the longhorn sculpin, Myoxocephalus octodecimspinosis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1388, 305-314.

de Peer YV, Maere S & Meyer A (2009) The evolutionary significance of ancient genome duplications. Nature Rev Gen 10, 725-732.

Dera G, Brigaud B, Monna F, Laffont R, Pucéat E, Deconinck J-F, Pellenard P, Joachimski P & Durlet C (2011) Climatic ups and downs in a disturbed Jurassic world. *Geol* 39, 215-218.

Desjardins M, Le François NR, Fletcher GL & Blier PU (2006) Seasonal modulation of plasma antifreeze protein levels in Atlantic (Anarhichas lupus) and spotted wolffish (A. minor). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 335, 142–150.

Desjardins M, Le François NR, Fletcher GL & Blier PU (2007) High antifreeze protein levels in wolffish (*Anarhichas lugus*) make them an ideal candidate for culture in cold, potentially use laden waters. *Aquaculture* **272**, 667-674.

Despons L, Usunov Z & Louis VL (2011) Tandem gene arrays, plastic chromosomal organizations. C R Biol 334, 639-646.

DeVries AL (1971) Glycoproteins as biological antifreeze agents in Antarctic fishes. Science 172, 1152-1155. DeVries AL (1982) Biological agents in coldwater fishes. Comp Biochem Physiol A 73, 627-640.

DeVries AL (1988) The role of antifreeze glycopeptides and peptides in the freezing avoidance of Antarctic fishes. Comp Biochem Physiol B 90, 611-621.

DeVries AL (2008) "Antifreeze (biology)," in AccessScience, ©McGraw-Hill Companies. Accessed online December 2011 (http://www.accessscience.com).

DeVries AL & Cheng C-HC (2005) Antifreeze proteins and organismal freezing avoid ance in polar fishes. In *Fish physiology* - Volume 22: The physiology of polar fishes (Farell A & Steffensen J, eds), pp. 155-201. Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, Cali fornia, USA.

DeVries AL, Komatsu SK & Feeney RE (1970) Chemical and physical properpies of freezing point-depressing glycoproteins from Antarctic fishes. *J Biol Chem* 245, 2901-2908.

DeVries AL & Wohlschlag DE (1969) Freezing resistance in some Antarctic fishes. Science 163, 1073-1075.

deYoung B & Sanderson B (1995) The circulation and hydrography of Conception Bay, Newfoundland. Atmos Ocean 33, 135-162.

Dickson KA & Graham JB (2004) Evolution and consequences of endothermy in fishes. Physiol Biol Zool 77, 998-1018.

Dieckmann G, Rohardt G, Hellmer H & Kipfstuhl J (1986) The occurrence of ice platelets at 250 m depth near the Filchner lee Shelf and its significance for sea ice biology. *Deep-Sea Res* 33, 141-148.

Dobbs GH & DeVries AL (1975) Renal function in Antarctic teleost fishes: serum and urine composition. *Mar Biol* 29, 59-70

Dowling TE & Secor CL (1997) The role of hybridization and introgression in the diversification of animals. *Annu Rev Ecol Syst* 28, 593-619.

Dulvy NK, Rogers SI, Jennings S, Stelzenmüller V, Dye AR & Skjoldal HR (2008) Climate change and deepening of the North Sea fish assemblage: a biotic indicator of warming seas. J Appl Ecol 45, 1029-1039.

Duman JG (2001) The inhibition of ice nucleators by insect antifreeze proteins is enhanced by glycerol and citrate. *J Comp Physiol B* **172**, 163-168. Duman JG, Bennett V, Sformo T, Hochstrasser R & Barnes BM (2004) Antifreeze proteins in Alaskan insects and spiders. *J Ins Physiol* **50**, 259-266.

Dunker BP, Koops MD, Walker VK & Davies PL (1995) Low temperature persistence of type 1 antifreeze protein is mediated by cold-specific mRNA stability. *FEBS Lett* 377, 185-188.

Eastman JT (2005) The nature of the diversity of Antarctic fishes. Polar Biol 28, 93-107.

Eastman JT & McCune AR (2000) Fishes on the Antarctic continental shelf: evolution of a marine species flock? J Fish Biol Supp A 57, 84-102.

Ellisson CK & Burton RS (2008) Interpopulation hybrid breakdown maps to the mitochondrial genome. *Evol* 62, 631-638.

Enedsolven LT, Heiner I, DeVries AL & Steffensen JF (2003) Does fish from the Disko Bay area of Greenland possess antifreeze proteins during the summer? *Polar Biol* 26, 365-370.

Engel MS & Grimaldi DA (2004) New light shed on the oldest insect. Nature 427, 627-630.

Evans CW, Gubala V, Nooney R, Williams DE, Brimble MA & DeVries AL (2010) How do Antarctic notothenioid fishes cope with internal ice? *Antarc Sci* 23, 57-64. A novel function for antifreeze glycoproteins

Evans DH (2008) Teleost fish osmoregulation: what have we learned since August Krogh, Homer Smith, and Ancel Keys? Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 295, R704-R713.

Evans RP & Fletcher GL (2001) Isolation and characterization of type I antifreeze proteins from Atlantic snailfish (*Liparis atlanticus*) and dusky snailfish (*Liparis gibbus*). Biochim Biophys Acta 1547, 235-244.

Evans RP & Fletcher GL (2004) Isolation and purification of antifreeze proteins from skin tissues of snailfish, cunner and sea raven. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1700, 209-217.

Evans RP & Fletcher GL (2005) Type I antifreeze proteins: possible origins from chorion and keratin genes in Atlantic snailfish. J Mol Evol 61, 417-424.

Evans RP, Hobbs RS, Goddard SV & Fletcher GL (2007) The importance of dissolved salts to the in vivo efficacy of antifreeze proteins. *Comp Biochem Physiol B* 148, 556-561. Ewart KV & Fletcher GL (1990) Isolation and characterization of antifreeze proteins from smelt (*Osmerus mordax*) and Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus harengus*). Can J Zool 68, 1652-1658.

Ewart KV & Fletcher GL (1993) Herring antifreeze protein: primary structure and evidence for a C-type lectin evolutionary origin. Mol Mar Biol Biotech 2, 20-27.

Ewart KV, Johnson SC & Ross NW (2001) Lectins of the innate immune system and their relevance to fish health. ICES J Mar Sci 58, 380-385.

Ewart KV, Li Z, Yang DSC, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1998). The ice-binding site of Atlantic herring antifreeze protein corresponds to the carbohydrate-binding site of C-type lectins. *Biochemistry* 37, 4080-4085, 71-87.

Ewart KV, Yang DSC, Ananthanarayanan VS, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1992) Ca²⁺dependent antifreeze proteins. J Biol Chem 271, 16627-16632.

Finn R% & Kristoffersen BA (2007) Vertebrate vitellogenin gene duplication in relation to the "3R hypothesis": Correlation to the pelagic egg and the oceanic radiation of teleosts. *PLoS one* 1, e169.

Fisher HS, Wong BBM & Rosenthal GG (2006) Alteration of the chemical environment disrupts communication in a freshwater fish. Proc R Soc B 273, 1187-1193.

Fletcher BJ, Brentnall SJ, Anderson CW, Berner RA & Beerling DJ (2007) Atmospheric carbon dioxide linked with Mesozoic and early Cenozoic climate change. *Nature Geosci* 1, 43-48.

Fletcher GL (1977) Circannual cycles of blood plasma freezing point and Na^{*} and CT concentrations in Newfoundland winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*): correlation with water temperature and photoperiod. *Can J Zool* 55, 789-795.

Fletcher GL & Davies PL (2012) Antifreeze protein gene transfer – Promises, challenges and lessons from nature. In Aquaculture Biotechnology (Fletcher GL, Rise ML, eds), pp. 253-266. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken, NJ.

Fletcher GL, Hew CL & Davies PL (2001) Antifreeze proteins of teleost fishes. Annu Rev Physiol 63, 359-390.

Fletcher GL, Hew CL, Li X, Haya K & Kao MH (1985) Year-round presence of high levels of plasma antifreeze peptides in a temperate fish, ocean pout (*Macrozoarces americanus*). Can J Zool 63, 488-493.

Fletcher GL, Idler DR, Vaisius A & Hew CL (1989) Hormonal regulation of antifreeze protein gene expression in winter flounder. *Fish Physiol Biochem* 7, 387-393. Fletcher GL, Kao MH & Haya K (1984) Seasonal and phenotypic variations in plasma protein antifreeze levels in a population of marine fish, sea raven (*Hemitripterus* americanus). Can J Fish Aquat Sci 41, 819–824.

Fletcher GL, King MJ & Kao MH (1987) Low temperature regulation of antifreeze glycopeptide levels in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Can J Zool **65**, 227-233.

Fletcher GL, Slaughter D & Hew CL (1982) Seasonal changes in the plasma levels of glycoprotein antifreeze, Na+, Cl, and glucose in Newfoundland Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua), Can J Zool 60, 1851-1854.

Fondon III JW & Garner HR (2004) Molecular origins of rapid and continuous morphological evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101, 18058-18063.

Fourney RM, Joshi SB, Kao MH & Hew CL (1984) Heterogeneity of antifreeze polypeptides from the Newfoundland winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus*. Can J Zool 62, 28-33.

Fujino K, Lewis EL & Perkin RG (1974) The freezing point of seawater at pressures up to 100 Bars. J Geophys Res 79, 1792-1797.

Galbraith PS, Pettipas RG, Chassé J, Gilbert D, Larouche P, Pettigrew B, Gosselin A, Devine L & Lafleur C (2009) *Physical Oceanographic Conditions in the Gulf of St. Lawrence in 2008*. DFO Can Sci Advis Sec Res Doc 2009-014.

García-Arribas O. Mateo R, Tomczak MM, Davies PL & Mateu MG (2007) Thermodynamic stability of a cold-adapted protein, type III antifreeze protein, and energetic contribution of salt bridges. *Prot Sci* 16, 227-238.

Garnham CP, Campbell RL & Davies PL (2011) Anchored clathrate waters bind antifreeze proteins to ice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **108**, 7363-7367.

Garnham CP, Natarajan A, Middleton AJ, Kuiper MJ, Braslavsky I & Davies PL (2010) Compound ice-binding site of an antifreeze protein revealed by mutagenesis and fluorescent tagging. Biochemistry 49, 9063-9071.

Gaudreau CM, Le François NR, Ditlecadet D, Tveiten H & Blier PU (2009) Characterization of the early-stages of the wolffish hybrid *Anarhichas minor* × *Anarhichas lupus*: conservation and aquaculture applications. *Aquat Living Resour* 22, 371-377.

Gauthier SY, Marshall CB, Fletcher GL & Davies PL (2005) Hyperactive antifreeze protein in flounder species, the sole freeze protectant in American plaice. *FEBS J* 272, 4439-4449. Gauthier SY, Scotter AJ, Lin F-H, Baardsnes, Fletcher GL & Davies PL (2008) A reevaluation for the role of the type IV antifreeze protein. *Cryobiol* 57, 292-296.

Genner MJ & Turner GF (2012) Ancient hybridization and phenotypic novelty within Lake Malawi's cichlid fish radiation. *Mol Biol Evol* 29, 195-206.

Gibbard P & Cohen KM (2008) Global chronostratigraphical correlation table for the last 2.7 million years. Episodes-Newsmagazine of the International Union of Geological Sciences 31, 243-247.

Gibbard P & Kolfschoten TV (2004) The Pleistocene and Holocene Epochs: a geologic time scale. In *A geologic time scale* (Gradstein FM, Ogg JG & Smith AG, eds), pp. 441-452. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Gilbert JA, Hill PJ, Dodd CEH & Laybourn-Parry J (2004) Demonstration of antifreeze protein activity in Antarctic lake bacteria. *Microbiol* **150**, 171-180.

Goddard SV & Fletcher GL (2002). Physiological ecology of antifreeze proteins – A northern perspective. In *Molecular Aspects of Fish and Marine Biology* – Volume 1: Fish Antifreeze Proteins (Ewart KV & Hew CL, eds), pp. 17-60. World Scientific, Singapore.

Gong H, Croft K, Driedzic WR & Ewart KV (2010) Chemical chaperoning action of glycerol on the antifreeze protein of rainbow smelt. J Therm Biol 36, 78-83.

Gong Z, Ewart KV, Hu Z, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1996) Skin antifreeze protein genes of the winter flounder, *Pleuronectes americanus*, encode distinct and active polypeptides without the secretory signal and prosequences. *J Biol Chem* 271, 4106-4112.

Gong Z, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1992) Tissue distribution of fish antifreeze protein mRNAs. Can J Zool 70, 810-814.

Gong ZY, King MJ, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1995) The antifreeze protein genes of the winter flounder, *Pleuronectes americanus*, are differently regulated in liver and nonliver tissues. *Biochem Biophys Res Com* 206, 387-392.

Gordon MS, Amdur BH & Scholander PF (1962) Freezing resistance in some northern fishes. *Biol Bull Mar Biol Lab* **122**, 52 62.

Graham GJ (1995) Tandem genes and clustered genes. J Theor Biol 175, 71-97.

Graham LA & Davies PL (2005) Glycine-rich antifreeze proteins from snow fleas. Science 310, 461.

Graham LA, Lougheed SC, Ewart KV & Davies PL (2008a) Lateral transfer of a lectinlike antifreeze protein gene in fishes. *PLoS ONE* 3, 1-11. Graham LA, Marshall CB, Lin F-H, Campbell RL & Davies PL (2008b) Hyperactive antifreeze protein from fish contains multiple ice-binding sites. *Biochem* 47, 2051-2063.

Green JM (1974) A localized mass winter kill of cunners in Newfoundland. Can Field Nat 88, 96-97.

Green JM & Farwell M (1971) Winter habits of the cunner, *Tautogolabrus adspersus* (Walbaum 1792), in Newfoundland. *Can J Zool* **49**, 1497-1499.

Greenwood PH, Rosen DE, Weitzman SH & Myers GS (1966) Phyletic studies of teleostean fishes, with a provisional classification of living forms. *Bull Am Mus Nat Hist* 131, 338-455.

Grenetier S, Bouchoux C & Goguel V (2006) CTD kinase I is required for the integrity of the rDNA tandem array. *Nucl Acid Res* 34, 4996-5006.

Griffith M & Yaish WF (2004) Antifreeze proteins in overwintering plants: a tale of two activities. *TRENDS Plant Sci* 9, 399-405.

Griffith RW (1981) Composition of the blood serum of deep-sea fishes. Biol Bull 160, 250-264.

Griffith RW (1987) Freshwater or marine origin of the vertebrates? Comp Biochem Physiol A 87, 523-531.

Grigg GC, Beard LA & Augee ML (2004) The evolution of endothermy and its diversity in mammals and birds. *Physiol Biochem Zool* 77, 982-997.

Gu X, Zhang Z & Huang W (2005) Rapid evolution of expression and regulatory divergences after yeast gene duplication. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102, 707-712.

Gunawan J, Simard D, Gilbert M, Lovering AL, Wakarchuk WW, Tanner ME & Strynadka NCJ (2005) Structural and mechanistic analysis of sialic acid synthase NeuB from *Neisseria meningitidis* in complex with Mn³⁺, phosphoenolpyruvate, and Nacetylmannosaminitol. *J Biol Chem* 280, 3555-3563.

Gunnarsson Á, Hjörleifsson E, Thórarinsson K & Marteinsdóttir G (2006) Growth, maturity and fecundity of wolffish Anarhichas lupus L. in Icelandic waters. J Fish Biol 68, 1158-1176.

Hastings PJ (2007) Adaptive amplification. Crit Rev Biochem Mol 42, 271-283.

Hastings PJ, Lupski JR, Rosenberg SM & Ira G (2009) Mechanisms of change in gene copy number. *Nature Rev Gen* 10, 551-564.

Hatanaka T & Galetti PM (2004) Mapping of the 18S and SS ribosomal RNA genes in the fish Prochilodus argenteus Agassiz, 1829 (Characiformes, Prochilodontidae). Genetica 122, 239-244.

Hayes PH, Davies PL & Fletcher GL (1991) Population differences in antifreeze protein gene copy number and arrangement in winter flounder. *Genome* 34, 174-177.

Hayes PH, Scott GK, Ng NFL, Hew CL & Davies PL (1989) Cystine-rich type II antifreeze protein precursor is initiated from the third AUG codon of its mRNA. J Biol Chem 264, 18761-18767.

Hays LM, Feeney RE, Crowe LM, Crowe JH & Oliver AE (1996) Antifreeze glycoproteins inhibit leakage from liposomes during thermotropic phase transitions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93, 6835-6840.

Heinrich B (1974) Thermoregulation in endothermic insects. Science 185, 747-756.

Hentschel CC & Birnstiel ML (1981) The organization and expression of histone gene families. Cell 25, 301-313.

Hew CL, Fletcher GL & Ananthabarayana VS (1980) Antifreeze proteins from the shorthorn sculpin, Myoxocephalus scorpius: isolation and characterization. Can J Biochem 58, 377-383.

Hew CL, Fletcher GL & Davies PL (1995) Transgenic salmon: tailoring the genome for food production. J Fish Biol Supp A 47, 1-19.

Hew CL, Kao MH & So Y-P (1983) Presence of cystine-containing antifreeze proteins in the spruce budworm, *Choristoneura fumiferana*. Can J Zool 61, 2324-2328.

Hew CL, Poon R, Xiong F, Gauthier S, Shears M, King M, Davies P & Fletcher G (1999) Liver-specific and seasonal expression of transgenic Atlantic salmon harboring the winter flounder antifreze protein gene. *Transgen Res* 8, 405-414.

Hew CL, Slaughter D, Fletcher GL & Joshi SB (1981) Antifreeze glycoproteins in the plasma of Newfoundland Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Can J Zool 59, 2186-2192.

Hew CL, Slaughter D, Joshi SB, Fletcher GL & Anantharayanan VS (1984) Antifreeze polypepides from the Newfoundland ocean pout, *Macrocoarces americanus*: presence of multiple and compositionally diverse components. J Comp Physical B 155, 81-88.

Hew CL, Wang NC, Joshi S, Fletcher GL, Scott GK, Hayes PH, Buettner B & Davies PL (1988) Multiple genes provide the basis for antifreeze protein diversity and dosage in the ocean pout, *Macrozoarces americanus*. J Biol Chem 263, 12049-12055. Hillenius WJ & Ruben JA (2004) The Evolution of Endothermy in Terrestrial Vertebrates: Who? When? Why? Physiol Biochem Zool 77, 1019-1042.

Jenkyns HC, Schouten-Huibers L, Schouten S & Sinninghe Damsté JS (2012) Warm Middle Jurassie-Early Cretaceous high-latitude sea-surface temperatures from the Southern Ocean. *Clim Pass* 8, 215-226.

Hoag H (2003) Atlantic cod meet icy death. Nature 422, 792.

Hobbs RS & Fletcher GL (2008) Tissue specific expression of antifreeze protein and growth hormone transgenes driven by the ocean pout (*Macrozoarces americanus*) antifreeze protein OP5A gene promoter in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Transgenic Res* 17, 33-45.

Hobbs RS, Shears MA, Graham LA, Davies PL & Fletcher GL (2011) Isolation and characterization of type 1 antifreeze proteins from cunner, *Tautogolabrus adspersus*, order Perciformes. *FEBS*, *278*, 3699-3710.

Hoegg S, Brinkmann H, Taylor JS & Meyer A (2004) Phylogenetic timing of the fishspecific genome duplication correlates with the diversification of teleost fish. J Mol Evol 59, 190-203.

Holmes WN & Donaldson EM (1969) The body compartments and the distribution of electrolytes. In: *Fish Physiology* (Hoar W.S & Randall DJ, eds), Vol 1, pp 1-9. Academic Press, New York.

Hoshino T, Kiriaki M, Ohgiya S, Fujiwara M, Kondo H, Nishimiya Y, Yumoto I & Tsuda S (2003) Antifreeze proteins from snow mold fungi. Can J Bot 81, 1175-1181.

Hsiao K-C, Cheng C-HC, Fernandes IE, Detrich HW & DeVries AL (1990) An antifreeze glycopeptide gene from the Antaretic cod Notohenia corriteges neglecta encodes a polyprotein of high peptide copy number. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87, 9265–9269.

Hubbs, CL (1955) Hybridization between Fish Species in Nature. Syst Zool 4, 1-20.

Hughes AL (1994) The evolution of functionally novel proteins after gene duplication. Proc R Soc Lond B 256, 119-124.

Hunt BM, Hoefling K & Cheng C-HC (2003) Annual warming episodes in seawater temperatures in McMurdo Sound in relationship to endogenous ice in notothenioid fish. *Antarcs Sci* 15, 333-338.

Hurles M (2004) Gene duplication: the genomic trade in spare parts. PLoS Biol 2, 0900-0904.

Imsland AK, Stensland K, Johansen T, Le Francois NR, Lamarre S, Nævdal G & Foss A (2008) Population genetic structure of the spotted wolffish, *Anarhichas minor*, in the North Atlantic. *Open Mar Biol J* 2, 7-12.

Inglis SR, Turner JJ & Harding MM (2005) Applications of type I antifreeze proteins: studies with model membranes & cryoprotectant properties. *Cur Prot Pept Sci* 7, 509-522.

Innan H & Kondrashow F (2010) The evolution of gene duplications: classifying and distinguishing between models. *Nature Rev Gen* 11, 97-108.

Jackson DC (2002) Hibernating without oxygen: physiological adaptations of the painted turtle. J Physiol 543, 731-737.

Jaillon et al. (2004) Genome duplication in the teleost fish *Tetraodon nigroviridis* reveals the early vertebrate proto-karyotype. *Nature* **431**, 946-957.

Janech MG, Krell A, Mock T, Kang A-S & Raymond JA (2006) Ice-binding proteins from sea ice diatoms (Bacillariophyceae). J Phycol 42, 410-416.

Jenkyns HC, Schouten-Huibers L, Schouten S & Sinninghe Damsté JS (2011)

Jia Z, DeLuca CI, Chao H & Davies PL (1996) Structural basis for a globular antifreeze protein binding to ice. *Nature* 284, 285-288.

Jin Y (2003) Freezing avoidance of Antarctic fishes: the role of a novel antifreeze potentiating protein and the antifreeze glycoproteins. *PhD Thesis*, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign.

Johnstone KA, Marshall HD & Carr SM (2007) Biodiversity genomics for species at risk: patterns of DNA sequence variation within and among complete mitochondrial genomes of three species of wolffish (*Anarhichas spp.*). Can J 2001 85, 151-158.

Kao MH, Fletcher GL, Wang NC & Hew CL (1986) The relationship between molecularweight and antifreeze polypeptide activity in marine fish. Can J Zool 64, 578-582.

Katz ME, Miller KG, Wright JD, Wade BS, Browning JV, Cramer BS & Rosenthal Y (2008) Stepwise transition from the Eocene greenhouse to the Oligocene icehouse. *Nature Geosci* 1, 329–334.

Keats DW, South GR & Steele DH (1985) Reproduction and egg guarding by Atlantic wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus*: Anarhichadidae) and ocean pout (*Macrozoarces americanus*: Zoarcidae) in Newfoundland waters. Can J Zool **53**, 2565-2568. Keats DW & Steele DH (1986) Atlantic wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus L.*; Pisces: Anarhichadidae) predation on green sea urchins (*Strongylocentus droebachiensis* (O.F. Mul.); Echinodermata: Echinoidea) in eastern NewYoundland. *Can J Zool* 64, 1920-1925.

Keen JD (2007) RNA regulons: coordination of post-transcriptinal events. Nat Rev Gen 8, 533-543.

Kiko R (2010) Acquisition of freeze protection in a sea-ice crustacean through horizontal gene transfer? *Polar Biol* 33, 543-556.

Knight CA, Cheng C-HC & DeVries AL (1991) Adsorption of α-helical antifreeze peptides on specific ice crystal surface planes. *Biophys J* 59, 409-518.

Knight CA & DeVries AL (1988) Melting inhibition and superheating of ice by an antifreeze glycopeptide. *Science* 245, 505-507.

Knight CA, DeVries AL & Oolman LD (1984) Fish antifreeze protein and the freezing and recrystallization of ice. *Nature* 308, 295-296.

Knight CA, Hallett J & DeVries AL (1988) Solute effects on ice recrystallization: an assessment technique. Cryobiol 25, 55–60.

Komatsu SK, DeVries AL & Feeney RE (1970) Studies of the structure of freezing pointdepressing glycoproteins from an Antarctic fish. J Biol Chem 245, 2909-2913.

Kondrashov FA & Kondrashov AS (2006) Role of selection in fixation of gene duplications. J Theor Biol 239, 141-151.

Kontogiorgos V, Regand A, Yada RY & Goff HD (2007) Isolation and characterization of ice structuring proteins from cold-acclimated winter wheat grass extract for recrystallization inhibition in frozen foods. *J Food Chem* **31**, 139-160.

Kukal O, Serianni AS & Duman JG (1988) Glycerol metabolism in a freeze-tolerant arctic insect: an in vivo ¹³C NMR study. *J Comp Physiol B* **158**, 175-183.

Kulka DW, DeBlois EM (1996) Non traditional groundfish species on Labrador Shelf and Grand Banks: wolffish, monkfish, white hake, and winter (blackback) flounder. Atl. Fish. Res. Doc. 96(97).

Kulka DW, Hood C & Huntington J (2007) Recovery strategy for Northern wolffish (Anarhichas denticulatus) and spotted wolffish (Anarhichas minor), and management plan for Atlantic wolffish (Anarhichas lupus) in Canada. Fisheries and Oceans Canada: Newfoundland and Labrador Region. St. John's, NL x + 103 pp. Kulka DW, Simpson MR & Hooper RG (2004) Changes in distribution and habitat associations of wolffish (Anarhichadidae) in the Grand Banks and Labrador Shelf. Atl. Fish. Res. Doc. 04.

Lambeck K, Esat TM & Potter E-K (2002) Links between climate and sea levels for the past three million years. *Nature* **419**, 199-206.

Lamont BB, Enright NJ, Krauss SL & Miller BP (2003) Anthropogenic disturbance promotes hybridization between *Banksia* species by altering their biology. *J Evol Biol* 16. 551-557.

Layne JR (1995) Seasonal variation in the cryobiology of Rana sylvatica from Pennsylvania. J Therm. Biol 20, 349-353.

Lear CH, Elderfield H & Wilson PA (2000) Cenozoic deep-sea temperatures and global ice volumes from Mg/Ca in benthic foraminiferal calcite, *Science* 287, 269-271.

Lee MR, Lee RE, Strong-Gunderson JM & Minges SR (1995) Isolation of ice-nucleating active bacteria from the freeze-tolerant frog, *Rana sylvatica*. Cryobiol **32**, 358-365.

Lee CY, Rubinsky B & Fletcher GL (1992) Hypothermic preservation of whole mammalian organs with antifreeze proteins. Cryo-Letters 13, 59-66

Le François NR, Lamarre SG, Tveiten H, Blier PU & Bailey J (2008) Sperm cryoconservation in Anarhichas sp., endangered cold-water aquaculture species with internal fertilization. Aquac Inter 16, 273-279.

Le François NR, Lamarre SG & Blier PU (2004) Tolerance, growth and haloplasticity of the Atlantic wolffish (*Anarhichas lupus*) exposed to various salinities. *Aquae* 236, 659-675.

Le François NR, Lemieux H & Blier PU (2002) Biological and technical evaluation of the potential of marine and anadromous fish species for cold-water mariculture. *Aquac Res* 33, 95-108.

Lewis JM, Ewart KV & Driedzic WR (2004) Freeze resistance in rainbow smelt (Osmerus mordux): seasonal pattern of glycerol and antifreeze protein levels and liver enzyme activity associated with glycerol production. *Physiol Biochem Zool* 77, 415-422.

Lewis SA, Lee MG-S & Cowan NJ (1985) Five mouse tubulin isotypes and their regulated expression during development. *J Cell Biol* **101**, 852-861.

Li XM, Trinh K-Y & Hew CL (1991) Expression and characterization of an active and thermally more stable recombinant antifreze polypeptide from ocean pout, *Macrozoarces americanus*, in *Escherichia coli*: improved expression by the modification of the secondary structure of the mNA. *Prot Engin* 4, 995-1002.

Li XM, Trinh K-Y, Hew CL, Buettner B, Baenziger J & Davies PL (1985) Structure of an antifreeze polypeptide and its precursor from the ocean pout, *Macrozoarces americanus*. *J Biol Chem* **260**, 12904-12909.

Lin Y & Gross JK (1981) Molecular cloning and characterization of winter flounder antifreeze cDNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78, 2825-2829.

Liu Y, Li Z, Lin Q, Kosinski J, Seetharaman J, Bujnicki JM, Sivaraman J & Hew CL (2007) Structure and evolutionary origin of Ca²⁺-dependent herring type II antifreeze protein. *PLoS ane* 6, e548.

Loewen MC, Gronwald W, Sönnichsen FD, Sykes BD & Davies PL (1998) The icebinding site of sea raven antifreeze protein is distinct from the carbohydrate-binding site of the homologous c-type lectin. *Biochemistry US* 37, 17745-17753.

Loomis SH & Zinser M (2001) Isolation and identification of an ice-nucleating bacterium from the gills of the intertidal bivalve molluse *Geukensta demissa*. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 261, 225-235.

Lovegrove BG (2012) The evolution of endothermy in Cenozoic mammals: a plesiomorphic-apomorphic continuum. Biol Rev Cam Philos Soc 87, 1-35.

Low WK, Lin Q, Ewart KV, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (2002) The skin-type antifreeze polypeptides: a new class of type I AFPs. In *Molecular Aspects of Fish and Marine Biology* - Volume 1: Fish Antifreeze Proteins (Ewart KV & Hew CL, eds), pp. 161-186. World Scientific, Singapore.

Low WK, Lin Q, Stathakis C, Miao M, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (2001) Isolation and characterization of skin-type, type I antifreeze polypeptides from the longhorn sculpin, *Myxxxcephalius octodecemspinosus. J Biol Chem* **276**, 11582-11589.

Low WK, Miao M, Ewart KV, Yang DSC, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (1998) Skin-type antifreeze protein from the shorthorn sculpin, *Myoxocephalus scorpius*: expression and characterization of a Mr9,700 recombinant protein. *J Biol Chem* 273, 23098-23103.

Magnussen AB, Imsland AK & Foss A (2008) Interactive effects of different temperatures and salinities on growth, feed conversion efficiency, and blood physiology in juvenile spotted wolffish, Anarhichas minor Oldsfen. J World Aquac Soc 39, 804-811. Mallet J (2005) Hybridization as an invasion of the genome. TRENDS Ecol Evol 20, 229-237.

Mallet J (2007) Hybrid speciation. Nature 446, 279-283.

Marshall CB, Chakrabartty A & Davies PL (2005) Hyperactive antifreeze protein from winter flounder is a very long rod-like dimer of α-helices. J Biol Chem 280, 17920-17929.

Marshall CB, Fletcher GL & Davies PL (2004) Hyperactive antifreeze protein in a fish. Nature 429, 153.

Martin S (1974) Ice stalactites: comparison of a laminar flow theory with experiment. J Fluid Mech 63, 51-79.

Matshiner M, Hanel R & Salzburger W (2011) On the origin and trigger of the Notothenioid adaptive radiation. *PLoS one* 6, e18911.

McCusker MR & Bentzen P (2010) Phylogeography of 3 North Atlantic Wolffish species (Anarhichas spp.) with phylogenetic relationships within the family Anarhichadidae. J Hered **101**, 591-601.

McCusker MR, Paterson IG & Bentzen P (2008) Microsatellite markers discriminate three species of North Atlantic wolffishes (Anarhichas spp.). J Fish Biol 72, 375-385.

McNab BK (1983) Energetics, body size, and the limits to endothermy. J Zool Lond 199, 1-29.

Methven DA, Haedrich RL & Rose GA (2001) The fish assemblage of a Newfoundland estuary: diel, monthly and annual variation. *Estuar Coast Shelf Sci* 52:669-687.

Miao M, Chan SL, Fletcher GL & Hew CL (2002) Control of antifreeze protein gene ex pression in winter flounder. In *Molecular Aspects of Fish and Marine Biology* - Volume 1: Fish Antifreeze Proteins (Ewart KV & Hew CL, eds), pp. 139-160. World Scientific, Singapore.

Miao M, Chan A-L & Hew CL (1998a) Identification of nuclear proteins interacting with the liver-specific enhancer B element of the antifreeze protein gene in winter flounder. Mol Mar Biol Biotech 7, 197-203.

Miao M, Chan SL, Hew CL & Gong Z (1998b) The skin-type antifreeze protein gene intron of the winter flounder is a ubiquitous enhancer lacking a functional C/EBP alpha binding motif. FEBS Lett 26, 121-125.

Minorsky PV (2003) The hot and the classic. Plant Physiol 132, 25026.

Miya M, Takeshima H, Endo H, Ishiguro NB, Inoue JG, Makai T, Satoh TP, Yamaguchi M, Kawaguchi A, Mabuchi K, Shirai SM & Nishida M (2003) Major patterns of higher teleostean phylogenies: a new perspective based on 100 complete mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Mol Phylogen Evol* 26, 121-138.

Moksness E (1994) Growth rates of the common wolffish, *Anarhichas lupus* L., and the spotted wolffish, *A. minor* Olafsen, in captivity. *Aquac Fish Manage* **25**, 363–371.

Morris HR, Thompson MR, Osuga DT, Ahmed AI, Chan SM, Vandenheede JR & Feeney RE (1978) Antifreeze glycoproteins from the blood of an Antaretic fish. J Biol Chem 253, 5155-5162.

Muldrew K, Rewcastle J, Donnelly BJ, Saliken JC, Liang S, Goldie S, Olson M, Baissalov R & Sandison G (2001) Flounder antifreeze peptides increase the efficacy of cryosurgerv. *Cryobiol* 42, 182-189.

Murphy DJ (1983) Freezing resistance in intertidal invertebrates. Ann Rev Physiol 45, 289-299.

Murray HM (2000) The ontogeny of type I antifreeze protein expression in winter flounder, Pleuronectes americanus. Ph.D thesis, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

Murray HM, Hew CL, Kao KR & Fletcher GL (2002) Localization of cells from the winter flounder gill expressing a skin type antifreeze protein gene. *Can J Zool* 80, 110-119.

Nabeta KK (2009) The type I antifreeze protein gene family in Pleuronectidae. MSc 131. Department of biomedical and molecular sciences, Queen's University, Kingston, ON.

Naish TR, Woolfe KJ, Barrett PJ, Wilson GS & Atkins C (2001) Orbitally induced oscillations in the East Antarctic ice sheet at the Oligocene/Miocene boundary. *Nature* 413, 719-723.

Nakamura Y, Gojobori T, Ikemura T (2000) Codon usage tabulated from international DNA sequence databases: status for the year 2000. Nuc Acid Res 28, 292.

Nelson JS (2006). Fishes of the world, 4th edition. John Wiley & Sons Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA.

Ng NFLN & Hew CL (1992) Structure of an antifreeze polypeptide from the sea raven: disulfide bonds and similarity to lectin-binding proteins. J Biol Chem 267, 16069-16075.

Nicodemus-Johnson J, Silic S, Ghigliotti L, Pisano E & Cheng C-HC (2011) Assembly of the antifreeze glycoprotein/trypsinogen-like protease genomic locus in the Antarctic fish *Dissostichus mawsoni* (Norman). *Genomics* 98, 194-201.

Nishimiya Y, Kondo H, Takamichi M, Sugimoto H, Suzuki M, Miura A & Tsuda S (2008) Crystal structure and mutational analysis of Ca²⁺-independent type II antifreeze protein from longsnout poacher, *Brachyopsis rostratus. J Mol Biol* 382, 734-746.

Nishimiya Y, Sato R, Takamichi M, Miura A & Tsuda S (2005) Co-operative effect of the isoforms of type III antifreeze protein expressed in Notehed-fin eelpout, Zoarces elongatus Kner, FEBS J 272, 482-492.

Novikow GG, Politov DV, Malinina TV, Afanasiev KI & Fernholm B (2000) Freshwater and estuarine fishes of the Russian Arctic coast (the Swedish–Russian Expedition 'Tundra Ecology–94'). J Fish Biol Sup 4 57, 158-162.

Nutt DR & Smith JC (2008) Dual function of the hydration layer around an antifreeze protein revealed by atomistic molecular dynamics simulations. J Am Chem Soc 130, 13066-13073.

Oberhauser K & Peterson AT (2003) Modeling current and future potential wintering distributions of easistern North American monarch butterflies. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA* 100, 14063-14068.

O'Dea NR & Haedrich RL. 2000. COSEWIC status report on the Atlantic wolffish (Anarhichas Iupus) in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. 1-21 pp.

O'Grady SM & DeVries AL (1982) Osmotic and ionic regulation in polar fishes. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 57, 219-228.

Ohno S (1970) Evolution by gene duplication. Springer-Verlag, London, NY.

Oppo DW, Raymo ME, Lohmann GP, Mix AC, Wright JD & Prell WL (1995) A δ¹³C record of upper North Atlantic deep water during the past 2.6 million years. *Paleoceanogr.* **10**, 373-394.

Orcott HG (1950) The Life History of the Starry Flounder Platichthys stellatus (Pallas). State of California department of natural resources, division of fish and game bureau of marine fisheries. Fish Bulletin no. 78, 68 p.

Otto-Bliesner BL, Marshall SJ, Overpeck JT, Miller GH, Hu A (2006) Simulating Arctic climate Warmth and icefield retreat in the Last Interglaciation. *Science* 311, 1751-1753. Parker SK & Detrich HW (1998) Evolution, organization, and expression of alpha-tubulin genes in the Antarctic fish *Notothenia corticeps*. Adaptive expansion of a gene family by recent gene duplication, inversion, and divergence. J Biol Chem 273, 3438-34369.

Pavlov DA & Novikov GG (1993) Life history and peculiarities of common wolffish (Anarhichas lupus) in the White Sea. ICES J Mar Sci 50, 271-277.

Perry AL, Low PJ, Ellis JR & Reynolds JD (2005) Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. *Science* 308, 1912-1915.

Pertaya N, Marshall CB, DiPrinzio CL, Wilen L, Thomson ES, Wettlaufer JS, Davies PL & Braslavsky 1 (2007) Fluorescence microscopy evidence for quasi-permanent attachment of antifreze proteins to ice surfaces. *Bioph J* **92**, 3663-3673.

Pham L, Dahiya R & Rubinsky B (1999) An in vivo study of antifreeze protein adjuvant cryosurgery. Cryobiol 38, 169-175.

Piatigorsky J & Wistow G (1991) The recruitment of crustallins: new functions precede gene duplication. Science 252, 1078-1079.

Pickett MH, Hew CL & Davies PL (1983) Seasonal variation in the level of antifreeze protein mRNA from the winter flounder. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 739, 97-104.

Pörtner HO (2004) Climate variability and the energetic pathways of evolution: the origin of endothermy in mammals and birds. *Physiol Biochem Zool* 77, 959-981.

Praebel K, Hunt B, Hunt LH & DeVries AL (2009) The presence and quantification of splenic ice in the McMurdo Sound Notothenioid fish. *Pagothenia horchgrevinki* (Boulenger, 1902). *Comp Biochem Physical A* **154**, 5654.

Price GD & Nunn EV (2010) Valanginian isotope variation in glendonites and belemnites from Arctic Svalbard: Transient glacial temperatures during the Cretaceous greenhouse. *Geol* **38**, 251-254.

Prochnow SJ, Nordt LC, Atchley SC & Hudec MR (2006) Multi-proxy paleosol evidence for middle and late Triassic climate trends in eastern Utah. *Paleogeo paleoclim paleoecol* 232, 53-72.

Prothero DR (1994) The late Eocene-Oligocene extinctions. Annu Rev Earth Planet Sci 22, 145-165.

Pullido F (2007) The genetics and evolution of avian migration. BioSci 57, 165-174.

Qin W, Doucet D, Tyshenko MG & Walker VK (2007) Transcription of antifreeze protein genes in Choristoneura fumiferana. Ins Mol Biol 16, 423-434. Raymond JA, Christner BC & Schuster SC (2008) A bacterial ice-binding protein from the Vostok ice core. Extrem 12, 713-717.

Raymond JA & Devries AL (1977) Adsorption-inhibition as a mechanism of freezing resistance in polar fishes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 74, 2589-2593.

Reams AB & Neidle EL (2004) Selection for gene clustering by tandem duplication. Annu Rev Microbiol 58, 119-142.

Reaves ML, Lopez IC & Daskalova SM (2008) Replacement of the antifreeze-like domain of human N-acetylneuraminic acid phosphate synthase with the mouse antifreezelike domain impacts both N-acetylneuraminic acid 9-phosphate synthase and 2-keto-3deoxy-D-glycero-D-galacto-nonulosonic acid 9-phosphate synthase activities. *BMB Rep* **41**, 72-78.

Reimnitz E, Kempeta EW & Barnes PW (1987) Anchor ice, seabed freezing, and sediment dynamics in shallow Arctic seas. J Geophys Res 92, 14671-14678.

Retallack GJ (2009) Greenhouse crises of the past 300 million years. Geol Soc Am Bull 121, 1441-1455.

Robles V, Cabrita E, Fletcher GL, Shears MA, King MJ & Herráez (2005) Vitrfication assays with embryos from a cold tolerant sub-arctic fish species. *Theriogen* 64, 1633-1646.

Ruben JA (1995) The evolution of endothermy in mammals and birds: from physiology to fossils. *Annu Rev Physiol* 57, 69-95.

Ruben JA & Jones TD (2000) Selective factors associated with the origin of fur and feathers. *Amer Zool* 40, 585-596.

Rubinsky B, Arav A & DeVries AL (1992) The cryoprotective effect of antifreeze glycopeptides from Antarctic fishes. *Cryobiol* **29**, 69-79.

Rubinsky B, Arav A & Fletcher GL (1991) Hypothermic protection - a fundamental property of "antifreeze" proteins. *Biochem Biophys Res Com* 180, 566-571.

Rubinsky B, Arav A, Mattioli M & DeVries AL (1990) The effect of antifreeze glycopeptides on membrane potential changes at hypothermic temperatures. *Biochem Biophys Res Com* 173, 1369-1374.

Salewski V & Bruderer B (2007) The evolution of bird migration—a synthesis. *Naturwiss* 94, 268-279.
Scheffler K, Hoemes S & Schwark L (2003) Global changes during Carboniferous-Permian glaciation on Gondwana: linking polar an dequatorial climate evolution by geochemical proxies. Geol 31, 605-608.

Schleucher E (2004) Torpor in birds: taxonomy, energetics, and ecology. Physiol Biochem Zool 77, 942-949.

Scholander PF, Vandam L, Kanwisher JW, Hammel HT & Gordon MS (1957) Supercooling and osmoregulation in Arctic fish. J Cell Comp Physiol 49, 5-24.

Scott GK, Davies PL, Kao MH & Fletcher GL (1988a) Differential amplification of antifreeze protein genes in the Pleuronectinae. J Mol Evol 27, 29-35.

Scott GK, Davies PL, Shears MA & Fletcher GL (1987) Structural variations in the alanine-rich antifreeze proteins of the pleuronectinae. Eur K Biochem 168, 629-633.

Scott GK, Fletcher GL & Davies PL (1986) Fish antifreeze proteins – recent gene evolution. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 43, 1028-1034.

Scott GK, Hayes PH, Fletcher GL & Davies PL (1988b) Wolffish antifreeze protein genes are primarily organized as tandem repeats that each contain two genes in inverted orientation. Mol Cell Biol 8, 3670-3675.

Scott GK, Hew CL & Davies PL (1985) Antifreeze protein genes are tandemly linked and clustered in the genome of the winter flounder. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82, 2613-2617.

Scott WB & Scott MG (1988) Atlantic fishes of Canada. Can Bull Fish Aquat Sci 219.

Scotter AJ, Marshall CB, Graham LA, Gilbert JA, Garnham CP & Davies PL (2006) The basis for hyperactivity of antifreeze proteins. *Cryobiol* 53, 229-239.

Sformo T, Walters K, Jeannet K, Wowk B, Fahy GM, Barnes BM & Duman JG (2010) Deep supercooling, vitrification and limited survival to –100°C in the Alaskan beetle *Cucujus clowipes* puniceus (Coleoptera: Cucujidae) Jarvae. J Exp Biol 213, 502-509.

Shackleton NJ, Backman J, Zimmerman H, Kent DV, Hall MA, Roberts DG, Schnitker D, Baldauf JG, Desprairies A, Homrighausen R, Huddlestun P, Kenen Bk, Ralenback AJ, Krumsiek KAO, Morton AC, Murray JW & Wessberg-Smith J (1984) Oxygen isotope calibration of the onset of ice-rafting and history of glaciation in the North Atlantic region. *Nature* 390, 620-623.

Shears MA, Kao MH, Scott GK, Davies PL & Fletcher GL (1993) Distribution of type III antifreeze proteins in the Zoarcoidei. Mol Mar Biol Biotechnol 2, 104-111. Shier WT, Lin Y & DeVries AL (1972) Structure and mode of action of glycoproteins from an Antarctic fish. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 263, 406-413.

Sinclair BJ & Renault D (2010) Intracellular ice formation in insects: Unresolved after 50 years? Comp Biochem Physiol A 155, 14-18.

Skomal GB & Benz GW (2004) Ultrasonic tracking of Greenland sharks, Somniosus microcephalus, under Arctic ice. Mar Biol 145, 489-498.

Slaughter D, Fletcher GL, Ananthanarayanan VS & Hew CL (1981) Antifreeze proteins from the sea raven, *Hemitripterus americanus*: further evidence for diversity among fish polypeptide antifreezes. J Biol Chem 256, 2022-2026.

Southern EM (1975) Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. J Mol Biol 98, 503-517.

Steneck RS, Vavrinec J & Leland AV (2004) Accelerating trophic-level dysfunction in kelp forest ecosystems of the Western North Atlantic. *Ecosyst* 7, 323-332.

Stickley CA, St John K, Koc N, Jordan RW, Passchier A, Pearce RB & Kearns LE (2009) Evidence for middle Eocene Arctic sea ice from diatoms and ice-rafted debris. *Nature* 460, 376-380.

Storey KB, Baust JG & Wolanczyk JP (1992) Biochemical modification of the plasma ice nucleating activity in a freeze-tolerant frog. Cryobiol 29, 374–384.

Storey KB & Storey JM (1996) Natural freezing survival in animals. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 27, 365-386.

Storey KB & Storey JM (2004) Physiology, biochemistry and molecular biology of vertebrate freeze tolerance: the wood frog. In: *Life in the Frozen State* (Benson E, Fuller B, and Lane N, eds.), pp. 243-274. CRC Press, Boca Raton.

Svensson U & Omsted A (1998) Numerical simulations of frazil ice dynamics in the upper layers of the ocean. Cold Reg Sci Tech 28, 29-44.

Tablin F, Oliver AE, Walker NJ, Crowe LM & Crowe JH (1996) Membrane phase transition of intact human platelets: Correlation with cold-induced activation. *J Cell Physiol* **168**, 305-313.

Takamichi M, Nishimiya Y, Miura A & Tsuda S (2007) Effect of annealing time of an ice crystal on the activity of type III antifreeze protein. *FEBS J* **274**, 6469-6476. Takamichi M, Nishimiya Y, Miura A & Tsuda S (2009) Fully active QAE isoform confers thermal hysteresis activity on a defective SP isoform of type III antifreeze protein. *FEBS* J 276, 1471-1479.

Templeman W (1986a) Contribution to the biology of the spotted wolffish (Anarhichas denticulatus). J Northw Atl Fish Sci 7, 47-55.

Templeman W (1986b) Some biological aspects of Atlantic wolffish (Anarhichas lupus) in the Northwest Atlantic. J Northw Atl Fish Sci 7, 57-65.

Templeman W (1986c) Spotted forms of the Northern wolffish (Anarhichas mior) in the Northwest Atlantic. J Northw Atl Fish Sci 7, 77-80.

Thatje S, Anger K, Calgagno JA, Loverich GA, Pörtner H-O & Arntz WE (2005) Challenging the cold: crabs reconquer the Antarctic. *Ecol* 86, 619-625.

Thrush SF & Dayton PK (2010) What can ecology contribute to ecosystem-based management? Annu Rev Mar Sci 2, 419-441.

Tomczak MM & Crowe JH (2002) Interaction of AFPs with model membranes and cells. In Molecular Aspects of Fish and Marine Biology - Volume 1: Fish Antifreeze Proteins (Ewart KV & Hew CL, eds), pp. 187-212. World Scientific, Singapore.

Tomczak MM, Hincha DK, Estrada SD, Wolkers WF, Crowe LM, Feeney RE, Tablin F & Crowe JH (2002) A mechanism for stabilization of membranes at low temperatures by an antifreze protein. *Biophys* 32, 374-381.

Turner JD, Schrag JD & DeVries AL (1985) Ocular freezing avoidance in Antarctic fish. J Exp Biol 118, 121-131.

Tyshenko MG, Doucet D, Davies PL & Walker VK (1997) The antifreeze potential of the spruce budworm thermal hysteresis protein. *Nature biotech* **15**, **887-890**.

Tzedakis PC, Channell JET, Hodell DA, Kleiven HF & Skinner LC (2012) Determining the natural length of the current interglacial. *Nature Geosci* 5, 138-141.

Vaisius A, Martin-Kearly J & Fletcher GL (1989) Antifreeze protein gene transcription in winter flounder is not responsive to temperature. Cel Mol Bio 35, 547-554.

Valerio PF, Kao MH & Fletcher GL (1992) Fish skin: an effective barrier to ice crystal propagation. J Exp Biol 164, 135-151.

Verheyen E, Salzburger W, Snoeks J & Meyer A (2003) Origin of the superflock of cichlid fishes from Lake Victoria, East Africa. Science 300, 325-329. Voituron Y, Storey JM, Grenot C & Storey KB (2002) Freezing survival, body ice content and blood composition of the freeze-tolerant European common lizard, *Lacerta vivipara*. J Comp Physiol B **112**, 17-6.

Volff J-N (2005) Genome evolution and biodiversity in teleost fish. Hered 94, 280-294.

Wagner A (1998) The fate of duplicated genes: loss or new function? *BioEssays* 20, 785-788.

Walker VK, Palmer GR & Voordouw G (2006) Freeze-thaw tolerance and clues to the winter survival of a soil community. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 72, 1784-1792.

Walters KR, Serianni AS, Sformo T, Barnes BM & Duman JG (2009) A nonprotein thermal hysteresis-producing xylomannan antifreeze in the freeze-tolerant Alaskan beetle Upis cerambides. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106, 20210-20215.

Wang J-H (2000) A comprehensive evaluation of the effects and mechanisms of antifreeze proteins during low-temperature preservation. Cryobiol 41, 1-9.

Wang X, DeVries AL & Cheng C-HC (1995a) Antifreeze peptide heterogeneity in an Antarctic eel pout includes an unusually large major variant comprised of two 7 kDa type III AFPS linked in tandem. *Biochimi Biophys Acta* 1247, 163-172.

Wang X, DeVries AL & Cheng C-HC (1995b) Genomic basis for antifreeze peptide heterogeneity and abundance in an Antarctic eel pout: gene structures and organization. Mol Mar Biol Biotech 4, 135-147.

Watanabe Y, Hirasaki M, Tohnai N, Yagi K, Abe S & Tamai Y (2003) Salt shock enhances the expression of ZrATP2, the gene for the mitochondrial ATPase β subunit of Zygosaccharomyces rouzi. J Biosci Bioeng 96, 193-195.

Wharton DA, Barrett J, Goodall G, Marshall CJ & Ramløv H (2005) Ice-active proteins from the Antarctic nematode Panagrolaimus davidi. Cryobiol 51, 198-207.

Wilson PW, Beaglehole D & DeVries AL (1993) Antifreeze glycopeptide adsorption on single-crystal ice surfaces using ellipsometry. *Biophys J* 64, 1878-1884.

Wöhrmann AHA (1997) Freezing resistance in Antarctic and Arctic fishes: its relation to mode of life, ecology and evolution. *Cybium* **21**, 423-442.

Wolanczyk JP, Storey KB & Baust JG (1990) Ice nucleating activity in the blood of the freeze-tolerant frog, Rana sylvatica. Cryobiol 27, 328-335. Yamashita Y, Miura R, Takemoto Y, Tsuda S, Kawahara H & Obata H (2003) Type II antifreeze protein from a mid-latitude freshwater fish, Japanese smelt (*Hypomesus inppomensis*). Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 67, 461-466.

Yang DSC, Hon W-C, Bubanko S, Xue Y, Seetharaman J, Hew CL & Sicheri F (1998) Identification of the ice-binding surface on a type III antifreeze protein with a "flatness function" algorithm. *Biophys J* 74, 2142-2151.

You W-W, Ke C-H, Luo X & Wang D-X (2009) Growth and survival of three small abalone *Haliotis diversicolor* populations and their reciprocal crosses. *Aquac Res* 40, 1474-1480.

Zachos JC, Dickens GR & Zeebe RE (2008) An early Cenozoic perspective on greenhouse warming and carbon-cycle dynamics. *Nature* 45, 279-283.

Zachos J, Pagani M, Sloan L, Thomas E & Billups K (2001) Trends, rhythms, and aberrations in global elimate 65 Ma to present. *Science* 292, 686-693.

Zang J (2003) Evolution by gene duplication: an update. TRENDS Ecol Evol 18, 292-298.

Zang J, Deng C, Wang J & Chen L (2009) Identification of a two-domain antifreeze protein gene in Antarctic eelpout *Lycodichthys dearborni*. Polar Biol **32**, 35-40.





